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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERERE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (each a
“Director”) of GoFintech Innovation Limited (“GoFintech” or the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries collectively referred to
as the “Group”), | am pleased to present the annual report of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 (the “Reporting Year”).

In the past year, we worked together to actively respond to the
grim market environment and the complicated changes in the
industry and strived to achieve new breakthroughs and results
in our pursuit of sustainable and high-quality development. As
a result, all our business segments advanced steadily, with our
middle-and back-office support systems further improved and
team cohesion and creativity further enhanced, thereby further
consolidating the foundation for the long-term development of the
Group’s businesses.

During the past year, we continued to make steady progress in
fully-licensed financial services, with sustained focus on product
improvement and service enhancement. We innovated our
business processes and optimised our business models, and
achieved a sustained and steady increase in revenue. During the
Reporting Year, we further advanced our business deployment
in the field of Web 3.0 by investing heavily in the research and
development of technologies in this field and exploring scenario
applications in the fintech industry, and commenced out investing
and planning activities in relation to cryptocurrencies and
compliant virtual asset funds, with an aim to lay a solid foundation
for our in-depth development in the field of Web 3.0 and overall
transformation under the Web 3.0 strategy.

GoFintech Innovation Limited Annual Report 2024
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (Continued)

OVERALL PERFORMANCE

We are pleased to announce that we achieved encouraging
operating and financial results during the Reporting Year with
strong revenue growth and significant improvement in profits and
losses. Our business models of client-centered fully-licensed
financial services demonstrated strong financial resilience. During
the Reporting Year, the net amount of total revenue and net
losses on investments at fair value through profit or loss increased
by 106.05% year-on-year to HK$45.98 million. In particular, our
securities business maintained strong growth momentum with the
net amount of revenue and net losses on investments at fair value
through profit or loss surging 406.92% year-on-year to HK$37.05
million. On the other hand, we have consistently focused on cost
reduction and efficiency enhancement, improving operational
efficiency and profitability. Despite prioritising our investment in
the research and development of innovative financial technology,
we were able to significantly narrow our net losses by 47.87% to
HK$30.68 million compared to the same period last year.

The Group has been committed to optimising its balance sheet
structure, enhancing capital adequacy and improving asset
quality. At the end of the Reporting Year, the Group’s total assets
reached HK$1,092 million,
as compared to the end of the previous reporting year. Current

representing an increase of 129.57%

assets accounted for 79.12%, reflecting the Group’s abundant
liquidity and healthy asset structure. As at the end of the
Reporting Year, the Group’s total liabilities amounted to HK$305
million, in which the interest-bearing liabilities amounted to HK$24
million, while the debt ratio, defined as total liabilities over total
assets, reduced from 37.69% as at the end of the previous
reporting year to 27.96% as at the end of the Reporting Year.
The total equity amounted to HK$787 million as at the end of the
Reporting Year, representing an increase of 165.40% as compared
to the end of the previous reporting year. As at 31 March 2024,
our cash and cash equivalents was HK$289 million, maintaining at
a healthy and reasonable level.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT (Continued)
EREHE (F)

STRATEGY AND OPERATION OF THE
GROUP

We are keenly aware that the current economic growth model
is undergoing rapid changes. Technological changes in artificial
intelligence, big data, blockchain, Web 3.0 and other fields are
accelerating the restructuring of many industries. In the face
of such changes, we always adhere to the customer-centric
approach and stay true to our original aspirations of “creating
value for our customers” so as to lay a solid foundation for
the long-term and sustainable development of the Group’s
businesses.

In the field of brokerage services, we were committed to
expanding our diversified customer groups, including domestic
and overseas institutions, enterprises and high net worth clients.
We continued to develop towards wealth management, diversify
our products and differentiate our services, comprehensively
enhance customer service capabilities, improve our fundamental
trading capabilities and build our investment advisory capabilities.
We developed professional buy-side investment advisory services
based on customer needs and accelerated the digitalisation of
brokerage services to empower the development of the securities
business. Meanwhile, we vigorously developed two-way cross-
border businesses and provided integrated one-stop services,
striving to create greater value for our customers.

In the field of asset management, we leveraged our in-depth
insight into the opportunities in the capital market, enhanced
our business development capabilities in the volatile market by
continuously enhancing our capabilities in asset management,
sales and services, product offering, compliance and risk control,
so as to optimise asset allocation and improve asset returns.
Currently, the asset management segment of the Group offers a
wide range of asset management products covering various types
of domestic and overseas equity and debt securities, derivatives,
and virtual asset funds. It possesses cross-border asset
management qualifications such as QFIll, QFLP and QDIE, and
provides investors with the design, management, and services of
multiple forms of offshore investment funds.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (Continued)

In the field of investment banking, we maintained parallel
development of equity and debt investment businesses, and
continued to vigorously expand our M&A and restructuring
businesses, sponsor business and underwriting services. In
terms of debt investment business, we actively explored the
development of overseas debt markets for Chinese enterprises,
deeply tapped into the bond demands of different types of
clients, seized the windows of issuance and underwriting to serve
our clients and provided integrated equity and debt solutions.
During the Reporting Year, the Group provided over 20 corporate
customers with investment, financing and other consultancy
services. As an underwriter, we successfully assisted a variety
of domestic and overseas companies in fundraising in the stock
market and introduced high-quality investors for enterprises.
The Group ranked among the top in the industry in terms of the
number of projects and the amount of funds raised.

In the field of technological innovation investment, we leveraged
on our synergy in ‘“investment + investment banking +
management” and constantly improved our investment capability
and knowledge in Web 3.0, quantum technology, blockchain,
intelligent investment advisory, clean energy, tech-innovative
healthcare, etc. With a focus on such areas, we carried out in-
depth business planning, completed investments in various
technology innovation enterprises such as MaiCapital, empowering
the invested enterprises by providing all-round support in finance,
management and human resources, and at the same time,
strengthening synergy with investment banking and other business
lines to assist the invested companies in development and capital
appreciation.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT (Continued)
ETE®HE (K)

UPHOLDING THE TECHNOLOGICAL
INNOVATION-FOCUSED STRATEGY
AND EXPLORING NEW DEVELOPMENT
DRIVERS

We are fully aware of the importance of science and technology
innovation to our future development. Improving our technological
innovation system and accelerating the implementation of the
innovation-driven development strategy are crucial to strengthen
the core competitiveness of the Group. As an international
financial centre and fintech hub, Hong Kong, with its continuously
optimised fintech service hardware and software, is the most
ideal fintech development centre globally, and the Hong Kong
government is also a strong supporter of technological innovation.
In April 2024, Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited (HKEX)
welcomed the listing of Asia’s first spot virtual asset ETFs, and
took the lead globally to approve the listing of the first Ether spot
ETF, enriching investment opportunities in respect of the product
diversity and vitality of new-type assets in Hong Kong. The digital
economy brought about by the Web 3.0 era is the most promising
investment track in the future. The Company will keep up with
the times and seize the opportunities, prioritizing the planning
and development of business relating to technological innovation,
identifying more quality projects and exploring new drivers for the
Group’s business development.

INTRODUCING STRATEGIC
SHAREHOLDERS TO INCREASE
CAPITAL AND IMPROVE CAPITAL
ADEQUACY

The Company successfully completed two fundraising activities
through placing under general mandate and rights issue in August
20283 and February 2024, raising net proceeds (after deduction of
relevant costs and expenses) of HK$52.64 million and HK$470.82
million, respectively. Through the successful implementation of the
aforementioned financing activities, the Group further optimised
its asset-liability structure, enhanced its capital adequacy and
introduced strategic shareholders. We believe that such financing
activities will enhance the overall competitiveness of the Group’s
businesses, concentrate its advantageous resources on exploring
the future of fintech, investing in and expanding into emerging
business areas such as Web 3.0 and quantum computing, and
propelling the Group to achieve new breakthroughs in its business
development.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (Continued)

OUTLOOK

Looking ahead, the Company will continue to focus on the core
business of sustainable growth, deeply explore and manage
customer needs, focus on improving customer value, practise
technology-driven financial innovation, improve the comprehensive
service level and capabilities of our financial business, and
advance our fully-licensed financial business into a new stage of
high-quality development.

Meanwhile, we will also continue to focus on technological
innovation, accelerate the conversion of new and existing
development drivers, implement strategic adjustments, and focus
on core directions of business development. We will actively
embrace the opportunities brought by innovative technologies
such as Web 3.0 and quantum computing, continue to explore
technology scenario applications in emerging fields and seize
investment opportunities in emerging fields. We believe that we
are standing at a new starting point, and the integrated financial
services model of cross-border and cross-industry investment
and investment banking that we practise, with the backing of our
motherland and global reach, will surely lead the Group back to
the track of growth and profitability, and will continue to power
the Group’s business growth in the years to come.

The fiery times forge the genuine gold. With the overall situation in
mind, we are full of confidence in the future and will maintain our
strategic focus and reinforce the guidance and empowerment of
strategies on business development. We will adhere to the action
philosophy of “promoting investment banking with investment,
nurturing tradition with innovation”, unswervingly introduce
strategic shareholders for capital increase, continue to expand
capital scale and enhance the our influence and reputation in the
capital market. We will boost business development with capital
advantages, consolidate the core competitive advantages of
our businesses, and broaden the moat of our businesses. With
technology as our wings and capital as our rudder, we will speed
up in the development of the Group into an integrated first-class
financial technology group with comprehensive business, rational
structure, regional influence and global presence, and continue to
create value for our shareholders, customers and partners.

CHAN Kin Sang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 June 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEEWE DN

RESULTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (the “Reporting Year”), the
Group recorded revenue and net losses on investments at fair
value through profit or loss in the net amount of approximately
HK$45,975,000, representing an increase of approximately
106.05% from approximately HK$22,313,000 for the year ended
31 March 2023. The increase was mainly attributable to the
increase in income generated from securities brokerage business
as well as interest revenue from money lending business.

The Group recorded a loss of approximately HK$30,679,000 for
the Reporting Year, as compared to the loss of approximately
HK$58,855,000 in 2023. The overall loss position of the Group
has improved in the Reporting Year mainly due to (i) an increase in
revenue generated from the licensed businesses of the Group; (ii)
an increase in other income which was mainly consisted of gain
on bargain purchase of an associate and interest revenue from
financial institutions; (iii) a decrease in expected credit losses on
loan and trade receivables; and (iv) a decrease in both staff costs
and finance costs during the Reporting Year.

The basic and diluted loss per share of the Company for the
Reporting Year was approximately HK0.91 cent as compared to
the basic and diluted loss per share of approximately HK2.84
cents in 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

BUSINESS REVIEW

SECURITIES BROKERAGE AND MARGIN
FINANCING

The business of securities brokerage and margin financing
is one of the main revenue streams of the Group. During the
Reporting Year, the business of securities brokerage and margin
financing recorded revenue (including inter-segment revenue)
and net investment losses of net amount of approximately
HK$37,051,000, representing an increase of approximately
406.92% as compared to the revenue (including inter-segment
revenue) and net investment gains of approximately HK$7,309,000
in total in 20283.

The segment profit for the Reporting Year amounted to
approximately HK$8,572,000 (2023: segment loss of
approximately HK$12,428,000). The turnaround from segment
loss to profit was mainly attributable to the increase of income
from securities brokerage business.

The Group’s strategy is to focus on and strengthen existing
securities operation and work in close collaboration with our
corporate finance business as well as wealth management
business, in order to provide one-stop integrated financial services
to better serve our institutional and high net worth individual
clients.

CORPORATE FINANCE

The corporate finance market was under a keen competition
during the Reporting Year. Segment revenue (excluded inter-
segment revenue) from corporate finance business decreased
by approximately 13.32% from approximately HK$5,444,000 to
approximately HK$4,719,000, while the segment loss for the
Reporting Year amounted to approximately HK$2,789,000 (2023:
segment profit of approximately HK$14,446,000). By excluding
the inter-segment revenue, the segment loss was approximately
HK$8,504,000 in 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

EEENWESN (F)

MONEY LENDING

During the Reporting Year, the money lending market was
under intensive competition locally. The Group recorded an
interest revenue from money lending business of approximately
HK$4,542,000 (2023: approximately HK$2,788,000), representing
an increase of approximately 62.91% as compared to 2023. The
segment loss for the Reporting Year amounted to approximately

HK$476,000 (2023: approximately HK$3,005,000).

Overview

The Group’s money lending business is conducted through
Fortune Finance Limited (“Fortune Finance”), a licensed money
lender under the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company.

With funding supported by the Group, Fortune Finance provides
money lending services including property mortgages, share
mortgages and personal loans. The loan periods are normally
around 2 to 60 months. The source of clients of Fortune Finance
are mainly from referrals and such referrals are sourced from
existing clients and the management of the Group. As of 31 March
2024, the clients of Fortune Finance comprises (i) companies
engaged in retail and information technology; and (i) individuals
engaged in finance, trading and retail sectors (2023: (i) companies
engaged in retail and information technology; and (i) individuals
engaged in finance sector).

Internal control procedures and credit risk assessment
policy

Fortune Finance always takes measures to assess and to control
risks according to Fortune Finance’s credit and operation policy.
The credit policy applies to all types of lending businesses,
including secured-based lending and unsecured lending.
Assessment will be conducted from several aspects including
market value of the pledged assets, due diligence of collateral
ownership, the loan-to-value ratio, legal background checking on
the borrowers, creditability and repayment ability of the borrower
(including income sources and existing outstanding debts), and
the feasibility of legal execution on the charged assets and/or
legal action against the borrower in case there is default.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

All loan applications submitted to Fortune Finance are required
to go through the assessment and approval procedures by three
levels of personnel. A loan application will firstly be assessed and
approved by a director of Fortune Finance before being passed to
the Risk and Compliance Committee’s representative(s) from the
Group for comments (if any). Finally, the loan application is subject
to final approval from a designated director of the Group.

Determination of loan terms

The loan terms are determined based on factors such as:

- purpose of fund usage claimed by the borrower;

- capital liquidity of the borrower;

= current loan terms offered by borrower’s existing financing
company;

- credibility and repayment history of borrower;

- loan size of the application versus the Group’s internal
capital resources allocation and planning; and

- other risk factors, if any.

Before granting unsecured loans to borrowers, the management
of Fortune Finance will primarily consider the asset level of the
borrower prior to commencement of internal assessment and
approval procedures. Where the borrower is able to demonstrate
that its assets are of a sufficient level, the management of Fortune
Finance will consider recommending that an unsecured loan be
granted. In order to determine whether the assets of a borrower
are of a sufficient level, Fortune Finance will primarily take into
account, among others, (i) the value of all the assets of the
borrower reported by the borrower to Fortune Finance; and (i) the
intended size of the relevant loan. In general, the reported value
of the borrower’s assets must be sufficient to cover the intended
loan. The borrower’s ability to repay the loan is also taken into
account after considering factors such as the borrower’s income
source and cash flow. The management of Fortune Finance will
consider the assets of the borrower to be at a sufficient level once
such requirements are deemed to be satisfied.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

EEENWESN (F)

The terms of unsecured loans are determined on the same
basis as those of secured loans, the factors of which are set out
above. Although the terms of unsecured loans are determined
on the same basis as those of secured loans, due to the higher
risk associated with granting unsecured loans as compared to
secured loans (even after taking into account that the borrower
of the unsecured loan must have sufficient level of assets), the
interest rates of unsecured loans will accordingly be higher than
that of secured loans, assuming all other factors being equal. The
management of Fortune Finance considers that it is reasonable
to determine the terms of unsecured loans and secured loans on
the same basis provided that, assuming all other factors being
equal, unsecured loans (with the relevant borrower’s assets at a
sufficient level) are subject to higher interest rates commensurate
with their level of risk.

Depending on the asset level of the borrower, a personal
guarantee may also be required before an unsecured loan may be
granted.

The renewal of loans are subject to the same internal control
and assessment procedures (including the provision of relevant
documents and assessment and approval by a director of
Fortune Finance, the representatives of the Risk and Compliance
Committee and a designated director of the Group) as for the
grant of new loans.

Information on loans

As at 31 March 2024, there were a total of five outstanding
loans with an aggregate outstanding principal amount of
HK$111,500,000 (before expected credit losses) and interest
rates which ranged from 8% to 15% per annum.

As at 31 March 2023, there were a total of three outstanding
loans with an aggregate outstanding principal amount of
HK$17,000,000 (before expected credit losses) and interest rates
which ranged from 12% to 13% per annum.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

Collection of loan receivables

Fortune Finance regularly submits status update reports to the
Group’s management on a weekly basis for the review of Fortune
Finance’s total outstanding loan balance, loan due, and collection
status of the repayments.

Fortune Finance also has a collection guideline which applies
to delinquent accounts. If there is bank transfer failure or an
uncleared cheque, Fortune Finance’s representative will contact
the borrower as soon as possible. If the repayment is in default
for 30 days, Fortune Finance will check and confirm the latest
outstanding amount of the borrower and appoint legal advisors
to issue an official demand letter to the borrower. A copy of the
demand letter will also be sent to the guarantor, if applicable.
Should the repayment be in default for 90 days, Fortune
Finance will further issue a final warning where Fortune Finance
will take legal action against the borrower if such defaulted
repayment could not be settled within 14 days. All records will
be documented and the most updated status will be reported
regularly to director(s) of the Group. Any arrangements deviating
from the collection guideline are required to be reviewed and
approved by the directors of Fortune Finance.

The Group applies general approach in measuring loss allowance
for expected credit losses on loans receivable.

The Group granted loans to borrowers with different period of
time. As the term loans are normally repaid monthly in instalment
amount, they would be past due during the loan period and thus,
past due day information is meaningful in assessing if there is
significant increase in credit risk during the loan period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

EEENWESN (F)

In assessing default risk of loan receivables, management
considered the following factors:

- collateral ratio (if any);
- amount of actual shortfall;
- delay in repayment;

- responsive to the Group’s request in repayment after
maturity of loan;

- an actual or expected downgrade of the external or internal
credit rating of the borrower;

= existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
change in the borrower’s ability to meet its debt obligation;

- significant changes in external market indicators of credit
risk for a particular financial asset or similar financial assets
with similar characteristics; and

- significant changes in the value of the collateral supporting
the obligation or credit enhancement, if applicable.

Management classify loan receivables based on the following:

Stage 1: For exposures where there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition and that
are not credit-impaired upon origination.

Stage 2: For exposures where there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition but are
not credit-impaired. Below are indicators of significant
increase in credit risks: (a) if repayment of loan is
delayed by borrower; (b) if Collateral Ratio (if any)
is 60% or higher; and (c) responsive to the Group’s
request for repayment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

Stage 3: Exposures are assessed as credit-impaired when
one or more events that have a detrimental impact
on the estimated future cash flows of that asset have
occurred. Below are events indicating that the balance

is credit-impaired:

(@) The Group makes liquidation call to borrowers to
liquidate their securities collateral (if any) to settle
the outstanding balances;

(b) The borrower is not responsive to the Group’s
request; and

(¢) The Group loses contact with the borrowers.

In assessing default risk of loan receivables, management would
make reference to the default rates studies conducted by certain
external credit rating agencies. In addition, management would
incorporate forward looking economic information through the
use of industry trend and experienced credit judgment to reflect
qualitative factors.

CONSULTANCY AND INSURANCE
BROKERAGE

During the Reporting Year, the Group recorded a segment revenue
(including inter-segment revenue) from consultancy services and
insurance brokerage services of approximately HK$611,000
(2023: approximately HK$813,000), representing a reduction of
approximately 24.85% as compared to 2023. The segment loss
for the Reporting Year was approximately HK$196,000 (2023:
approximately HK$67,000).

ASSET MANAGEMENT

During the Reporting Year, the Group recorded a segment
revenue from asset management of approximately HK$4,784,000
(2023: approximately HK$10,885,000), representing a decrease
of approximately 56.05% as compared to 2023. The decrease
in segment revenue was mainly attributable to decrease in
management fee income generated during the Reporting Year.
The segment loss for the Reporting Year was approximately
HK$1,262,000 (2023: approximately HK$91,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

EEENWESN (F)

EQUITY INVESTMENT

During the Reporting Year, the Group recorded a segment
revenue and net investment loss from equity investment of net
amount of approximately HK$3,453,000 (2023: approximately
HK$4,500,000).
amounted to approximately HK$7,244,000 (2023: approximately

HK$5,149,000).

SUBSCRIPTION OF NEW SHARES
UNDER GENERAL MANDATE

The segment loss for the Reporting Year

Reference is made to the announcements of the Company
dated 7 August 2023 (the “Subscription for New Shares
Announcement”) and 16 August 20283, in relation to the
subscription for new Shares under General Mandate. Unless
otherwise specified, capitalised terms used in this annual
report shall have the same meanings as those defined in the

Subscription for New Shares Announcement.

On 7 August 2023 (after trading hours of the Stock Exchange),
the Company entered into the Subscription Agreement with Mr.
Wang Tao, an individual who regularly resides in the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC”) (the “Subscriber”), pursuant to which
the Company has conditionally agreed to allot and issue to
the Subscriber, and the Subscriber has conditionally agreed to
subscribe for a total number of 263,593,577 Subscription Shares
at the Subscription Price of HK$0.20 per Subscription Share.

SUBSCRIPTION SHARES

The Subscription Shares represented (a) approximately 20.00%
of the existing issued share capital of the Company as at the
date of the Subscription for New Shares Announcement; and (b)
approximately 16.67% of the issued share capital of the Company
as enlarged by the allotment and issue of the Subscription Shares.

RANKING OF THE SUBSCRIPTION SHARES

The Subscription Shares rank, upon issue, pari passu in all
aspects among themselves and with the other Shares in issue at
the completion date of the Subscription.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

SUBSCRIPTION PRICE

The Subscription Price of HK$0.20 per Subscription Share
represented, among others, a premium of approximately 14.29%
to the closing price of HK$0.175 per Share as quoted on the
Stock Exchange on 7 August 20283, being the date of the
Subscription Agreement.

The net issue price per Subscription Share was approximately
HK$0.20. The aggregate nominal value of the Subscription Shares
was approximately HK$26,359,358.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and
belief having made all reasonable enquiries, immediately
before completion of the Subscription, the Subscriber was an
independent third party who was independent of the Company
and its connected persons (as defined in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules) and the Subscriber was not acting in concert with
one another or any connected person of the Company.

REASONS FOR THE SUBSCRIPTION

The Directors are of the view that by the allotment and issue
of the Subscription Shares, the Subscription represented an
opportunity to raise additional funds for the Group and thereby
providing a higher liquidity to increase the Group’s operational
flexibility and to sustain its capability for financing any of its
potential business development opportunities upon the Group’s
existing businesses, as and when suitable opportunity arises, and
for the use of general working capital of the Group. Therefore,
the Subscription strengthened the financial position of the Group,
enabling it to increase its working capital through the Subscription
without increasing the interest burden on the Group and enhance
its resistance to liquidity risk by means of equity fundraising.

Completion of the Subscription took place on 16 August 2023.

The gross proceeds from the Subscription amounted to HK$52.72
million and the net proceeds (after deduction of relevant
expenses) received by the Company under the Subscription was
approximately HK$52.64 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
EEEBSWED T (F)

BRBERERZIMEMEREARA
Eﬁa%aﬁfwﬁﬁkﬁﬂiﬁﬁ
ZREREDHH RBEFEMBRERS
HBEWmT

All of the proceeds raised from the Subscription have been
utilised as at the date of this annual report in accordance with the
intended uses as disclosed in the Subscription for New Shares
Announcement, and the details of the use of proceeds of the

Subscription are as follows:

Approximate
amount of

proceeds intended

to be applied
for each of the
intended uses

Utilised proceeds
on the intended
use up to

the date of this
annual report

Intended use of proceeds as disclosed in the Subscription for BARESHRE BEZXFHRAH
New Shares Announcement B®IEBRIE REEER®
REFROLAEHEFMSRENRERE BASHE BAMNMEBNRE
(@  Investment to be made on an entity in relation to blockchain technology US$3.04 million HK$23.71 million

and provision of relevant services of cryptocurrency exchange

B ERERN MIRHNBERE X ZHEERGYE —HERELHNR?

(b)  Investment to be made on a banking entity which provides cryptocurrency

custodian services

BY -—MRANZEBEEERBOHRITERIELNRE

(c) Repayment of the principal amount of the corporate bonds and
the interest accrued therefrom, which are becoming due and
payable during the period from September 2023 to October 2023
BER-E-_=FhhAEZE-ZT-_=F1+AHHEIBAESK
NEMEFHNARE REHE

(d)  General working capital of the Group, including staff cost, rental
expenses and other office overhead of the Group
AEEN—REEES ARASENEINA HeMZR
H fth %X 7 8

Total
# st
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

RIGHTS ISSUE ON THE BASIS OF
THREE (3) RIGHTS SHARES FOR
EVERY ONE (1) EXISTING SHARE HELD
ON THE RECORD DATE

References are made to (i) the announcements of the Company
dated 17 October 2023, 23 November 2023, 18 December
20283, 28 December 2023, 31 January 2024, 7 February 2024
(collectively, the “Rights Issue Announcements”); (ii) the
announcement of the Company dated 27 March 2024 (the “New
UOP Announcement”); (iii) the circular of the Company dated
1 December 2023 (the “Rights Issue Circular”); and (iv) the
prospectus of the Company dated 12 January 2024 (the “Rights
Issue Prospectus”) in relation to, among other things, the Rights
Issue on the basis of three (3) Rights Shares for every one (1)
existing Share held on the Record Date and the Placing. Unless
otherwise specified, capitalised terms used in this annual report
shall have the same meanings as those defined in the Rights
Issue Announcements, the Rights Issue Circular, the New UOP
Announcement and the Rights Issue Prospectus.

On 17 October 2023, the Company (a) announced the proposed
Rights Issue on the basis of three (3) Rights Shares for every
one (1) existing Share held by the Qualifying Shareholders on the
Record Date, by issuing up to 4,744,684,386 Rights Shares at the
Subscription Price of HK$0.10 per Rights Share; and (b) entered
into the Placing Agreement with Fortune (HK) Securities Limited,
a licensed corporation to carry on Type 1 (dealing in securities)
regulated activity under the SFO (the “Placing Agent”), pursuant
to which the Placing Agent has conditionally agreed as agent of
the Company (either by itself or through its sub-placing agents) to
procure independent Placees, on a best effort basis, to subscribe
for the Unsubscribed Rights Shares and the ES Unsold Rights
Shares.

RIGHTS SHARES

The number of Rights Shares represented (i) 300.00% of the
existing issued share capital of the Company as at the date of the
Rights Issue Announcements; and (ii) 75.00% of the issued share
capital of the Company as enlarged by the allotment and issue of
the Rights Shares.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

EEENWESN (F)

RANKING OF THE RIGHTS SHARES

The Rights Shares, being allotted, issued and fully paid, rank
pari passu in all aspects among themselves and with the existing
Shares in issue at the time of allotment and issue of the Right
Shares.

PRICE OF THE RIGHTS SHARES

The Subscription Price of HK$0.10 per Rights Share represented,
among others, a discount of approximately 9.09% over the closing
price of HK$0.110 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange
on 17 October 2023, being the date of entering into of the Placing
Agreement.

The net price per Rights Share was approximately HK$0.0997.
The aggregate nominal value of the Rights Shares was
approximately HK$474,468,438.60.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief
having made all reasonable enquiries, with respect to the placing
of the Unsubscribed Rights Shares, (i) each of the Placees under
the Placing and where appropriate, their respective ultimate
beneficial owner(s), is independent of and not connected with
the Company and its connected persons and not a connected
person of the Company; and (ii) none of the Placees has become
a substantial shareholder of the Company (as defined under the
Listing Rules) upon completion of the Placing.

REASONS FOR THE RIGHTS ISSUE

The Directors consider that fundraising activities by the
Company are strategically significant for the Group’s growth and
development at all material times and the Rights Issue, being
pre-emptive in nature, allowed the Qualifying Shareholders to
participate in the future growth and development of the Group
and at the same time offered them to maintain their respective
proportional shareholdings in the Company. Furthermore, the
Directors are of the view that the Rights Issue, as a fundraising
method, is in the best interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole for the purposes of strengthening the
capital base of the Company, increasing the Group’s operational
flexibility and in turn supporting the Company’s continuing
development and business growth.

The Rights Issue became unconditional on 6 February 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

The gross proceeds from the Rights Issue amounted to
HK$474.47 million and the net proceeds (after deduction of
relevant costs and expenses) were approximately HK$470.82

million.

On 27 March 2024, the Board has resolved to change the use of
proceeds from the Rights Issue upon re-assessing the allocation

of resources into the Group’s existing business segments so as to

deploy its financial resources more effectively, seize other business

opportunities and contribute to a further diversified business

base of the Group. For further details, including the reasons for

the change of use of proceeds, please refer to the New UOP

Announcement. The proceeds raised from and the details of the

use of proceeds of the Rights Issue in respect of the revised use

of proceeds are set out below:

Intended revised
use of proceeds
as disclosed in the

Approximate
amount of
proceeds intended

Utilised proceeds

to be applied for on the intended use

each of the revised
use of proceeds

up to the date of
this annual report

EEENWEIN (&)

RS 2 TS FIB 4258 A474,470,00078 7T
MATSFRIEFRE (KB EEERMFEX
&) #9/5470,820,00078 T

R-ZEBE-_NWEF=A=-++tRA EFen=E
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Unutilised
proceeds up to
the date of this

Expected timeline for
the use of unutilised

New UOP Announcement BAR BEEXAFERAH annual report proceeds
FRBREABRALERE BEREREN RRERB EEXSHEY ERKAEA
FERENREREITRR FERERNEHE BRAMNMERE REAMERE P8 RIENTE R
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
BEBT BEER BEER
(approximately) (approximately) (approximately)
(BE4) (BE4) (B4)
(A)  Working capital for the Group’s 194.00 192.97 1.03
principally engaged businesses
REASBEFEEBNEERS
(i) In respect of money 100.00 100.00 0.00 Not applicable
lending business A i A
WEEHAE
(i) In respect of margin 0.00 0.00 0.00 Not applicable
financing business i A
HFERMEXBIE
(i) In respect of asset 50.00 50.00 0.00 Not applicable
management business T i A
EEEBREBAE
(iv)  In respect of corporate 44.00 42.97 1.03 Expected to be utilised

finance business

CRBEXBIE

by August 2024
EHR T -MF
NARE A

HERIMAERATF

“E-MEER
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

EEENWESN (F)

Intended revised
use of proceeds
as disclosed in the

Approximate

amount of
proceeds intended Utilised proceeds
to be applied for on the intended use
each of the revised up to the date of
use of proceeds this annual report

Unutilised
proceeds up to
the date of this

Expected timeline for
the use of unutilised

New UOP Announcement BAR BEEXASEREH annual report proceeds
FMEREREASHE EREREN RRERB EEAFHAY ERABHA
FERENREREITRE FERERNEHE BANFAERE REAMBERE FBRENEHER
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
BEBER BEER BEER
(approximately) (approximately) (approximately)
(BE4) (BE5) (BE4)
(B)  Reserved as seed money 140.00 140.00 0.00
for the investment funds to be
established and operated
under the Group's asset
management business
ERBRFESRENALHE
EEEBEBRHRRIN
REES®
(i) seed money for an 90.00 90.00 0.00 Not applicable
investment fund to be NiEA
established with focus
primarily on major
secondary equity markets
in Hong Kong,
PRC and the USA
ERETFESRERH
BUMKRR —RT%
REE2 (XZM@EM
BB HEREED
FTERE-HmE)
(i) seed money for an 50.00 50.00 0.00 Not applicable

investment fund to be
established with focus
primarily on private
equity targets seeking
initial public offerings
in the securities markets
of Hong Kong and
the USA
ERETESRERHE
® M B pre-IPO & &
Ee (X2EMAEE
RERFEHTS)
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Intended revised
use of proceeds
as disclosed in the

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
BEEEBNWEI N (&)

Approximate
amount of
proceeds intended
to be applied for
each of the revised
use of proceeds

Utilised proceeds
on the intended use
up to the date of
this annual report

Unutilised
proceeds up to
the date of this

Expected timeline for
the use of unutilised

New UOP Announcement BAR EEASEREH annual report proceeds
FMEREREASHE EREREN RZRERB EEXEHEH ERKREA
FERENREREITRE FERERNESHE BANFAERE REAMBERE FERIENTERRR
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
BEBRT BE#ER BEER
(approximately) (approximately) (approximately)
(BE4) (BE5) (BE4)
(C)  General working capital of the 56.82 24.94 31.88
Group, including staff cost,
rental expenses and other
office overhead of the Group
RAEASE-—REEES
BEASENEINA -
He < REMBRERARX
(i) paying staff costs 32.82 14.64 18.18 Expected to be utilised
T8 IARA by February 2025
BN T _RE
ZRA#A
(i) paying rental expenses and 19.00 8.30 10.70 Expected to be utilised
other office overhead of by February 2025
the Group BHR-_Z-HF
IRARENEERX ZARiE A
REMPARSE
(iif) paying cost of upgrading IT 5.00 2.00 3.00 Expected to be utilised
system by August 2024
TRERBRRFAR TBER T ZWF
EMH NRAI#A
(D) Investment into and operation of 24.00 24.00 0.00 Not applicable
companies within the financial TiE
technology sector
B REEe BB REH QA
HEAFAERRA —T-NFFR

27



28

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
EEEBSWED T (F)

Intended revised
use of proceeds
as disclosed in the

Approximate
amount of
proceeds intended
to be applied for
each of the revised
use of proceeds

Utilised proceeds
on the intended use
up to the date of
this annual report

Unutilised
proceeds up to
the date of this

Expected timeline for
the use of unutilised

New UOP Announcement BAR BEEXASEREH annual report proceeds
HABRERRNERE EREREN RRERB EELXEHEH ERKREA
FERENREREITRE FERERNEHE BANFAERE REAMBERE FBRENEHER

HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million

BEBT BEER BEER

(approximately) (approximately) (approximately)

(BE4) (BE5) (BE4)

(E)  Repayment of the principal 10.00 10.00 0.00 Not applicable
amount of the corporate bonds NiEA
and the interest accrued
therefrom (in the aggregate
amount outstanding being
approximately HK$14.46
million), which are becoming
due and payable during the
period from December
2023 to April 2024

155&1%_’? —=F+=ZAZ%
T NFM A BE B EEA
HRAESFES RERE A S

(RIEEBTEL 514,460,000
#T)

F New purpose: Investment 16.00 16.00 0.00 Not applicable
Immigration TNEA

HRE - REBR

(G)  New purpose: Clean Energy 25.00 25.00 0.00 Not applicable
Investment i

FR®%BRERRE

(H)  New purpose: Cryptocurrency 5.00 5.00 0.00 Not applicable
Investment TiE A

RS MEEBRE

Total: 470.82 437.91 32.91

@it
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

ISSUE OF CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 22 November 2016, the Company (as the issuer) entered into
each of the Cinda Subscription Agreement, the PAL Subscription
Agreement and the Riverhead Capital Subscription Agreement
(each as defined below) in relation to the issue of convertible
bonds in an aggregate principal amount of HK$570,000,000.

() The Company entered into a subscription agreement
(the “Cinda Subscription Agreement”) with Mankind
Investment Limited (“Mankind”), pursuant to which, Mankind
agreed to subscribe to the convertible bonds in the principal
amount of HK$110,754,000 (the “Convertible Bonds to
Mankind”).

(i)  On 21 September 2016, the Company entered in to a
subscription agreement with Pacific Alliance Limited
(“PAL”), and subsequently a supplemental agreement
on 22 November 2016 (the “PAL Subscription
Agreement”), pursuant to which, PAL agreed to subscribe
to the convertible bonds in the principal amount of
HK$153,585,000 (the “Convertible Bonds to PAL”). On
8 January 2018, PAL sold the Convertible Bonds to PAL to
Value Convergence Holdings Limited.

(i)  The Company entered into a subscription agreement (the
“Riverhead Capital Subscription Agreement”) with
Riverhead Capital (International) Management Co., Limited
(“Riverhead Capital”), pursuant to which, Riverhead
Capital agreed to subscribe to the convertible bonds in
the aggregate principal amount of HK$305,661,000 (the
“Convertible Bonds to Riverhead Capital”) in 4 tranches.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

EEENWESN (F)

Completion of subscriptions (i), (i) and tranche 1 of subscription
(i) above (altogether, the “Tranche 1 Convertible Bonds”) took
place on 30 March 2017. The convertible bonds to Mankind,
PAL and Riverhead Capital all bear an interest rate of 2% and
mature on the third (3rd) anniversary of the date of issue of the
convertible bonds with both dates inclusive at the conversion
price of HK$0.06 per conversion share. Upon full conversion
of the Tranche 1 Convertible Bonds by all subscribers at the
conversion price of HK$0.06, a total number of 6,500,000,000
conversion shares would be issued, subject to adjustments to the
conversion price of HK$0.06.

The net proceeds raised through the issue of the Tranche 1
Convertible Bonds were approximately HK$385,000,000, in which
(i) approximately HK$180,000,000 was used for the injection
of capital to a joint venture of the Company and expanding its
margin financing and underwriting business; (i) approximately
HK$150,000,000 for expanding its money lending business; (iii)
approximately HK$12,000,000 for engaging in private equity
investments; (iv) approximately HK$9,000,000 for strengthening
the capital base of its subsidiaries and (v) the remaining balance
of approximately HK$34,000,000 for the general working capital
of the Group.

The Convertible Bonds to Mankind was exercised in approximately
51.74% of original principal amount, which was equivalent to the
amount of HK$57,300,000 at the conversion price of HK$0.06
on 27 April 2017. After completion of conversion, 955,000,000
shares of the Company were issued on 28 April 2017.
Furthermore, tranche 1 of the Convertible Bonds to Riverhead
Capital was also exercised in full in the principal amount of
HK$125,661,000 at the conversion price of HK$0.06 on 27 April
2017. After the completion of conversion, 2,094,350,000 shares
of the Company were issued on 28 April 2017.

Following the exercise of tranche 1 of the Convertible Bonds to
Riverhead Capital, completion of subscription of tranche 2 took
place on 28 June 2017. The net proceeds raised through the
issue of tranche 2 of the Convertible Bonds to Riverhead Capital
were HK$60,000,000, in which approximately HK$50,000,000
was used for further expanding its margin financing business and

approximately HK$10,000,000 for its underwriting business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

Following the completion of tranche 2 of the Convertible Bonds to
Riverhead Capital, completion of subscription of tranche 3 took
place on 5 July 2018. The net proceeds raised through the issue
of tranche 3 of the Convertible Bonds to Riverhead Capital were
HK$60,000,000, in which approximately HK$36,000,000 was
used for further strengthening the proprietary trading business,
approximately HK$12,000,000 was used for engagement
in private equity investments such as pre-IPO investment,
and approximately HK$12,000,000 was used for the asset
management business as seed money to the existing funds and/
or new funds.

The tranche 3 of the Convertible Bonds to Riverhead Capital
was exercised in 65% of original principal amount, which was
equivalent to the amount of HK$39,000,000 at the conversion
price of HK$0.06 on 11 January 2019. After the completion of
conversion, the number of 650,000,000 shares of the Company
were issued on 14 January 2019.

The tranche 4 of the Convertible Bonds to Riverhead Capital were
not issued due to the non-satisfaction of the conditions precedent
set out in the Riverhead Capital Subscription Agreement.

The Convertible Bonds to Mankind matured on 30 March 2020.
Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Convertible Bonds
to Mankind, the outstanding principal amount of HK$53,454,000
together with all accrued and unpaid interests was subsequently
repaid on 3 April 2020.

The Convertible Bonds to PAL matured on 30 March 2020.
Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Convertible Bonds
to PAL, the outstanding principal amount of HK$153,585,000
together with all accrued and unpaid interests shall be paid by the
Company to the current bondholders of the Convertible Bonds to
PAL. As disclosed in the voluntary announcement of the Company
dated 10 July 2020, the Company fully settled and repaid the
balance of the outstanding principal and interest in relation to the
Convertible Bonds to PAL.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

EEENWESN (F)

The tranche 2 of the Convertible Bonds to Riverhead Capital
was due on 28 June 2020. As disclosed in the announcement
of the Company dated 8 July 2020 (the “Amendment Deed
Announcement”), the Company and Riverhead Capital entered
into an amendment deed (the “Amendment Deed”) on 8 July
2020 (after trading hours), pursuant to which, Riverhead Capital
conditionally agreed to extend the maturity date of the tranche
2 of the Convertible Bonds to Riverhead Capital from the date
falling on the third anniversary of the issue date of the tranche
2 of the Convertible Bonds to Riverhead Capital (i.e. 28 June
2020) to the fifth anniversary of the issue date of the tranche 2
of the Convertible Bonds to Riverhead Capital (i.e. 28 June 2022)
(the “CB Extension”). Subject to fulfiiment of the conditions
precedent as disclosed in Amendment Deed Announcement, the
Company shall execute a supplemental deed poll to effect the CB
Extension. A circular containing, among others, further details of
CB Extension and a notice for the extraordinary general meeting
(“EGM”) was despatched to the shareholders of the Company
(“Shareholders”) on 29 July 2020.

At the EGM held on 27 August 2020, the ordinary resolution
approving the CB Extension contemplated under the Amendment
Deed and the proposed grant of the specific mandate as set out
in the EGM notice dated 29 July 2020 was not passed by the
independent Shareholders by way of poll at the EGM. Pursuant to
the terms and conditions of the Convertible Bonds to Riverhead
Capital, the outstanding principal amount of HK$60,000,000
together with all accrued and unpaid interests of the tranche 2
of the Convertible Bonds to Riverhead Capital were repaid on 4
September 2020.

The tranche 3 of the Convertible Bonds to Riverhead Capital
matured on 5 July 2021. Pursuant to the terms and conditions
of the Convertible Bonds to Riverhead Capital, the outstanding
principal amount of HK$21,000,000 together with all accrued and
unpaid interests was repaid on 5 July 2021.

For details of the Cinda Subscription Agreement, PAL Subscription
Agreement and Riverhead Capital Subscription Agreement and the
relevant transactions, please refer to the circulars of the Company
dated 13 December 2016 and 29 July 2020, and announcements
of the Company dated 21 September 2016, 22 November 2016,
5 January 2017, 30 March 2017, 28 April 2017, 5 July 2018, 14
January 2019, 30 March 2020, 14 April 2020, 8 July 2020, 10
July 2020 and 27 August 2020.

GoFintech Innovation Limited Annual Report 2024

F_MHIXRERABBRESFN_ZT_F
FRAZHTNBHE B -HO AR BEHA
ZETFLANBZRAE([EBTE2E
AREDRE ARGEIEEAR_TZ
gﬂz‘tﬂ}\a(X%HTEQ?é)ETL{7DT7€
B ([ETRE]) Bt ITEELRBGMG
RAECRF_BITIEEARATRRKRES 25
HA BE_MIEERATBRRESFET
BRgE=EBEFHEH (- =-_FF
NAZTHN\B)EREZE _H#)TEE AR
BRRESFZHTHHEFAMEBAFAER
(BIZF=Z=ZFXXAZ+NR) (TR
BESHEH]) FEITRBELAEAEEZ K
ARG ERE RNAREAEEFATEY
e MﬁTﬁhﬁ%L%$ﬂ°*ﬁﬁﬁ
(B BaE) AIRREFTEHNE — P+
EARBRERFIAS (IREBIXRE])
ENBHER_Z_TF+A=-TA
HEZETAQRARE (TRER]) -

RZEBEZZEFNAZF+LEHEBITZRR

FrRlReg ERARR-_ZT_TFLA
“tAARRENREBE AL EEE

RERTRETZAIERESTHRZE
ERERHEREZEBRBRIBRE
ARG LT EBIBRRARERRT A
i e ﬁﬁl%§$7%hﬁ%mﬁﬁ

G I EARATBRBEESNRE
38 7K 4 %860,000,0007 JL# [F BT A BT &

AMFEER-E-_TENAMAZN-

FEHMIEBEATBRBREFER=-F
T F+tARHBE-BEILEEART
BREFHERERGEE KEEXESE
21,000,000 7T # [F] FT A FE&T MR F) B
ER - —F+ARBXT-

BREERBE W PALRBEHZ T L
BAREHZRBEARZ 2FE F2H
AKANABHA-_ZTE—XRF+-_A+=H
FZEZFTEFL+A-THLEOBEHUAKL

ARAAMAE-_FT—RFAA-+—B"
*2—ﬁ$+—ﬂ:+:a\:r—t¢
—RER ZE—tF=ZA=tH =%
—t+tFOAZ+N\R = “—/\Etﬂﬂ
B - AF—HA+HB —F_FF
=A=+8" :§:§¢EH+EE~:

Z_EF+ANB - ZE-ZEF+tAT+H
RZE-FTFNA-_tTELHANRE-



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

With
announcements, Tranche 1 Convertible Bonds, tranche 2 of the
Convertible Bonds to Riverhead Capital and tranche 3 of the
Convertible Bonds to Riverhead Capital were issued pursuant to
the resolutions passed at the EGM held on 5 January 2017. The
total funds raised from and the details of the use of proceeds of
the said tranches are as follows:

reference made to the mentioned circulars and

Tranche 1 Convertible Bonds

EEENWEIN (&)

REBAARANBREAE F—HAk
BEH F_RTIREATHRRES RS
“HIREBERARKRESFIRER -F
—tF-ARARTHRRFINAE L
BRBMRERTUET BB LMK
BEFMESEHBLAEREREN
HBEWT

F-HUBRRES

Approximate
amount of
proceeds intended
to be applied

for each of the
intended use

of proceeds

as previously

Utilised
proceeds

on the intended
use during

the year ended
31 March 2024

Unutilised

Expected timeline
for the use of

disclosed REZ-Z-NF proceeds as at unutilised proceeds and

Intended use of the proceeds Fri8sE =ZA=+—-8 31 March 2024 reasons for delay
as previously disclosed BRERMBERR LLFEERERE R-ZE-MmE ERAREA
ERIFTEE BRARERTE RZEaRAH =R=+—-8 FBRENES
FBRENREAR RENBENESE F8RE REBARBRE RRREEER
Expanding the margin financing HK$60,000,000 HK$60,000,000 HK$0 Not applicable
and underwriting businesses 60,000,000/% 7T 60,000,000 7T 0T A i A

BRARBERBHER

Establishment of a joint venture
company to be formed in the
PRC (the “JV Company”)
under the Closer Economic
Partnership Arrangement

BETEETLREBEDN
ZHIEPERUEE DA

(627

HK$120,000,000
120,000,000/ 7T

HK$0
0BT

HK$120,000,000
120,000,000/ 7T

The proceeds is planned to
be applied in accordance
with the intended use as

disclosed in the circular
dated 13 December 2016.
Documents to supplement
the application made to

China Securities Regulatory

Commission (the “CSRC”)
for establishment of the JV
Company was last made
on 27 July 2018 while the
timeframe is subject

to the said regulator’s
approval (note a)
FGRIBHEZEBHA

—E-RE+ZA+=B2
BRARE 2 BEREER -
E—RREBRBERIALE QT
ZHAXHEER-E—N\E
+tA-Z+EEESFHE
BREEEBEZES ([HE
BE®|) BERRESLR
EEHEZMERTEE
(Kiita)

HERIMAERATF

“E-MEER
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

EEENWESN (F)

Approximate
amount of
proceeds intended
to be applied

for each of the
intended use

of proceeds

as previously

Utilised
proceeds

on the intended
use during

the year ended
31 March 2024

Unutilised

Expected timeline
for the use of

disclosed REBZ-Z_-_WNF proceeds as at unutilised proceeds and
Intended use of the proceeds FBRE =B=+-H 31 March 2024 reasons for delay
as previously disclosed RERMBERR LLEEREE R-ZB-_NE FERAKREA
ERIFTHE BRARERTE REaRH =B=+—H FBRENES
FBRENREARE RENBEASE FERE REBARBRE KRREEER
© Expanding its money lending HK$150,000,000 HK$150,000,000 HK$0 Not applicable
business 150,000,0007% 7T 150,000,000/ 7T 0BT TER
BERENEES
d. Engaging in private equity HK$12,000,000 HK$12,000,000 HK$0 Not applicable
investments 12,000,000/ 7T 12,000,000/ 7T 07T i@ A
LHELBRERE
e. Proprietary trading HK$5,000,000 HK$5,000,000 HK$0 Not applicable
BEEE 5,000,000/ 7T 5,000,000/ 7T 0T i@ A
f. Strengthening the capital base of HK$2,000,000 HK$2,000,000 HK$0 Not applicable
wealth management business 2,000,000/ 7T 2,000,000/ 7T 07T TEA
MAMBEERER CERER
g. Strengthening the capital base of HK$2,000,000 HK$2,000,000 HK$0 Not applicable
corporate financing business 2,000,000/ 7T 2,000,000/ 7T 0% T i A
MACEREER 2 ERER
h. General working capital HK$34,000,000 HK$34,000,000 HK$0 Not applicable
—REEES 34,000,000/ 7T 34,000,000/ 7T 0T i@ A
Note a: As at the date of this annual report, due to the delay caused Biita: HNAFHRHEH ARPTREFZSI

by CSRC without providing timetable regarding its approval in
connection with the application to establish the JV company
in the PRC, the Company has liaised with the other parties to
the JV company to withdraw the aforesaid application and is
pending to receive the official confirmation letter for withdrawn
from the CSRC. Accordingly, such unutilised sum in the amount
of HK$120,000,000 (the “Unutilised Sum”) would no longer
be used for the said purpose and for the avoidance of doubt,
the Tranche 1 Convertible Bonds were fully redeemed/repaid
and the Unutilised Sum was repaid as at the date of this annual
report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
BEEEBNWEI N (&)

Approximate
amount of

proceeds intended

to be applied
for each of the
intended use
of proceeds
as previously

Tranche 2 of the Convertible Bonds to Riverhead Capital

Utilised
proceeds

on the intended
use during

the year ended
31 March 2024

Unutilised

F-HTIREARTRRES

disclosed REBZ_-_ZT_NF proceeds as at Expected timeline
Intended use of the proceeds FREFIE =B=+-—H 31 March 2024 for the use of
as previously disclosed BERMBEESR LFEREE R-E-NEF unutilised proceeds
ERFIEE RARSRE REBRAH =A=+-—H ERREA
FBRENRERE RENBANSE Fr8™MIR REBARBRE B RIB N B ER
Further expanding the margin HK$50,000,000 HK$50,000,000 HK$0 Not applicable
financing business 50,000,000/% 7T 50,000,000/ 7T 0BT i A
E—ISERAERMEER
Further strengthening the HK$10,000,000 HK$10,000,000 HK$0 Not applicable
underwriting business 10,000,000/ 7T 10,000,000/ 7T 04T i A

E—FHRBHER

Intended use of the proceeds
as previously disclosed

SRl iR E
FERENRERRE

Approximate
amount of

proceeds intended

to be applied

for each of the
intended use

of proceeds

as previously
disclosed

Frig A
REBMBELR
BRARSRE
ARHBHASHE

Tranche 3 of the Convertible Bonds to Riverhead Capital

Utilised
proceeds

on the intended
use during

the year ended
31 March 2024

REBE-ZT-_NF

=A=+-H
I RS
AR A

Fr 8 %8

Unutilised
proceeds as at
31 March 2024
R-ZE-F
=A=+-—8

RBAMBRE

F-HITIREARTRRES

Expected timeline

for the use of
unutilised proceeds
FERAXBH

FT 18 FXE Y 78 5 KR BR

Further strengthening the
proprietary trading business

E-—HPHREEEEXH

Further engagement in private

equity investments
E—SL2HELERERE

For the asset management
business to be used as seed
money to the existing funds
and/or new funds

MEEBTRBEBMS
RERAEES K5
MEeNETESR

HK$36,000,000
36,000,000/% 7T

HK$12,000,000
12,000,000 7T

HK$12,000,000
12,000,000 JT

HK$36,000,000
36,000,000/ 7T

HK$12,000,000
12,000,000 7T

HK$12,000,000
12,000,000 7T

HK$0
078 T

HK$0
08 7T

HK$0
08T

HERIMAERATF

Not applicable
A

Not applicable
TEMA

Not applicable
TiERA

“E-MEER



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

EEENWESN (F)

ADJUSTMENT TO THE CONVERTIBLE BONDS

As at 16 October 2020, which is the date for convening the
EGM for the Shareholders’ approval for the share consolidation
of the Company (the “Share Consolidation”), the outstanding
convertible bonds of the Company were the tranche 3 of the
Convertible Bonds to Riverhead Capital (the “Outstanding
Convertible Bonds”), with an aggregate principal amount of
HK$21,000,000, which were convertible into 350,000,000 shares
of par value of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company
(the “Existing Shares”) at the conversion price of HK$0.06
per Existing Share. As a result of the Share Consolidation and
in accordance with the terms and conditions of the convertible
bonds of the Company, effective from the close of business
on Monday, 19 October 2020, the following adjustment (the
“CB Adjustment”) was made to the conversion price of the
Outstanding Convertible Bonds and the number of consolidated
shares falling to be issued upon the exercise of the conversion
rights attaching to the Outstanding Convertible Bonds:

Immediately before the
CB Adjustment becoming effective
EETRRESAEERA

Number of
Existing Shares to be
issued upon full
conversion of the
Outstanding Convertible

AR IG5 2 A2

RZZEZZTF+A+B - BBHRARER
ARG AERRMERRRIRDE O ([
BEG]) 2B ARQBHE KK BATR
REHABRIILEEAREITHE =R
BRES ((MAZBRITBERES]) K2
4258 /21,000,000 L Al IR H IR E K
IR B IR 190.06/8 JT K. # 73350,000,000% 2
NAFATREFREE.ONB T 2B, (TR
BRG] -BHRKRNE M RIBEARAF A
BREFNBEREEE BT F+
AT+HAB(ER - )EXKHEAERE B
MARLBRABVBREF CHBERERL
BABMRESHE A RBEETFERE
TZAEHBRMHEEEDATHARE ([T
BREHFAR])

Immediately after the

CB Adjustment becoming effective

EERTRRESABERR

Number of

consolidated shares to be

issued upon full

conversion of the
Outstanding Convertible

Bonds Conversion price Bonds Conversion price
HARBRAUBRES per Existing Share HARBRAUBRES per consolidated share
BRYABREETRTZ BREERH EBEHIREETFRTRZ BRAEMKRG
RERGHE ZEBRE ARG EE ZRBRE

HK$0.06 HK$0.60

350,000,000 0.0678 7T 35,000,000 0.60 7T

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited, Certified Public Accountants,
reviewed the above adjustments and confirmed that the
calculation of the CB Adjustment was made in accordance with
terms and conditions of the convertible bonds of the Company.

Save for the CB Adjustment, all the other terms and conditions of
the convertible bonds of the Company remain unchanged.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 March 2024, the nominal value of the total issued share
capital of the Company was approximately HK$632,624,585
comprising 6,326,245,848 shares of the Company of HK$0.10
each (the “Shares”).

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure and makes adjustments to the capital structure
in light of changes in economic conditions. For the licensed
subsidiaries of the Group, the Group ensures each of them
maintains a liquid capital level that is adequate to support
the level of activities with a sufficient buffer to accommodate
increases in liquidity requirements arising from potential increases
in the level of business activities. During the Reporting Year, all
the licensed subsidiaries of the Group complied with the liquid
capital requirements under the Securities and Futures (Financial
Resources) Rules (Cap. 571 sub. leg. N of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (“Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) Rules”).

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to Shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balances.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes
corporate bonds, lease liabilities, cash and cash equivalents and
equity attributable to owners of the Company, which comprises
issued share capital and reserves.

The Directors review the capital structure regularly. As part of
the review, the Directors consider the cost of capital and the
risks associated with each class of capital, and take appropriate
actions to adjust the Group’s capital structure. The overall
strategy of the Group remains unchanged during the years ended
31 March 2024 and 2023.

EEENWEIN (&)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

EEENWESN (F)

For certain subsidiaries of the Company, they are regulated by the
Securities and Futures Commission (the “SFC”) of Hong Kong and
are required to comply with certain minimum capital requirements
according to the rules of SFC. Our management monitors, on a
daily basis, the subsidiaries’ liquid capital level to ensure they
meet with the minimum liquid capital requirement in accordance
with the Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) Rules. The
range of liquid capital is from HK$100,000 to HK$3,000,000 or

5% of their total adjusted liabilities, whichever is higher.

One of the subsidiaries of the Company is a licensed insurance
intermediary under the Insurance Ordinance (Cap. 41 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) and is required to maintain a minimum net
asset value of HK$300,000 for the period from 1 April 2023 to 31
December 2023 and HK$500,000 for the period from 1 January
2024 to 31 March 2024.

There is no non-compliance of the capital requirements of the
Group members imposed by the respective regulators during the
years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL
RESOURCES AND GEARING RATIO

During the Reporting Year,
operations by cash generated from operating activities and

the Group mainly financed its

proceeds from fund raising activities.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s current assets and current
liabilities were approximately HK$864,100,000 (as at 31 March
2023: approximately HK$369,299,000) and approximately
HK$290,652,000 (as at 31
HK$177,169,000) respectively, while the current ratio was about
2.97 times (as at 31 March 2023: 2.08 times).

March 2023: approximately
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s aggregate cash and cash
equivalents amounted to approximately HK$289,257,000
(as at 31 March 2023: approximately HK$111,748,000), of
which approximately 98.22% was denominated in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”) (as at 31 March 2023: approximately 82.48%),
approximately 1.47% was denominated in United States
dollars (“USD”) (as at 31 March 2023: approximately 11.88%),
approximately 0.27% was denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”)
(as at 31 March 2023: 5.52%), and approximately 0.04% was
denominated in SGD (as at 31 March 2023: approximately 0.12%),
representing 33.47% (as at 31 March 2023: approximately
30.26%) of total current assets. As at 31 March 2024, the Group
had no bank borrowing (as at 31 March 2023: nil).

During the Reporting Year, no financial instruments were used
for hedging purposes. As at 31 March 2024, the gearing ratio,
measured on the basis of total borrowings (including lease
liabilities and corporate bonds) as a percentage of equity
attributable to owners of the Company, was approximately 3.05%
(as at 31 March 2023: approximately 12.40%).
in ratio was mainly due to repayment of corporate bonds. The

The decrease

debt ratio, defined as total liabilities over total assets, was
approximately 27.96% (as at 31 March 2023: 37.71%).

During the year ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, no additional
corporate bond was issued.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT

As at 31 March 2024, the Group held investments at fair value
through profit or loss of approximately HK$253,273,000 (as at 31
March 2023: approximately HK$71,491,000), with net losses on
investments at fair value through profit or loss of approximately
HK$3,481,000 (2023: approximately HK$4,630,000).

As at 31 March 2024, none of each individual underlying
investment of the above mentioned investments constitutes 5% or
above of the total assets of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

EEENWESN (F)

INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES

The Group has a significant investment in Starlight Financial
Holdings Limited (“Starlight”), an associate of the Group.

“Starlight Group”)
are principally engaged in the provision of loan financing and

Starlight and its subsidiaries (collectively, the

advisory services in Hong Kong and Mainland China. In particular,
the Starlight Group is able to operate business relating to small
and micro enterprise loans and personal consumption loans in
Chonggqing.

On 22 August 2012, Gold Kingdom Holdings Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, acquired 25% equity interests
in Starlight at a consideration of approximately HK$64,131,000.

The carrying amount of the investment as at 31 March 2024 was
approximately HK$94,410,000, representing approximately 8.64%
of the Group’s total assets as at 31 March 2024.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the revenue and total
comprehensive expense attributable to owners of Starlight
Group was approximately HK$41,227,000 (for the year ended 31
March 2023: approximately HK$49,483,000) and approximately
HK$20,947,000 (for the year ended 31 March 2023: approximately
HK$21,597,000). No dividend was received during the Reporting
Year.

The Group’s investment in the Starlight Group represents a
passive and low to medium risk level investment for the Group. As
at the date of this annual report, the Group has no plans to alter
the level of its investment in the Starlight Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

OUTLOOK

Looking forward to 2024, the Company will continue to focus
on the core business of sustainable growth, deeply explore
and manage customer needs, focus on improving customer
value, practise technology-driven financial innovation, improve
the comprehensive service level and capabilities of the financial
business, and promote the Company’s fully-licensed financial
business to enter into a new stage of high-quality development.

At the same time, the Company will continue to focus on
technological innovation, accelerate the conversion of new and
existing development drivers, implement strategic adjustments,
and focus on core directions of business development. The
Company will actively embrace the opportunities brought by
innovative technologies such as Web 3.0 and quantum computing,
continue to explore technology scenario applications in emerging
fields, and observe investment opportunities in emerging fields.
We believe that the Company is standing at a new starting point
and will return to the track of growth and profitability, and we look
forward to continuing to create value for our stakeholders in the
years to come.

In addition, the Company will adhere to the action philosophy of
“promoting investment banking with investment, nurturing tradition
with innovation”, unswervingly increase investment, continue
to expand capital scale, enhance the Company’s influence and
reputation in the capital market, and continue to strive for the best
interests for the Company’s shareholders, customers and partners
and achieve healthy and sustainable business development.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND
DISPOSAL

There was no material acquisition or disposal of the Group during
the Reporting Year.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities (as at 31 March 2023: nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

EEENWESN (F)

CHARGE ON THE GROUP’S ASSET

As at 31 March 2024, no asset of the Group was subject to any
charge (as at 31 March 2023: Nil).

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group has properly put in place credit management policies
which cover the examination of the approval of client’s trading
and credit limits, regular review of facilities granted, monitoring of
credit exposures and the follow up of credit risks associated with
overdue debts. The policies are reviewed and updated regularly.

FOREIGN CURRENCY FLUCTUATION

During the Reporting Year, the Group mainly used Hong Kong
dollars in its business transactions. The Board considers that the
Group’s foreign currency exposure is insignificant.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had 67 employees in total
(2023: 55 employees).
Reporting Year (excluding Directors’ remunerations) amounted
to approximately HK$29,997,000 (20283:
HK$36,115,000). The Group remunerated employees based on
the industry practice and individual's performance. Staff benefits
include contributions to retirement benefit scheme, medical

The related employees’ costs for the

approximately

allowance and other fringe benefits. In addition, the Group
maintains the share option scheme for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants based on their

contributions.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EERGNEEEBZ2HABE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
MS. SUN QING

Ms. SUN Qing, aged 63, was appointed as an executive Director
in April 2020. She was appointed as a member of each of the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee in
February 2024. Ms. Sun joined the Group in August 2019 and is
responsible for human resources and administrative management
of the Group. She is also a director of certain subsidiaries of
the Group. Ms. Sun graduated from Beijing Correspondence
College of Finance and Commerce in 1988 majoring in industrial
accounting. Ms. Sun also obtained the accountant qualification
awarded by the Ministry of Finance of the PRC in 1994.

Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Sun worked in Everbright
Securities Company Limited (listed on both the main board of the
Stock Exchange and the Shanghai Stock Exchange) for nearly
20 years, mainly responsible for the company’s finance, human
resources and comprehensive back office management. She has
over 20 years of working experience in the financial industry and
has extensive experience in various management tasks such as
finance, auditing and human resources.

Ms. Sun was a non-executive director of IBO Technology
Company Limited (listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange) from July 2020 to February 2021.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

EEREREEB2FHEE (&)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
MR. HAN HANTING

Mr. HAN Hanting, aged 39, was appointed as an executive
Director and a member of the Nomination Committee in October
2017. He was re-designated as a non-executive Director
and ceased to be a member of the Nomination Committee in
September 2018. Mr. Han joined the Company in 2015 and was
the chief operating officer of the Company from November 2016
to September 2018. Mr. Han was an investment manager of a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group during the period from 2009
to 2013. Mr. Han obtained a bachelor’s degree from University
of Warwick majoring in Mathematics, Operational Research,
Statistics and Economics in 2006.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Han had worked as a researcher in
CCB International Securities Limited. During the period from May
2013 to May 2016, he was an executive director of Momentum
Financial Holdings Limited (formerly known as Infinity Financial
Group (Holdings) Limited, listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange). Mr. Han has more than 10 years of experience in
investment banking industry and had successfully led merger and
acquisition projects for a number of Hong Kong listed companies.

DR. NIE RIMING

Dr. NIE Riming, aged 43, was appointed as a non-executive
Director in October 2023. Dr. Nie graduated from Zhejiang
University in 2005 with a bachelor’s degree in Engineering and
further obtained a master’s degree in Business Administration
from Fudan University in 2014 and a Ph.D. in Economics from
Fudan University in 2021. Dr. Nie is currently the vice president
and a researcher at the Shanghai Institute of Finance and Law. He
was also a visiting senior research assistant of Hong Kong Baptist
University (School of Business) in March 2013. Dr. Nie has over
15 years of experience in finance and economics.

Since November 2018, Dr. Nie has served as a director of
Purekind Fund Management Co., Ltd. From December 2015
to October 2016, Dr. Nie was a supervisor of Bestone Asset
Management Corporation Limited.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)
EERGREBRE2HHERE (§)

MR. LI CHUNGUANG

Mr. LI Chunguang, aged 39, was appointed as a non-executive
Director in February 2024. Mr.
University in 2009 with a bachelor’s degree in Architecture and

Li graduated from Tsinghua

further obtained a master’s degree in Philosophy from Columbia
University in the United States in 2012. Mr. Li has extensive
experience in the fields of artificial intelligence, blockchain and
digital technology. He is currently the president and chief scientist
of the Renxue International Foundation, a researcher at the
Tsinghua (Qingdao) Academy of Arts and Science Innovation
Research, a member of the Academic and Technical Committee of
the Metaverse and Al 30 Forum, and an academic chairperson of
the Youth Branch of the Chinese Society for Futures Studies.

From May 2018 to October 2020, Mr.
president and chief expert of the Forum 30 on Global Al and
Blockchain. From October 2015 to September 2018, Mr. Li served
as the president and chief expert of Beijing Holographic Think
Ltd. From October 2015 to June
2018, Mr. Li served as the vice president and chief expert of

Li served as the vice

Tank Culture Technology Co.,
Beijing Triple Community Technology Co., Ltd. From December
2013 to September 2015, Mr. Li served as the vice president
of Beijing INFOBOX Technology Co., Ltd. From November 2012
to November 2013, he served as the director of the strategic
planning department of Beijing 55world Information Technology
Co., Ltd.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

EEREREEB2FHEE (&)

MR. HUA YANG

Mr. HUA Yang, aged 48, was appointed as an executive Director,
a member of each of the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee in March 2023. He was appointed as
the chief executive officer of the Company (the “CEOQ”) in January
2023. Mr. Hua was re-designated from an executive Director to a
non-executive Director and has resigned as the CEO in February
2024. He has extensive experience in assets management, equity
investment, insurance, and business administration. He is a
co-founder and a partner of Source Capital Management Co., Ltd.
BREXREEAR /AT ), the first insurance-company-backed
private equity investment fund approved by the China Insurance
Regulatory Commission, from March 2015 to June 2022.

Mr. Hua joined the Group in October 2017 as a non-executive
Director and was redesignated as an executive Director and was
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company between March 2018
to April 2020. Mr. Hua was a managing director of a subsidiary of
the Group from April 2020 to 31 January 2023. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Hua was the general manager of Sun Life Everbright
Asset Management Co., Ltd. from March 2012 to March 2015.
During the period from 1997 to 2012, he had held various senior
positions with insurance and securities companies and had
completed various initial public offering projects and share placing
projects, as well as corporate bonds issuance for a number of
companies, etc.

Mr. Hua graduated with a bachelor’s degree in economics and
management from Beijing Forestry University in 1997. He also
obtained an executive master of business administration degree
(EMBA) from Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business in 2005.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)
EEREREEB2HFARE (&)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTOR

MR. CHAN KIN SANG

Mr. CHAN Kin Sang, aged 72, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director and a member of the audit committee
of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) in July 2014. He
was further appointed as a member of each of the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee in December
2022. Mr. Chan was appointed as the chairman of the Board, an
authorised representative of the Company and the chairman of
the Nomination Committee in February 2024. Mr. Chan is currently
a partner of Kwan & Chow, Solicitors (a law firm which provides
various services including corporate matters and litigations). Mr.
Chan obtained a bachelor’s degree in Laws from the University of
Hong Kong in 1979 and a postgraduate certificate in Laws from
the University of Hong Kong in 1980. He has been a practising
solicitor in Hong Kong since April 1982 and has been admitted as
a Notary Public since April 1997 and a China-appointed Attesting
Officer since January 2000. Mr. Chan has also been a Fellow of
The Hong Kong Institute of Directors since August 2004.

Mr. Chan is currently a non-executive director of Sino Harbour
Holdings Group Limited (listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange). He is also an independent non-executive director of
Pak Tak International Limited (listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange).

Mr. Chan has served as a senior partner of Messrs. Peter K.S.
Chan & Co., Solicitors and Notaries. Over the past three years,
Mr. Chan was an independent non-executive director of Huakang
Biomedical Holdings Company Limited (listed on the GEM of the
Stock Exchange) from November 2018 to April 2024.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

EEREREEB2FHEE (&)

MR. CHIU KUNG CHIK

Mr. CHIU Kung Chik, aged 39, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director in March 2017. He was re-designated
from a member of the Audit Committee to the chairman of the
Audit Committee in March 2020. He is also the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Nomination
Committee. Mr. Chiu graduated from the University of Chicago
with a bachelor’s degree in Economics. He has extensive
experience and knowledge in investment banking, capital
financing, corporate restructuring, merger and acquisition,
complex transaction structuring, etc. Mr. Chiu currently serves
as an independent non-executive director of Shandong Hi-Speed
New Energy Group Limited (formerly known as Beijing Enterprises
Clean Energy Group Limited, listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange). He is also a non-executive director of Link
Holdings Limited (listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange).

From 2008 to 2015, Mr. Chiu worked with UBS AG in the
investment banking department in its Hong Kong office, primarily
focusing on advising large scale corporate clients on their capital
market activities. During the aforesaid period, he had completed
a number of high-profile capital market transactions, merger and
acquisition transactions as well as debt financing transactions.

MR. L] GAOFENG

Mr. LI Gaofeng, aged 50, was appointed as an independent
nonexecutive Director and a member of each of the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee in October 2017. Mr. Li graduated from Henan Institute
of Finance and Economics with a bachelor’s degree in Economics
majoring in Investment Management in 1995. He further obtained
a master’s degree in Economics majoring in International Finance
from Tianjin University of Finance and Economics in 1998. Mr. Li
is a nonpracticing member of the Chinese Institute of Certified
Public Accountants.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)
EEREREEB2HFARE (&)

Mr. Li has worked in the insurance and securities sectors for many
years and has rich experience in finance, investment and investor
relations. He worked for Sun Life Everbright Life Insurance Co.,
Ltd. for several years and served as the deputy general manager,
chief financial officer and chief investment officer. He also held
senior management positions with the financial institutes such as
securities companies and mutual funds in the PRC.

MS. LUI MET KA

Ms. LUl Mei Ka, aged 39, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director and a member of each of the Audit Committee,
the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee in
September 2023. Ms. Lui graduated from The Chinese University
of Hong Kong with a degree in bachelor of business administration
in 2006 and is currently a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.

Since 27 September 2018, Ms. Lui has been the chief financial
officer and a joint company secretary of Feiyu Technology
International Company Limited (stock code: 1022), a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Since 21 April
2017, Ms. Lui has also been an independent non-executive
director of China Tangshang Holdings Limited (stock code: 674), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Ms. Lui has over 16 years of experience in financial management
and corporate finance. From October 2016 to July 2018, she was
the chief financial officer and company secretary of GR Properties
Limited (stock code: 108), a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange and which is engaged in property
development and investment. From March 2014 to May 2016,
she was the company secretary and financial controller of LT
Commercial Real Estate Limited, a company previously listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange under the stock code 112,
which was engaged in property development and investment.
Prior to that, Ms. Lui had about seven years of experience in
auditing and accounting at Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu from
September 2006 to August 2013.

SEEARRRBSTALASEHE
W5 R A RAE E MR T E I
BALEER B EEAKBABERR
ERAFERS L RANLEE Ef
MBERERRAE - WA GERE 2B
SAFARABESZLHRBRATH
& B 7 -

EFXZFRL

EXRLL 30 R-F-=FNAH
EAABUANCESRERZAR I8
EEEBRFMEARZMA - ELLR
CEEAFBEREETIAS RET
BERBLBL - RAREERHIAR

o=
& 5 o
= B

BT N\ENA-++HE Ext—
BEEABMIAMER LETRAARAERFHEH
BRARDR (BRMHRIK:1022) 2 5 R 6
BERBEARNNWE AT —+LFWMA
T+ BB EREINECBIAERLE
MARFEERZERERA R (BRMHDRE:
674) Z BN IEHITES -

BRTRUBEBRCEREFTEEESS
1BFELR - RZE—REFTHAHEZFT—N
FLtA BREEAESEHESR AR (K
MRE 182 EEMBERAAWE
ZABREBRERLET - REMERE
EEE - RZE—MF=RAE_FT—~F
TR BEEEOREEHMEBR AR
NAMEFRVFBE  ZAF LS R

RAERLED (BOARE:112) K=Y
ERBERRE-ERZA EREIN_-F

ERFNAZEZT—=F/\AEBREE
BRER T EANLCFET LG
BEE &

BERHBRLAF —B-NFEFRH

49



50

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

EEREREEB2FHEE (&)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
MR. YUAN TIANFU

Mr. YUAN Tianfu, aged 35, joined the Group in January 2022 and
was further appointed as the co-CEO in February 2024. Mr. Yuan
focuses on the Group’s strategic planning, direct investment,
securities investment, investment portfolio management and other
businesses. Mr. Yuan currently serves as a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Yuan graduated from Tsinghua
University in 2011 with a bachelor’s degree in Electronic Science
and Technology, and further obtained a master’s degree in
Business Administration from Renmin University of China in 2016.

Mr. Yuan has nearly 15 years of experience in the financial industry
and is familiar with the environment, regulations and operations of
the mainland China, Hong Kong and international capital markets.
Before joining the Group, Mr. Yuan served as the senior project
manager of the strategic investment department and the vice
president of Anbang Insurance Group Holdings Co., Ltd. from
June 2011 to December 2014. From January 2015 to December
2019, he served as the head of the office of the board of directors
of Tongchuang Jiuding Investment Management Group Holdings
Co., Ltd. From January 2020 to December 2021, he served as
the vice president of Kunwu Jiuding Investment Management Co.,
Ltd..
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MR. ZHANG HUACHEN

Mr. ZHANG Huachen, aged 32, joined the Group in September
2022 and was further appointed as the co-CEO in February 2024.
Mr. Zhang focuses on the Group’s investment operations, financial
technology project investment and financing business, as well as
the Company’s Type 1, 4 and 9 licensed businesses regulated
by the Securities and Futures Commission. He is currently a Type
1 and Type 4 licensed representative and a Type 9 responsible
officer registered under the Securities and Futures Ordinance, and
currently serves as a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Zhang has over 10 years of extensive experience in the capital
market. He is familiar with investments in the fields of financial
technology and digital assets, and has in-depth understanding
of international investment banking, private equity investment,
setting up and operations of special purpose acquisition
companies (SPAC) in the Hong Kong and U.S. stock markets
and fund operations. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zhang had
held management positions with a number of reputable financial
institutions including Huarong International Asset Management
Limited and etc., and had successfully completed various private
equity financing, stock secondary market investment, fixed-income
financing and corporate mergers & acquisitions projects. Mr.
Zhang has obtained a master’s degree in Business Management
from Hong Kong Baptist University in 2015.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERES

The Directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note
32 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 162 of this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: nil).

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property and equipment of the
Group during the Reporting Year are set out in note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the Reporting Year are set out in note 27 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the Reporting Year
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
page 165 of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company’s distributable
reserves (net amount of share premium and accumulated losses)
is approximately of HK$72,515,000 and HK$65,058,000 as at 31
March 2024 and 2023 respectively.
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DONATIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group did not make
any charitable donations.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
audited consolidated financial statements and reclassified as
appropriate, is set out on page 268 of this annual report. This
summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2024 is set out in the section headed “MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS” on pages 12 to 42 of this annual
report. These discussions form part of this Directors’ Report.
Description of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the
Group can be found throughout this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, as far as the Board and
the management are aware, there was no breach of or non-
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group
that has a significant impact on the business and operation of the
Group.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its employees and customers to meet its short-
term and long-term business goals. During the year ended
31 March 2024, there was no material and significant dispute
between the Group and its employees and customers.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to operate in compliance with the
applicable environmental laws as well as to protect the
environment by minimizing the negative impact of the Group’s
existing business activities on the environment.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
EEEHREE (R)

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s original share option scheme was adopted on
19 August 2011 (the “2011 Share Option Scheme”), which was
expired on 18 August 2021 and replaced by a new share option
scheme approved by the Shareholders on 2 September 2021 (the
“2021 Share Option Scheme”). A summary of the 2021 Share
Option Scheme is set out below:

PURPOSE

The purpose of the 2021 Share Option Scheme is to enable
the Company to grant options to selected participants as
incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group.

PARTICIPANTS

The Board (which expression shall include a duly authorised
committee thereof) may, at its absolute discretion, invite
any person belonging to any of the following classes of
participants, to take up options to subscribe for Shares:

(i) any employee;
(i) any business associate;

(il any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to the
Group or any invested entity; and

(iv) any shareholder of any member of the Group or any
invested entity or any holder of any securities issued by
any member of the Group or any invested entity.

The eligibility of any of the above classes of participants to
the grant of any option shall be determined by the Board
from time to time and on a case-by-case basis subject to
the Board’s opinion as to, among others, their contribution
or potential contribution to the development and growth of
the Group or invested entity.
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TOTAL NUMBER OF SHARES AVAILABLE
FOR ISSUE UNDER THE 2021 SHARE
OPTION SCHEME AND THE PERCENTAGE
OF THE ISSUED SHARES THAT IT
REPRESENTS AS AT THE DATE OF THIS
ANNUAL REPORT

As approved by the Shareholders at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 2 September 2021 (the
“2021 AGM”), the scheme limit of the 2021 Share Option
Scheme was approved to allow the Company to grant share
options for up to 91,530,788 Shares, representing (i) 10%
of the total number of Shares in issue as at the date of the
2021 AGM; and (i) 1.45% of the total number of Shares in
issue as at the date of this annual report.

MAXIMUM ENTITLEMENT OF EACH
PARTICIPANT

Unless approved by the Shareholders, the total number of
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the share
options granted to any grantee (including both exercised and
outstanding share options) in any 12-month period up to
the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the Shares then in
issue.

For any grant of share options under the 2021 Share
Option Scheme to a Director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or any of their respective
associates shall be approved by independent non-executive
Directors (excluding any independent non-executive Director
who is the grantee of the options in question).

For any grant of share options to a substantial shareholder
of the Company or an independent non-executive Director,
or any of their respective associates, would result in the
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all share
options already granted and to be granted (including options
exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the
12-month period exceed 0.1% of the Shares then in issue
and with an aggregate value in excess of HK$5 million,
the proposed grant is also subject to the approval by the
Shareholders.
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PERIOD WITHIN WHICH THE SHARES
MUST BE TAKEN UP UNDER AN OPTION

The period during which the share option may be exercised
is determined by the Board at its absolute discretion, save
that no share option may be exercised more than 10 years
after it has been granted.

MINIMUM PERIOD FOR WHICH AN
OPTION MUST BE HELD BEFORE IT CAN
BE EXERCISED

Unless the Board otherwise determines and states in the
offer of grant of an option to a Participant, there is no
minimum period for which a share option granted under the
2021 Share Option Scheme shall be held before it can be
exercised.

AMOUNT PAYABLE ON ACCEPTANCE OF
THE OPTION AND THE PERIOD WITHIN
WHICH PAYMENTS SHALL BE MADE

HK$1 is payable by the grantee to the Company upon
acceptance of the share option which must be accepted
within 28 days from the date of offer.

BASIS OF DETERMINING THE EXERCISE
PRICE

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by
the directors, but may not be less than the highest of (i) the
Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on
the date of the offer of the grant of the share options; (ii) the
average Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s
shares for the 5 trading days immediately preceding the date
of the offer of the grant of the share options; and (iii) the
nominal value of the Company’s shares on the date of the
offer of the grant of the share options.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
EEEHREE (RA)

REMAINING LIFE OF THE 2021 SHARE 9. —TE-—FEREFZZ
OPTION SCHEME I/E%J*;E,ﬁ

The 2021 Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective —E--FEREGE A ERW
for a period of 10 years from its adoption date until 2 Eﬁﬂii)& ERHE—_T=—FAN
September 2031, subject to the early termination provisions AZBIE BB+ E HXHRER
contained therein. Fral 2 IR RIS -

. DETAILS OF MOVEMENTS IN OPTIONS 10. R#%_L /77;3% B 217071 #
UNDER THE 2021 SHARE OPTION BEE—FERETE

SCHEME DURING THE REPORTING HTBEERFEFEA

YEAR PURSUANT TO RULE 17.07 OF THE BB F g

LISTING RULES

The details of the outstanding options which were granted BE_Z--—FEREFEETH
under the 2021 Share Option Scheme and their movements MARITENBREFBRERRS
during the Reporting Year are set out below: FEANEESFERIFHNNOT
Number of options Share price of the Company
ERELE ARARHER

(Note 2)

(Mi2)
Immediately
Granted Adjusted Exercised  Cancelled/ Immediately before the
during the during the during the lapsed during before the date of
Name and category of As at 1 April Reporting Reporting Reporting  the Reporting Asat31 date of grant exercise of
participants Date of grant Vesting period Exercise period Exercise price 2023 Year Year Year Year  March 2024 of options options
RZBZZE REREER RELEER RMEEFEA RBEEEA R-ICRE NERERE RERBREST
SEEREREH REEH ] L] %8 fikE  mA-A Rl HE € HE/&R ZAIt-B REAMA L&)
HKS) HKS) HKS)
(1) (#1) (#7)

Director and chief executives

EEREATRAR

Ms. SUN Qing 27 March 2024 Note (1) 1 April 2025 to 31 March 2026 0480 o 4,168,000 o = = 4,168,000 0470 N/A

EERL ZRIMEZACTEE MEM) E-RfMA-BE TER
ZEIREZA=1-8

Mr. ZHANG Huachen 27 March 2024 Note (1) 1 April 2025 to 31 March 2026 0.480 - 32,000,000 = = - 32,000,000 0470 NA

FEREE ZECMEZACTER MEM ZE-RFMA-RE kil
Z5-55=R=1-8

Mr. YUAN Tianfu 27 March 2024 Note (1) 1 April 2025 to 31 March 2026 0480 - 32,000,000 o = - 32,000,000 0470 N/A

RRARE ZRIMEZACTEE MEM) E-RfMA-BE TER
ZEIREZA=1-8

Other employee participants 27 March 2024 Note (1) 1 April 2025 to 31 March 2026 0.480 - 23,332,000 - - - 23,332,000 0470 N/A

in aggregate ZT-mE=A-tHR  MEN) —3-R§MA-RE TER

AfRESEASH Z3ZAFZRZT-8

Total: - 91,500,000 - - - 91,500,000

a3t
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Notes:

(1)  The vesting of the options is subject to performance targets
for the 2024 fiscal year to be determined by the Board
based on the internal assessment system of the Group. The
assessment will be made based on the individual performance
of the participants, performance of the team or department
that the participant belongs to and the performance of the
Group as a whole. On the condition that the said performance
targets are satisfied, the share options shall be vested on 1
April 2025.

(2)  The share price of the Company immediately before the date
of the grant of the options disclosed herein was the closing
price quoted by the Stock Exchange on the trading day
immediately prior to the date of the grant of the options. The
share price of the Company immediately before the date of
exercise of the options disclosed herein was the weighted
average of the closing price(s) of the shares on the day(s)
immediately before the date(s) on which the options within the
disclosure category were exercised.

The Group is in compliance with the requirements as
stipulated in Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard 2
“Share-based Payment” issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. During the Reporting Year,
equity-settled share-based payments of HK$306,000 were
made for the cost of share options granted by the Company
and were recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income. Upon exercise of
the share options, the resulting shares issued are recorded
by the Company as additional share capital at the nominal
value of the shares, and the excess of the exercise price
over the nominal value of each share is recorded by the
Company in the share premium account. Share options
which lapse or are cancelled prior to the expiration of their
exercise period are deleted from the register of outstanding
share options.

Details of the model and significant assumptions used to
estimate the fair value of the share options granted by
the Company to eligible participants during the Reporting
Year are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements. Such option pricing model requires input of
subjective assumptions. Any changes in the subjective input
assumptions may materially affect the estimation of the fair
value of the share options.
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11.

The number of options available for grant under the 2021
Share Option Scheme at the beginning and the end of the
Reporting Year was 91,530,788 and 30,788 respectively.
The number of shares of the Company that may be issued
in respect of options granted under the 2021 Share Option
Scheme during the Reporting Year divided by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue for the Reporting
Year was 2.71%. On 27 March 2024, the Company granted
options to certain participants to subscribe for a total of
91,500,000 ordinary shares of the Company pursuant to
the 2021 Share Option Scheme at the exercise price of
HK$0.480 per share.

TERMINATION OF THE 2021 SHARE
OPTION SCHEME

During the extraordinary general meeting of the Company
held on 29 May 2024 (the “EGM”), the Shareholders has
resolved to terminate the 2021 Share Option Scheme, upon
which no further share options may be granted but the
provisions of the 2021 Share Option Scheme will remain in
force and effect to the extent necessary to give effect to the
exercise of any share option granted prior to its termination
or otherwise as may be required in accordance with the
provisions of the 2021 Share Option Scheme. Thus the share
options granted under the 2021 Share Option Scheme prior
to the termination shall continue to be valid and exercisable
in accordance with the rules of the 2021 Share Option
Scheme.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME

IR 40 82 B 5t =

The Shareholders has resolved to adopt the share award scheme
of the Company (the “Share Award Scheme”) during the EGM. A
summary of the Share Award Scheme is set out below:

PURPOSE OF THE SHARE AWARD
SCHEME

The purpose of the Share Award Scheme is to recognise
and acknowledge the contributions which the eligible
participants of the Share Award Scheme (the “Eligible
Participants”) have made or may make to the Group, with
the view to achieving the following principal objectives: (i) to
provide the Company with a flexible means of remunerating,
incentivising, retaining, rewarding, compensating and/or
providing benefits to the Eligible Participants; (ii) to align
the interests of the Eligible Participants with those of the
Company and Shareholders by providing such Eligible
Participants with the opportunity to acquire proprietary
interests in the Company and becoming Shareholders, so as
to optimise their performance and efficiency for the benefit of
the Group and particular in its fulfilment of strategic targets;
(i) to encourage the Eligible Participants to contribute to
the long-term growth, performance and profitability of the
Company and to enhance the value of the Company and
its Shares for the benefit of the Company and Shareholders
as a whole; and (iv) attracting and retaining or otherwise
maintaining ongoing business relationships with the Eligible
Participants whose contributions are, or, will or are expected
to be, beneficial to the Group.

GoFintech Innovation Limited Annual Report 2024

BRRERBRRENAEG LRBEHIERS
ARA) 2R 8 (R RBTE]) -
Befn 82 A& 2 EEH M T

K17 B2 A /Y

B RETEEERERATRN
REHE2AER2HE([EER
SHE|)EHANEBEDEH K ATREE
PROER KNEBRTHEZEDH: ()
ABEARRREEETNFX - UERAE
BER2HEERBRH HE %8
HE HESEKLEER XAE
BERSEERBEEN: () BBARE
BER2HEERBRESARAMAERE
Bk ARENKSE  FHRENF
mEARNTRBRROFE B ®Em
BEAEEEHNAAEENZmEA
RERBE BRREEEAEEHK
BEZEAE: (| BBeEKR2HEE
AEARRNRNRER RBAKAF R
NEREER YARDR RBREHE
BiZRERSARARERMDER:
K (iv) | 5| Rk ¥ 8B ¥ AN & B E H &R
BRI B e BEHEASERFER
BERHNAEERK2HEE S UEMAR
B EHSHEEBBER-



PARTICIPANTS OF THE SHARE AWARD
SCHEME

The Eligible Participants shall comprise: (i) any employee of
the Company, Director (excluding independent non-executive
Directors) or officer of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries
(including persons who are granted Share Award under
the Scheme as an inducement to enter into employment
contracts with the respective company of the Group (each
such person being an “Employee Participant”); (i) any
an employee, director or officer of the Affiliate (each such
person being a “Related Entity Participant”); and (iii) any
service providers whom the Board or the committee of the
Board (the “Committee”), in its sole discretion, determines
that have contributed or will contribute to the Group (each
such person being a “Service Provider Participant”).

TOTAL NUMBER OF SHARES AVAILABLE
FOR ISSUE UNDER THE SHARE AWARD
SCHEME

The total number of Shares which may be issued pursuant
to the Share Award Scheme is 541,093,796 Shares, being
approximately 8.55% of the entire issued share capital as at
the date of this annual report.

The total number of Shares which may be issued pursuant
to award of Shares (“Share Awards”) granted to Service
Provider Participants is 63,262,458 Shares, being not more
than 1% of the entire issued share capital as at the date of
this annual report.
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MAXIMUM ENTITLEMENT OF EACH
PARTICIPANT UNDER THE SHARE AWARD
SCHEME

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued in
respect of all options and awards (including Share Awards
granted to each Eligible Participant pursuant to the Share
Award Scheme, excluding any options and Share Awards
lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Share Award
Scheme) in any period of 12 month period up to and
including the date of such grant shall not in aggregate
exceed 1% of the entire issued share capital at the relevant
time, without Shareholder’s approval (the “Individual
Limit”).

Pursuant to Rule 17.04(1) of the Listing Rules, any grant of
Share Award to any Director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or any of their respective
associates under the Share Award Scheme or any other
share schemes of the Company or any of its subsidiaries
shall be subject to the prior approval of the independent
non-executive directors of the Company (excluding any
independent non-executive Director who or whose associate
is the grantee of the Share Award), or if required by the
Listing Rules, the Remuneration Committee.

Pursuant to Rule 17.04(2) of the Listing Rules, Shareholders’
approval is required at a general meeting where any grant
of Awarded Shares to a Director (other than an independent
non-executive Director) or chief executive of the Company,
or any of his/her associates that would result in the Shares
issued and to be issued in respect of the Share Award
granted to such person under the Share Award Scheme and
all other share schemes (excluding any Share Award lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the Share Award Scheme)
in any 12 month period up to and including the date of such
grant, representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the issued
share capital of the Company.

GoFintech Innovation Limited Annual Report 2024

KR EEEE T &E5SH
EHERERD LR

REBEERHDAH (BREZA) IR
12BAMEARN AR TE-—REER
SEENMABRELRR (BFER
A BRED T B AL D BB R BT
BRERERD ZBENERE X
A {E fo] BB RCHE N Pl {28 Y ) © 39T
R FRITHNRMNEE ST EE
BREEREZHBEBTRANI%
(TEABREE])

BIE R A E17.04(01) & RIERR
1D 8B H 8 sk AR A B 3 E (T 1] I /B
A A HYE ] E b R 51 8 M A 2 7
EMES HeTBRABXETERE
IHEESENTABEARLETM
f&fn B2E) BN NG BIULIERITE
E(TEEESEBRBABRNER
AEBRANTABLIERITES) RF
MEES (M EMBAUBERE)EL
HEE o

RAE _E TR AISE17.04(2) 1§+ W\ A&
NAlBEE (BIIFRITESRIN X
ERTHRABSEEMBEE AKRE
FREBRD SERRBERLEA
H(8iEzE) EEM12@E A BRER
HIRBAR D BB KT B H AL AR
MEtEIMZ A TR EAIRN ZE (~
BEREBRMNEREIGERE XK
B 1E ] B2 10 228 ) h 2 31T RAg T 8%
THRMNEHBAARARFTZEITR
AE0.1% A ZERBRERANE LERE
AR R L o



Pursuant to Rule 17.04(3) of the Listing Rules, Shareholders’
approval is required at a general meeting where any grant of
Awarded Shares to an independent non-executive Director
or a substantial shareholder of the Company, or any of his/
her/its associates that would result in the Shares issued
and to be issued in respect of all options and Share Award
granted to such person under the Share Award Scheme and
all other share scheme (excluding any options and Share
Award lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Share
Award Scheme) in any 12 month period up to and including
the date of such grant, representing in aggregate over 0.1%
of the issued share capital of the Company.

THE GRANT AND ACCEPTANCE OF
SHARE AWARD

The Board or the Remuneration Committee may determine
in its absolute discretion and on a case-by-case basis and
specify in a letter to the grantee in respect of the grant of
Share Award (the “Award Letter”), inter alia, (i) the amount
payable on acceptance of the Share Award and (i) the
period within which any such payments must be made,
being the issue price for the Share Award.

Unless otherwise specified in the Award Letter, the grantee
shall have ten business days from the date of grant to
accept the Share Award by giving written notice of their
acceptance to the Company, together with remittance in
favour of the Company of any consideration payable upon
grant of the Share Award. To the extent that a Share Award
is not accepted within the time specified in the Award Letter
or pursuant to the Scheme Rules (as defined below), it shall
be deemed to have been irrevocably declined and shall
automatically lapse.
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VESTING PERIOD OF AWARDS GRANTED
UNDER THE SHARE AWARD SCHEME

Subject to the satisfaction of all conditions of vesting
applicable to the vesting of Awarded Shares to each grantee
of Share Awards (the “Grantee”), the Awarded Shares
held by the trustee appointed by the Company for the
administration of the Share Award Scheme (the “Trustee”)
on behalf of such Grantee shall vest in such Grantee in
accordance with the applicable vesting schedule as set out
in the award letter to the Grantee, and the Trustee shall
cause the Awarded Shares to be transferred to such Grantee
in accordance with the rules of the Share Award Scheme (the
“Scheme Rules”).

The Share Award granted under the Share Award Scheme
shall be held for not less than 12 months before being
vested on the Eligible Participant save and except to certain
exceptional circumstances in accordance with Scheme
Rules. The Board believes that this aligns with the Listing
Rules and purpose of the Share Award Scheme.

REMAINING LIFE OF THE SHARE AWARD
SCHEME

Subject to early termination, the Share Award Scheme shall
be valid and effective for a period of 10 years (the “Scheme
Period”) commencing on its adoption date of 3 June 2024.
After the Scheme Period, no further Share Award may be
granted, but the Scheme Rules shall remain in full force
and effect to the extent necessary to give effect to any
Share Award made before the expiry of such period. Share
Award granted during the Scheme Period, but which remain
outstanding and have not lapsed as at the expiry of the
Scheme Period, shall continue to be valid in accordance
with their terms of grant notwithstanding the expiry of the
Scheme Period.
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8. DETAILS OF SHARE AWARDS GRANTED
TO EACH PARTICIPANTS

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has not
granted any Share Awards pursuant to the Share Award
Scheme. Since the Share Award Scheme was adopted
after the year ended 31 March 2024 and no awards have
been granted during the year ended 31 March 2024, (i) the
number of awards available for grant under the scheme
mandate at the beginning and the end of the year ended 31
March 2024 is not applicable, and (ii) the number of Shares
that may be issued in respect of the awards granted under
the Share Award Scheme during the year ended 31 March
2024 divided by the weighted average number of Shares in
issue for the year ended 31 March 2024 is not applicable.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report relating to the Share
Option Scheme and the issue of Convertible Bonds, no equity-
linked agreement was entered into during the year ended 31
March 2024.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 March 2024 and up to the
date of this Directors’ Report were as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. LIU Zhiwei (Chairman)
(resigned on 28 February 2024)
Ms. SUN Qing
Mr. LIU Haoyuan
(resigned on 19 September 2023)

Non-executive Director
Mr. HAN Hanting
Mr. NIE Riming
(appointed on 30 October 2023)
Mr. LI Chunguang
(appointed on 8 February 2024)
Mr. HUA Yang'
(re-designated on 28 February 2024)

u Mr. HUA Yang was re-designated from an executive Director to a
non-executive Director with effect from 28 February 2024.

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. CHAN Kin Sang? (Chairman)
Mr. CHIU Kung Chik
Mr. LI Gaofeng
Ms. LUl Mei Ka
(appointed on 19 September 2023)

2 Mr. CHAN Kin Sang was appointed at the Chairman of the Board
and the chairman of the Nomination Committee with effect from 28
February 2024.

Pursuant to Article 100 of the articles of association of the
Company (the “Articles of Association”), any Director appointed
by the Board to fill a casual vacancy or, subject to authorization
by the Shareholders in general meeting, as an addition to the
existing Board shall hold office only until the first annual general
meeting of the Company after his appointment and shall then be
eligible for re-election at that meeting.
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Accordingly, Mr. NIE Riming, Mr. LI Chunguang and Ms. LUI Mei
Ka will hold office until the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company (the “AGM”) and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election at the AGM.

Pursuant to Article 117 of the Articles of Association, at each
AGM one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not three or a multiple of three (3), the number nearest
to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director, including those appointed for a
specific term, shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years.

Accordingly, Mr. LI Gaofeng, Mr. HAN Hanting and Mr. CHIU
Kung Chik shall retire by rotation at the forthcoming AGM. Mr.
HAN Hanting and Mr. LI Gaofeng, although eligible, will not offer
themselves for re-election and will retire as a Director after the
conclusion of the forthcoming AGM. Mr. CHIU Kung Chik, being
eligible, will offer himself for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 43 to 51
of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Company has entered into employment contracts or letters
of appointment with each of the Directors for a specific term,
subject to the renewal provisions contained therein and retirement
by rotation and re-election at the AGMs. None of the Directors
proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has employment
contract or letter of appointment with the Company or any of
its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by him as a
Director in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in
which judgment is given in his favor, or in which he is acquitted.
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The Company has maintained Directors’ liability insurance during
the year ended 31 March 2024 and up to the date of this annual
report which provides appropriate cover for the Directors.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITION IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2024, save as disclosed in the section headed
“SHARE OPTION SCHEME” as set out in the Directors’ Report
on pages 54 to 59 of this annual report, none of the Directors or
chief executives of the Company or their respective associates
had any other interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO), or which were required pursuant to section
352 of the SFO to be entered in the register maintained by the
Company referred to therein, or which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “DIRECTORS’ AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITION IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY” above and the section headed “SHARE OPTION
SCHEME” as set out in the Directors’ Report on pages 54 to 59
of this annual report, at no time during the year ended 31 March
2024 was the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors and the chief executives of
the Company, their respective spouse or minor children (natural or
adopted) to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares
in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS MATERIAL
INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS” in the Directors’ Report on pages 71 to 72 and
under “related party transactions” as set out in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements, no transactions, arrangements
or contract of significance to which the Company, or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or an entity
connected with the Directors or the controlling shareholders of
the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year
ended 31 March 2024.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the interests of the
Directors in the business which compete or are likely to compete
either directly or indirectly, with businesses of the Group
(“Competing Businesses”) as required to be disclosed pursuant
to the Listing Rules were as follows:

Description of
Competing Businesses

BEEBERE

Name of company

AL

Name of Director

EEfS
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Nature of interest

BEME

Dr. LIU Zhiwei (Executive Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital

Debt Investment and

An executive director and substantial

Director) (Note) Limited (formerly known as Equity Investment shareholder of Wealthink Al
Wealthking Investments Limited)
(“Wealthink Al")
MSEEL (HrEF) ENBRREARAAN(FE BEREKERE EMBRZHTEERIERR
(H#iz) EMEXRBARAA)
([ENEE])
Note: B 5T -

Dr. LIU Zhiwei resigned as an executive Director with effect from 28
February 2024.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors was interested in
any business apart from the Group’s businesses which compete
or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with businesses
of the Group.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS

As at 31 March 2024, as far as is known to the Directors and
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO, the substantial Shareholders
(other than a Director or a chief executive of the Company) who
had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying shares
of the Company were as follows:

LONG POSITION IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY:

TERRERS

R-E-_NMF=RA=+—HBH BEEMMN
RBIBEAR R AR B 5 K BB & £3361%
BREBEzZETMATRESE EBRE(AAQ
RIE R ITHARERIN) RAREIRG 5
HEARNFHEB 2 EEmSAR T

/Z(V# AR 7 R B IR 17 2 #F
E-
Approximate

Total interest percentage of

Interest in in Shares and the issued share

Interest in underlying underlying capital of the

Name of Shareholders  Capacity Shares shares shares Company

RERGR LR YN

RERG 2 R R 5 HER®DZ ERITRA

BEER HE 227 & 2R s BHABEDH

Dr. LIU Zhiwei Beneficial owner 1,351,948,000 - 1,351,948,000 21.37%
MEEEL ERBEEA

Mr. WANG Tao Beneficial owner 1,134,374,308 - 1,134,374,308 17.93%
IEELE EREEA

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, the Directors B FilFTHBEEIN R _ZT_WWEFE=A

were not aware of any substantial Shareholder (who was not
the Director or chief executive of the Company) who had an
interest or short position in the Shares or underlying shares of
the Company which was required to be entered in the aforesaid
register pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS” as set out in the Directors’ Report on pages
71 to 72 of this annual report, the related party transactions set
out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements are fully
exempted from announcement, reporting, annual review and
independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the requirements

in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of such
transactions.

GoFintech Innovation Limited Annual Report 2024

=+—8 EELTARETEBRR (F
BEAATEFRTHAR)RAR AR
5 518 B AL 15 o0 A R 98 5 T 02
B F36IR AT E 2 LB EMAREZ
WA -

BB L X5

REEMRAUFUAE REZFEREE
FNERA [BEXS ] MBOMBEEIN
e BmRMA B 2EH TS
DEeRHBRETAE BHR FEEX
KB B ER AL 2 FRE ©

ARNRERERZERFES FHRA
FUUAEZHBRETE -



DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
EEEHREE (RA)

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS FAERXS

During the year, the Company had the following connected FR ' AABETTUATHEERSG HF
transactions, certain details of which are disclosed in compliance B ARE FHHRBIFE14AZEZ B ERE -
with the requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

[A) FULLY EXEMPT CONTINUING A) EZHHEZIFEBER

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Investment Management Agreement

Pursuant to an investment management agreement dated
13 September 2022 (the “Investment Management
Agreement”), Fortune Asset Management Limited (“Fortune
Asset”), a subsidiary of the Group, was appointed as the
investment manager of Wealthink Al to provide investment
management services for a period from 13 September 2022
to 12 September 2025. Under the Investment Management
Agreement, Wealthink Al would pay Fortune Asset a
management fee and performance fee. The management fee
for the first year of the Investment Management Agreement
was calculated at 0.012% per annum of the net asset value
of Wealthink Al. From the second year, the management
fee would be calculated at such other percentage figure
as agreed between Wealthink Al and Fortune Asset. The
performance fee was calculated by reference to the increase
in the net asset value per share of Wealthink Al.

During the Reporting Year, the management fee paid/
payable by Wealthink Al under the Investment Management
Agreement to Fortune Asset was HK$915,000 (2023:
HK$643,000).

Wealthink Al is regarded as a connected person of the
Company by virtue of Rule 14A.08 of the Listing Rules
because Fortune Asset is the investment manager of
Wealthink Al. The Investment Management Agreement
constitutes a continuing connected transaction of the
Company. As all the applicable percentage ratios with
reference to the largest annual cap of the Investment
Management Agreement are less than 5% and the total
consideration is less than HK$3,000,000, the Investment
Management Agreement is fully exempt from shareholders’
approval, annual review and all disclosure requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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The Investment Management Agreement has been
terminated by Wealthink Al and Fortune Asset on 29
December 2023.

[B) CONNECTED TRANSACTION -

ACQUISITION OF EQUITY INTERESTS IN
THE TARGET FUND

References are made to the announcements of the
Company dated 4 September 2023 and 28 September
2023 (collectively, the “Announcements”), in relation to,
among other things, the Acquisition of the Acquisition Units
in the Target Fund. Unless the context otherwise requires,
capitalised terms used in this section shall have the same
meanings as those defined in the Announcements.

On 4 September 2023, (after trading hours of the Stock
Exchange), the Purchaser, Fortune Genesis Holdings Limited
(a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) entered into
the Unit Transfer Agreement with the Vendor, Dr. Liu Zhiwei,
pursuant to which the Purchaser has conditionally agreed
to acquire, and the Vendor has conditionally agreed to
sell the Acquisition Units at the Acquisition Consideration
of US$1,600,000.00 (equivalent to approximately
HK$12,480,000.00).

As at the relevant time, the Vendor is the chairman of
the Company, an executive Director and a substantial
shareholder of the Company. Therefore, the Vendor is a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules,
and the Acquisition constitutes a connected transaction of
the Company under Chapter 14A of the Hong Kong Listing
Rules.

The Acquisition Consideration is US$1,600,000.00
(equivalent to approximately HK$12,480,000.00), which was
paid by the Purchaser to the Vendor in cash at Acquisition
Completion upon fulfilment of the conditions precedent of
the Unit Transfer Agreement.

All of the connected transactions entered by the Company
above have complied with the applicable disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and/or administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
was entered into or existed during the year ended 31 March 2024.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company’s total issued share was held by the public as at the
latest practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, revenue attributable to the
5 largest customers of the Group accounted for approximately
44.08% of the Group’s total revenue. The Group’s largest
customer accounted for approximately 11.69% of the Group’s
total revenue.

The Group is a provider of financial services. In the opinion of
the Directors, it is therefore of no value to disclose details of the
Group’s suppliers.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined
under the Listing Rules) or any Shareholders (which, to the
best knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the
Company'’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the
Group’s five largest customers during the year ended 31 March
2024.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefit scheme of the Group and the
employer’s retirement benefit costs charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for
the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in notes 3, 11 and 13
to the consolidated financial statements.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities
throughout the year ended 31 March 2024.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association, or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing Shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company’s compliance with the corporate governance codes
are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 81 to
109 of this annual report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

ADOPTION OF THE SHARE AWARD SCHEME

References are made to (i) the announcements of the Company
dated 11 April 2024, 29 May 2024 and 3 June 2024 (collectively,
the “Share Award Scheme Announcements”); and (ii) the
circular of the Company dated 13 May 2024 (the “Share Award
Scheme Circular”) in relation to the Share Award Scheme.
Unless otherwise specified, capitalised terms used in this section
shall have the same meanings as those defined in the Share
Award Scheme Announcements and the Share Award Scheme
Circular.

On 11 April 2024, the Company announced the proposed
adoption of the Share Award Scheme, which will be valid for a
period of ten (10) years from the Adoption Date and the Awarded
Shares will be satisfied by (i) new Shares to be allotted and issued
to the Trustee(s); and/or (i) existing Shares to be acquired by
the Trustee(s) on the market. The purpose of the Share Award
Scheme is to recognise and acknowledge the contributions which
the Eligible Participants have made or may make to the Group.
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The total number of Shares which may be issued pursuant to
all Share Awards to be granted under the Share Award Scheme
amounts to 541,093,796 Shares, being approximately 8.55%, and
thus not more than 10% of the entire issued share capital as at
the Adoption Date (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”). The Scheme
Mandate Limit has taken into account such Shares issued or
to be issued pursuant to any granted and unexercised options
made under the share option scheme of the Company adopted
in September 2021 (the “2021 Share Option Scheme”), which
shall be subject to the Scheme Mandate Limit. Therefore, the
91,500,000 outstanding share options of the Company granted on
27 March 2024 pursuant to the 2021 Share Option Scheme and
the 30,788 share options of the Company which have not been
granted have been included under the Scheme Mandate Limit.

The Share Award Scheme was approved and adopted by the
Shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company
(the “EGM”) convened on 29 May 2024. The listing committee of
the Stock Exchange has granted the approval for the listing of,
and permission to deal in the Shares which may be issued and
allotted pursuant to the Share Award Scheme. All conditions of
the Share Award Scheme have been fulfilled and the Share Award
Scheme has become effective on 3 June 2024.

TERMINATION OF THE 2021 SHARE OPTION
SCHEME

During the EGM, the Shareholders has also resolved to terminate
the 2021 Share Option Scheme, upon which no further share
options may be granted but the provisions of the 2021 Share
Option Scheme will remain in force and effect to the extent
necessary to give effect to the exercise of any share option
granted prior to its termination or otherwise as may be required
in accordance with the provisions of the 2021 Share Option
Scheme. Thus the share options granted under the 2021 Share
Option Scheme prior to the termination shall continue to be valid
and exercisable in accordance with the rules of the 2021 Share
Option Scheme.
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DISCLOSEABLE TRANSACTION IN RELATION
TO THE PROVISION OF FINANCIAL
ASSISTANCE

References is made to the announcement of the Company
dated 13 May 2024 (the “Provision of Financial Assistance
Announcement”) in relation to the provision of financial
assistance to Ms. Xue Jingyi, an individual who is an Independent
Third Party (“Borrower A”) and Ms. Ma Zhanlei, an individual who
is an Independent Third Party (‘Borrower B”). Unless otherwise
specified, capitalised terms used in this section shall have the
same meanings as those defined in the Provision of Financial
Assistance Announcement.

On 13 March 2024, Fortune Finance Limited (the “Lender”)
entered into Loan Agreement A with Borrower A for a loan in
the principal amount of HK$45,000,000. On 13 May 2024, the
Lender entered into Supplemental Agreement A with Borrower A
to extend the repayment date of Loan Agreement A for two (2)
months in the principal amount of HK$37,125,000.

On 13 March 2024, the Lender entered into Loan Agreement
B with Borrower B for a loan in the principal amount of
HK$45,000,000. On 13 May 2024, the Lender entered into
Supplemental Agreement B with Borrower B to extend the
repayment date of Loan Agreement B for two (2) months in the
principal amount of HK$38,125,000.

For details of the provision of financial assistance to Borrower
A and Borrower B, please refer to the Provision of Financial
Assistance Announcement.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION IN RELATION TO
THE ACQUISITION OF EQUITY INTEREST IN
THE TARGET COMPANY

References is made to the announcement of the Company dated
12 June 2024 (the “Acquisition Announcement”) in relation
to the Acquisition of Target Equity. Unless otherwise specified,
capitalised terms used in this section shall have the same
meanings as those defined in the Acquisition Announcement.
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On 12 June 2024, Chuanggi International Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability and
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (the “Purchaser”)
and Dr. LIU Zhiwei, a substantial shareholder of the Company
and the former chairman of the Board and executive Director (the
“Vendor”) entered into the Equity Transfer Agreement, pursuant to
which the Purchaser has conditionally agreed to acquire and the
Vendor has conditionally agreed to sell the Target Equity at the
Consideration in the amount of HK$39.50 million.

For details of the Acquisition, please refer to the Acquisition
Announcement.

TAXATION OF HOLDERS OF SHARES
HONG KONG

The purchase, sale and transfer of Shares registered in the
Company’s Hong Kong branch register of members will be subject
to Hong Kong stamp duty. The current rate charged on each of
the purchaser and seller (or transferee and transferor) is 0.13% of
the consideration or, if greater, the fair value of the Shares being
bought/sold or transferred (rounded up to the nearest HK$ 000).
In addition, a fixed duty of HK$5.00 is currently payable on an
instrument of transfer of Shares.

Profits from dealings in the Share arising in or derived from Hong
Kong may also be subject to Hong Kong profits tax.

CAYMAN ISLANDS

Under the present Cayman Islands laws, transfers and other
dispositions of Shares are exempt from Cayman Islands stamp
duty.

CONSULTATION WITH PROFESSIONAL
ADVISERS

Intending holders and investors of the Shares are recommended
to consult their professional advisers if they are in any doubt as
to the taxation implications (including tax relief) of subscribing
for, purchasing, holding, disposing of or dealing in Shares. It is
emphasized that none of the Company or its Directors or officers
will accept any responsibility for any tax effect on, or liabilities of,
holders of Shares resulting from their subscription for, purchase,
holding, disposal of or dealing in such Shares.
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CHANGE OF DIRECTORS’
INFORMATION UNDER RULE 13.51B(1)
OF THE LISTING RULES

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, during the period
from 28 November 2023 (i.e. the date of the Board’s approval of
the interim results for the six months ended 30 September 2023)
to 26 June 2024 (i.e. the date of the Board’s approval of the
annual results for the year ended 31 March 2024), the changes
in the Directors’ and chief executive’s information required to be

disclosed were as follows:

Mr. LI Chunguang was appointed as a non-executive Director
with effect from 8 February 2024.

Dr. LIU Zhiwei resigned as an executive Director, the
Chairman of the Board, the Authorised Representative, the
chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee with effect from 28 February 2024.

Mr. CHAN Kin Sang was appointed as the Chairman of the
Board, the Authorised Representative and the chairman of
the Nomination Committee with effect from 28 February
2024 and resigned as an independent non-executive director
of Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited (listed
on the GEM of the Stock Exchange) with effect from 2 April
2024.

Mr. HUA Yang was re-designated from an executive Director
to a non-executive Director, resigned as the Chief Executive
Officer, a member of the Nomination Committee and a
member of the Remuneration Committee with effect from 28
February 2024.

Ms. SUN Qing was appointed as a member of the
Nomination Committee and a member of the Remuneration
Committee with effect from 28 February 2024.

Each of Mr. YUAN Tianfu and Mr. ZHANG Huachen was
appointed as a Co-Chief Executive Officer with effect from
28 February 2024,
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Save as disclosed above, there is no other change in the
Directors’ and chief executive’s information required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules during
the period from 28 November 2023 (i.e. the date of the Board’s
approval of the interim results for the six months ended 30
September 2023) to 26 June 2024 (i.e. the date of the Board’s
approval of the annual results for the year ended 31 March 2024).

REVIEW OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The Audit Committee comprises four independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. CHIU Kung Chik (chairman of the Audit
Committee), Mr. CHAN Kin Sang, Mr. LI Gaofeng and Ms. LUl Mei
Ka.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed the internal controls and financial reporting matters
including the review of the audited consolidated financial
statements and annual results of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2024.

AUDITOR

The Company and Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited (“Grant
Thornton”) could not reach a consensus on the audit fee for the
financial year ended 31 March 2022. Accordingly, Grant Thornton
was not proposed to be re-appointed upon its retirement as the
auditor of the Company at the 2021 AGM.

On 20 July 2021, as recommended by the Audit Committee, the
Board has resolved to propose the appointment of BDO limited
(“BDO”) as the Company’s auditor for the year ended 31 March
2022 following the retirement of Grant Thornton.

BDO has been re-appointed as the auditor of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2023 in the 2022 AGM to hold office
until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the
Company.
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BDO has resigned as the auditor of the Company on 30 October
20283, due to the Company and BDO could not reach a consensus
on the proposed audit fees for the year ended 31 March 2024.

On 30 October 2023, as recommended by the Audit Committee,
the Board has resolved to appoint ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
(“ZHONGHUI ANDA") as the Company’s new auditor to fill the
casual vacancy arising from the resignation of BDO and to hold
office until the next annual general meeting of the Company.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2024 were audited by ZHONGHUI ANDA which
will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.
A resolution will be proposed to the Shareholders to re-appoint
ZHONGHUI ANDA as auditor of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, there has been no change in auditor of
the Company in any of the preceding three years.

On behalf of the Board

CHAN Kin Sang
Director

Hong Kong, 26 June 2024
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company’ s commitment to the highest standards of
corporate governance is driven by the Board which, led by the
Chairman, assumes overall responsibility for the governance of the
Company, taking into account of the interests of the Shareholders,
the development of its businesses and the changing external
environment.

The Company believes that good corporate governance is
fundamental in ensuring that the Company is well managed in the
interests of all of its Shareholders.

The Company has adopted the code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 to
the Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE
COMPLIANCE

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company has
complied with all code provisions and, where appropriate, met the
recommended best practices of the CG Code.

MODE CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding
Directors’ securities transaction. Having made specific enquiry of
all Directors, all Directors confirmed that they have complied with
the required standards set out in the Model Code throughout the
year ended 31 March 2024.

The Company has also established its management policy on
trading securities of the Company by Directors and relevant
employees of the Company, which is not less exacting than the
Model Code, for securities transactions by employees who are
likely to possess inside information of the Company. No incident
of non-compliance of such policy by the employees was noted by
the Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is collectively responsible for formulating of the
Group’s overall strategy, reviewing and monitoring the Group’s
business operations and performance, preparing and approving
financial statements, considering and approving material contracts
and transactions as well as other significant policies and financial
matters. The Board takes the responsibility to oversee internal
controls and risk management systems and to review of the
effectiveness of such systems, monitoring the performance of
the senior management and determining the policy for corporate
governance. The Board also gives clear directions as to the
powers delegated to the senior management for the day-to-day
operation, business strategies and administrative functions of the
Group.

BOARD COMPOSITION

As at 31 March 2024 and up to the date of this annual report, the
composition of the Board was as follows:

Non-executive Directors

FUTES

Executive Directors

HITES

EET

E=ZgHFAAEHATASEE 2 BERE-
B REBAKBZEBZERRE &
M EMBHRER EERMEEREGN
ARG UWREMBEERREVBER-
EXeRRERNSERRAREER
AT ZFRSRZBRE U REE
EREEBERANBTLEEABRKR-E
ZENRERTaREEBREEASHE
BREEE FHRBRITERBEZE NS
T EAREIER o

EFES MK

R-_E-_NE=A=1+—HREEZEAF
WHM EE2HEKET:

Independent non-executive Directors

BUFHTES

Dr. LIU Zhiwei (resigned on 28 February 2024)  Mr. HAN Hanting
MEREBT (R=F-mAF-A=+/1AFF) BHERE

Mr. CHAN Kin Sang (Chairman)
BREERE (2E)

Mr. CHIU Kung Chik

BREAE

Ms. SUN Qing Dr. NIE Riming
(appointed on 30 October 2023)
BEut EEABEL
(RZFE_=ZF1TH=+HEZL)

Mr. LIU Haoyuan (retired on 19 September 2023) Mr. LI Chunguang

(appointed on 8 February 2024)
FEREE
(R=F-FE=F)\HEZ()

MEBREE(RZF==ZFAATNHRE)

Mr. HUA Yang

(re-designated from an executive Director

to a non-executive Director on
28 February 2024)
ZEhEE
(RZFEZQF=-A=1+/1H
BHHTEERTRHNTEE)

The Chairman and the independent non-executive Directors
have met at least once every year without the presence of other
Directors and the management and such meeting was held on 28
November 2023.
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Mr. LI Gaofeng

FRELLE

Ms. LUI Mei Ka
(appointed on 19 September 2025)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

NUMBER OF BOARD MEETINGS,
COMMITTEES MEETINGS, GENERAL
MEETING AND DIRECTORS’
ATTENDANCE RATE

Number of Board meetings, committees meetings and general
meetings held during the year ended 31 March 2024 and the

attendance rate of the individual Directors are set out below:

TEERKRSE (&)

REBEZ_Z_NEF=A=+t—HILFE
W%TTZ%%E Eln%t ;E@@ui&”ﬁ%
REZHBEARBHNESZEREEHT

LU
Audit Remuneration Nomination
Board Committee Committee Committee General
Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings
Directors (“BM”) (“ACM”) (“RCM”) (“NCM”) (“GM”)
Exg B 40 R’E
€% ZEg88E ZE8g8E Z£8993 BRAE
(=g (&% (TE ™ (TR#A
EENE &32]) ZEgg®]) ZEggR]) ZEggRl) ([RRXE))
Executive Directors BITES
LIU Zhiwei' mEe 16/16 N/ATER 4/4 5/5 3/3
SUN Qing? % & 18/18 N/A 7~ i 1 0/0 3/3
LIU Haoyuan? HIES 58 5/5 N/ATiE B N/AZ i A N/A 38 11
Non-executive Directors FHTES
HAN Hanting BHE 6/16 N/ATER N/ATE N/ATNE R 2/3
NIE Riming* EHE 8/8 N/ATER N/AZE A N/A 7 i £ 11
LI Chunguang® EX=Di 22 NATHEA  NATER NATER  NATER
HUA Yang? E g 18/18 N/A 7~ 4/4 5/5 3/3
Independent non-executive Directors BIFHTES
CHAN Kin Sang’ (Chairman) BRigE (&) 16/16 5/5 6/6 6/6 3/3
CHIU Kung Chik HAE 16/16 5/5 6/6 6/6 3/3
LI Gaofeng ol 16/16 5/5 6/6 6/6 3/3
LUI Mei Ka® BER 10/10 2/2 4/4 3/3 11

HEAMAERRR —E-EFEH
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1. Dr. LIU Zhiwei has resigned as an executive Director, the Chairman
of the Board, a member of the Remuneration Committee and the
chairman of the Nomination Committee with effect from 28 February
2024.

2. Ms. SUN Qing was appointed as a member of each of the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee with effect
from 28 February 2024.

& Mr. LIU Haoyuan has retired as an executive Director with effect
from 19 September 2023.

4. Dr. NIE Riming was appointed as a non-executive Director with
effect from 30 October 2023.

58 Mr. LI Chunguang was appointed as a non-executive Director with
effect from 8 February 2024.

6. Mr. HUA Yang has been re-designated from an executive Director to
a non-executive Director, and has resigned as a member of each of
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee with
effect from 28 February 2024.

I Mr. CHAN Kin Sang was appointed as the Chairman of the Board
and the chairman of the Nomination Committee with effect from 28
February 2024.

8. Ms. LUl Mei Ka was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director and a member of each of the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee with effect
from 19 September 2023.

The Company has received from each of its independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence as
required under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers that all independent non-executive Directors are
independent.

The biographical details of all existing Directors are set out in the
section headed “BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT” of this annual report. Save as disclosed
in that section, none of the Directors has any relationship
(including financial, business, family or other material/relevant

relationship(s)) with other Board members.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

The Directors appointed during the year ended 31 March 2024,
namely Ms. LUl Mei Ka, Dr. NIE Riming and Mr. LI Chunguang,
(i) had obtained the legal advice referred to in Rule 3.09D of the
Listing Rules on 19 September 2023, 30 October 2023 and 8
February 2024, respectively; and (i) had confirmed that they
understood their obligations as a Director.

OPERATION OF THE BOARD

The Board is provided with relevant information concerning
matters to be brought for its decision. Regular board meetings
are held at approximately quarterly intervals and at least 14 days
notice will be given to the Directors before each board meeting is
held. Board papers are dispatched to the Directors at least 3 days
prior to the meetings.

Directors have to declare their interests before the meetings in
accordance with the Articles of Association. Directors who are
considered to have a conflict of interest or material interests in
the proposed transactions or issues to be discussed will not be
counted as the quorum of the meeting and are required to abstain
from voting on the relevant resolutions.

The Company maintains the minutes of the board meetings for
inspection by Directors.

There is a clear division of responsibilities between the Board
and the Executive Committee of the Company (the “Executive
Committee”). Decisions on important matters are reserved to
the Board while decisions on the Group’s general operations
are delegated to the Executive Committee. Important matters
including but not limited to major acquisitions and disposals,
connected transactions, annual budgets, approval of annual and
interim results, other significant operational and financial matters

and those affecting the Group's strategic policies.
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RESPONSIBILITIES, ACCOUNTABILITIES
AND CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE BOARD AND
MANAGEMENT

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control
of the Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the
success of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads
and provides direction to the management by laying down
strategies and overseeing their implementation, monitors the
Group’s operational and financial performance, and ensures that
sound internal control and risk management systems are in place.

All Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and

including independent non-executive Directors,

effective functioning. The independent non-executive Directors are
responsible for ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of
the Company and providing a balance in the Board for bringing
effective independent judgement on corporate actions and
operations.
serve on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and

Independent non-executive Directors are invited to

the Nomination Committee.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information
of the Company and may, upon request, seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the

Company’s expenses for discharging their duties to the Company.

According to the code provision under the CG Code requiring
directors to disclose the number and nature of offices held
in public companies or organizations and other significant
commitments as well as their identity and the time involved to the
Company, the Directors update the Company regarding offices
held in public companies and organisations, and other significant
commitments on a regular basis.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

The Board reserves for its decisions on all major matters relating
to the approval and monitoring of policy matters, overall strategies
and budgets, internal control and risk management systems,
material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict
of interests), financial information, appointment of directors and
other significant financial and operational matters of the Company.
Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the Board,
directing and coordinating the daily operation and management of
the Company are delegated to the management.

DIRECTOR INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Newly appointed Directors are provided with briefings and
orientation on their legal and other responsibilities as a Director
and the role of the Board.

Information package comprising the latest development in laws,
rules and regulations relating to the duties and responsibilities
of Directors will be forwarded to each Director from time to
time for their information and reference. “A Guide on Directors’
Duties” published by the Companies Registry of Hong Kong,
and “Guidelines for Directors” and “Guide for Independent
Non-Executive Directors” published by The Hong Kong Institute
of Directors have also been forwarded to each newly appointed
Director for their information and reference.

In addition, the Company has also from time to time provided
information and briefings to Directors on the latest development
of the laws, rules and regulations relating to Directors’ duties and
responsibilities. The Company has, on an individual basis, advised
Directors on queries or issues arising from the performance of
their duties.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company has provided
training on updates of legal and regulatory regime to the Directors
on 28 November 2023, covering the topics of (i) disclosure of
the basis of consideration and business valuations in notifiable
transactions; (i) enhancement of climate-related disclosures under
the environmental, social and governance framework of the Listing
Rules; and (iii) expansion of the paperless listing regime. Besides,
individual Directors who had participated in other continuous
professional training organized by professional bodies and/or
government authorities also provided the Company with their
records of continuous professional development. Such training
records were kept by the Company.
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The Directors’ knowledge and skills are continuously developed

and refreshed by the following means:

(1)

Participation in in-house seminars and/or briefings provided
by the Company relating to the updates on legal and
regulatory, corporate governance requirements and industry-
related issues;

Participation in the continuous professional training
seminars/conferences/courses/workshops organized by
other professional bodies and/or government authorities on
topics relating to directors’ duties and/or their respective
professionalism; and

Accessing and/or reading, via the Internet, the materials
relating to the latest development in laws, rules and
regulations in relation to the directors’ duties and
responsibilities, corporate governance, business and industry
developments, and finance industry, as well as watching
videos prepared by the Stock Exchange in relation to the
aforesaid topics.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, all the Directors
participated in continuous professional development and the

relevant details are set out below:

EEZBUTHAREBERRIENES
Z FGE K B

(1)

SERARRRIREB AR LA
CEEABREERAMEBEEZR
FERABHITE R HENE

SERHEMEERBR NBFH#
MERoBsEIXRIHATE g
& RE/RBR TEEBREEN
BER/FREZTAZER R

BEBRPRERR X EEBEES
BE CXEBR EBMITRERK
TRE AR RAURBRIISEHER
MR AR BER A LB
BRI -

RBE_Z_MNE=A=+—HBIEFE"
MEESC2EBBEXEE R HEFE
T

Training(s)
Members of the Board received
EEENE 2EZ Z2EI
Executive Directors BITES
SUN Qing % & (1)&(3)
Non-executive Directors FHITES
HAN Hanting EHE (3)
NIE Riming 2 H B (1&(3)
LI Chunguang FENR (1)&(3)
HUA Yang N (1)&(3)
Independent non-executive Directors BIYFEHITES
CHAN Kin Sang BRI A& (1&(3)
CHIU Kung Chik HAE (1&(3)
LI Gaofeng TEE (1&@Q)
LUI Mei Ka EER (1)&(3)
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LIABILITY INSURANCE FOR THE
DIRECTORS

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover in
respect of possible legal actions against its Directors and officers.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code states that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual. The role of the Chairman
is currently performed by Mr. CHAN Kin Sang, who is an
independent non-executive Director, while the role of the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company is currently performed by Mr.
YUAN Tianfu and Mr. ZHANG Huachen jointly.

The Chairman is responsible for taking the lead in formulating the
overall strategies and policies of the Group. He ensures that the
Board functions effectively and all material issues of the Company
are discussed in a timely manner. The Chairman also leads the
Board to establish good corporate governance policies and
procedures for the Group as a whole.

The Chief Executive Officers, supported by the other executive
Directors and the senior management of the Company, are
responsible for the daily business operations and management
of the Group. They monitor the implementation of the Group’s
strategy with respect to the achievement of its business
objectives.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of the non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors has entered into letters of appointment
with the Company for an initial term of one year with effect from
the date of appointment subject to the terms of renewal contained
therein and retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance
with the Articles of Association.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the Audit Committee are disclosed on
both the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established in October 2005.
It currently comprises four independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. CHIU Kung Chik (chairman of the Remuneration
Committee), Mr. CHAN Kin Sang, Mr. LI Gaofeng and Ms. LUl Mei
Ka, and one executive Director, namely Ms. SUN Qing. The terms
of reference of the Remuneration Committee was revised on 29
November 2023 and are aligned with the provisions set out in the
CG Code. The main duties of the Remuneration Committee are as
follows:

(@ to make recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all Directors and senior
management’s remuneration and on the establishment
of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy;

(b) to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives;

(¢) to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management. This should include benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office
or appointment;

(d) to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
of non-executive Directors;

(e) to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time

commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group;
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to review and approve compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or termination
of office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with
contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive for
the Company;

to review and approve compensation arrangements relating
to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure
that they are consistent with contractual terms and are
otherwise reasonable and appropriate;

to ensure that no Director or any of his associates is involved
in deciding his own remuneration; and

to review and approve matters relating to share schemes
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Remuneration
Committee held six meetings to discuss and deal with the

following major matters:

to review the remuneration package of all Directors and
senior management;

to review the effectiveness of the terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee;

to consider the remuneration packages for the new Directors
and senior management, and make recommendations to the
Board thereon;

to consider the plan for adjustment of remunerations for
Directors; and

to approve the grant of share options under the 2021 Share
Option Scheme, details of which refer to the announcement
of the Company dated 27 March 2024 and adoption of the
Share Award Scheme.

Remuneration of Directors and senior management is

recommended by the Remuneration Committee and approved by

the Board with reference to their qualifications, experience, duties

and responsibilities within the Company and the prevailing market
conditions.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established in December 2007. It
currently comprises one executive Director, namely Ms. SUN Qing,
and four independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. CHAN
Kin Sang (chairman of the Nomination Committee), Mr. CHIU Kung
Chik, Mr. LI Gaofeng and Ms. LUl Mei Ka. The terms of reference
of the Nomination Committee was revised on 29 February 2012
and are aligned with the provisions set out in the CG Code.

The main duties of the Nomination Committee are as follows:

(@) to review the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least
annually and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy;

(b) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become members
of the Board and may select individuals nominated for
directorship;

(c) to assess the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors; and

(d) to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive.

The Nomination Committee identifies and nominates qualified
individual to the Board for consideration. All newly appointed
Directors are subject to re-election by the Shareholders at the
AGM or at the next following general meeting of the Company
immediately following their appointment pursuant to the Articles of
Association. In considering the new appointment or re-nomination
of Directors, the Nomination Committee will focus their decisions
based on attributes such as integrity, industry experience and
professional and technical skills together with the ability to
contribute time and afford to carry out their duties effectively and
responsibly.
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During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Nomination Committee
held six meetings to discuss and deal with the following major
matters:

- to review the structure, size and composition of the Board;

- to review and assess the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors;

- to discuss the list of Directors who are subject to retirement
by rotation at the annual general meeting of the Company
and make recommendation to the Board on their re-election
as Directors;

- to review the effectiveness of the terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee;

= to consider the changes of Directors, senior management
and Board committee members and make recommend to
the Board thereon; and

- to review the implementation and effectiveness of the Board
Diversity Policy of the Company for 2023-2024, and set
the gender diversity objectives at the Board level and the
Group-wide employee level.

NOMINATION POLICY

A nomination policy was adopted by the Company in
November 2018 (the
the selection criteria and nomination procedures in identifying

[ Nomination Policy”) which sets out

and recommending candidates as Directors for the Board’s
consideration. In assessing the suitability of a proposed
candidate for directorship, the Nomination Committee will take
into account (i) the Company’s actual needs, (i) the candidate’s
skills and professional experience that are complementary to the
other members of the Board and (iii) the diversity of the Board,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational

background, etc.

The Nomination Committee will review the Nomination Policy
from time to time and discuss any revisions required, and will
recommend such revisions to the Board for consideration and
approval.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of diversity
of its Board members. It had adopted a Board Diversity Policy (the
“Policy”) in August 2013. All Board appointments will be based
on meritocracy and competence. The ultimate decision will be
based on merits and contributions that the selected candidates
will bring to the Board.

In order to achieve a diversity of perspectives amongst the
structure, size and composition of the Board, when making the
recommendation to the Board for appointment or re-appointment
of Directors, the Nomination Committee will take into account
certain objective criteria such as gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills
and knowledge, and length of service, etc. Besides, it will also
take into account factors based on the Company’s business
model and specific needs from time to time.

In addition, the Policy is reviewed annually to ensure its
effectiveness. The Nomination Committee will discuss any
revisions that may be required, and recommend any such
revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.

The Board is composed of members of different genders to
maintain an appropriate balance of diversity. All appointments of
Directors will be considered against measurable objectives for
the benefits of diversity on the Board with a view to developing a
pipeline of potential successors to the Board to maintain gender
diversity. For the year ended 31 March 2024, the proportion of
male and female members of the Board was approximately 88.9%
and 11.1% respectively, achieving gender diversity on the Board.
The Company’s current goal is to maintain the proportion of
female members on the Board at the current level at least and will
strive to increase the proportion of female directors to achieve an
appropriate balance of gender diversity.

As at 31 March 2024, the proportion of male and female in the
workforce of the Company was approximately 56.7% and 43.3%
respectively. The Company will also ensure that there is gender
diversity when recruiting staff at mid to senior level and provide
such staff with more appropriate on-the-job training so that the
Company will have a pipeline of female senior management and
potential successors to the Board in the near future.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

BOARD INDEPENDENCE EVALUATION

The Company has established a Board Independence Evaluation
Mechanism which sets out the processes and procedures to
ensure a strong independent element on the Board, which allows
the Board effectively exercises independent judgment to better
safeguard Shareholders’ interests.

The objectives of the evaluation are to improve Board
effectiveness, maximise strengths, and identify the areas that
need improvement or further development. The evaluation process
also clarifies what actions of the Company need to be taken
to maintain and improve the Board performance, for instance,
addressing individual training and development needs of each
Director.

Pursuant to the Board Independence Evaluation Mechanism, the
Board will conduct annual review on its independence. The Board
Independence Evaluation Report will be presented to the Board
which will collectively discuss the results and the action plan for
improvement, if appropriate.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Board reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the Board Independence
Evaluation Mechanism and the results were satisfactory.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established in April 2001 and currently
comprises four independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
CHIU Kung Chik (chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. CHAN Kin
Sang, Mr. LI Gaofeng and Ms. LUl Mei Ka. The terms of reference
of the Audit Committee was revised on 30 December 2015 and
are aligned with the provisions set out in the CG Code. The main
duties of the Audit Committee are as follows:
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RELATIONSHIP WITH THE COMPANY’S
AUDITOR

(a)

to be primarily responsible for making recommendation to
the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal
of the external auditor, and to approve the remuneration
and terms of engagement of the external auditor, and any
questions of its resignation or dismissal;

to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards. The Audit Committee
should discuss with the auditor the nature and scope of the
audit and reporting obligations before the audit commences;

to develop and implement policy on engaging of an external
auditor to supply non-audit services. For this purpose,
“external auditor” includes any entity that is under common
control, ownership or management with the audit firm or any
entity that a reasonable and informed third party knowing
all relevant information would reasonably conclude to be
part of the audit firm nationally or internationally. The Audit
Committee should report to the Board, identifying and
making recommendations on any matters where action or
improvement is needed;
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

REVIEW OF THE COMPANY'S FINANCIAL
INFORMATION

(d)

to monitor the integrity of the Company’s financial
statements and annual report and accounts, half-year report
and, if prepared for publication, quarterly reports, and to
review significant financial reporting judgments contained in
them. In reviewing these reports before submission to the
Board, the Audit Committee should focus particularly on:

() any changes in accounting policies and practices;

(i)~ major judgmental areas;

(i)~ significant adjustments resulting from the audit;

(iv) the going concern assumptions and any qualifications;

(v) compliance with accounting standards; and

(vij compliance with the Listing Rules and legal
requirements in relation to financial reporting;

regarding (d) above:

()  members of the Audit Committee should liaise with
the Board and senior management and the Audit
Committee must meet, at least twice a year, with the
Company’s auditor; and

(i) the Audit Committee should consider any significant
or unusual items that are, or may need to be, reflected
in the reports and accounts, it should give due
consideration to any matters that have been raised by
the Company’s staff responsible for the accounting
and financial reporting function, compliance officer or
auditor;
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OVERSIGHT OF THE COMPANY’S FINANCIAL o5
REPORTING SYSTEM, RISK MANAGEMENT 2
AND INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS

(f) to review the Company’s financial controls, and unless (f)
expressly addressed by a separate Board’s risk committee,
or by the Board itself, to review the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems;

() to discuss the risk management and internal control (9)
systems with management to ensure that management has
performed its duty to have effective systems. This discussion
should include the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Company’s accounting and financial reporting function;

(h)  to consider major investigation findings on risk management (h)
and internal control matters as delegated by the Board or
on its own initiative and management’s response to these
findings;

()  where an internal audit function exists, to ensure co- (i)
ordination between the internal and external auditors, and
to ensure that the internal audit function is adequately
resourced and has appropriate standing within the Company,
and to review and monitor its effectiveness;

()  to review the Group's financial and accounting policies and )
practices;

(k) to review the external auditor’s management letter, any (k)
material queries raised by the auditor to management about
accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control
and management’s response;

() to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response to the ()
issues raised in the external auditor’s management letter;
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

to review arrangements employees of the Company can use,
in confidence, to raise concerns about possible improprieties
in financial reporting, internal control or other matters. The
Audit Committee should ensure that proper arrangements
are in place for fair and independent investigation of these
matters and for appropriate follow-up action;

to act as the key representative body for overseeing the
Company'’s relations with the external auditor;

to report to the Board on the matters set out above; and

to consider other matters, as defined or assigned by the
Board from time to time.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Audit Committee held
five meetings to consider and approve, inter alia, the following
matters:

(@)

to review the half-year and annual financial statements
before submission to the Board, with a focus on compliance
with accounting standards, the Listing Rules and other
requirements in relation to financial reporting of the Audit
Committee;

to review and discuss the effectiveness of the internal
controls system throughout the Group, including financial,
operational and compliance controls, and risk management;

to review the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group and other financial reporting matters;

to review the effectiveness of the terms of reference of the
Audit Committee;

to discuss with the auditor on the annual audit scope; and

to make recommendations to the Board in relations to the
re-appointment and change of auditors of the Group, discuss
independence of the auditors and approve the remuneration
and terms of engagement of the auditors.

The Board considered that the risk management and internal
control systems of Company for the year ended 31 March 2024
were effective and adequate.
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EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The Executive Committee was established in April 2017 with
written terms of reference that specifies its authorities and duties.
The working rules of the Executive Committee were revised on
14 April 2023.
the relevant department heads of the Company and is chaired

It currently comprises all executive Directors and

by the executive Director. The Executive Committee is primarily
responsible for supervising the day-to-day operation of the Group,
implementing business strategies made by the Board and making
investment decisions within its authorities, etc. The Executive
Committee meets as and when necessary.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the following corporate
governance duties:

(i)  to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

(i)  to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

(i)  to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(iv) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and Directors;

and

(v) to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Board has duly
discharged the above-mentioned duties.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the auditor’s remuneration
paid or payable by the Group to ZHONGHUI ANDA in respect of
the audit and other non-audit services were as follows:
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The responsibilities of ZHONGHUI ANDA to the shareholders of
the Company are set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on
page 161 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the
preparation of the financial statements for the financial year ended
31 March 2024 and ensuring that such financial statements give
a true and fair view of the affairs of the Group and of the Group’s
results and cash flow and in compliance with the relevant laws
and disclosure provisions of the Listing Rules. In preparing the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2024, the Directors have selected appropriate accounting policies
and applied them consistently; made prudent and reasonable
judgments and estimates; and have prepared the financial
statements on a going concern basis.

BB B 5L & ot % 5 B T 3R 2 7K
EHEE

TEZEHARABMRZEETHRAF
BEITEZBIIZBANRES -

ESHMBHRZEME

EEHRNSFYUREBE_T _NF=
A=Z+-—ALMBRFEEZMBHREREE
B URARZEMBRERYAEEZE
BEUARAGEEZXERRESREFELE
BERF2ER BENABHZERARLETR
AZWBHR-ERREE_T_MF=
AZT - RLEFEZHAVBRRE &
EZEEBQAE SR Y ERULER
ERBE NGB 2 HIE M ET ARIRES
BREEERUEVBERE

HEAMAERRR —E-EFEH

101



102

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
ERERRE ()

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. YAN Xin (“Ms. Yan”) is the company secretary of the
Company. Ms. Yan is an employee of the Company. For the year
ended 31 March 2024, Ms. Yan has undertaken not less than 15
hours of relevant professional training in compliance with Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Board gives high priority to balanced, clear and transparent
communications which allow Shareholders and investors to
understand the Group’s prospects and the market environment in
which it operates. The Company communicates with Shareholders
and investors in different ways to ensure that their views and
concerns are understood and addressed in a constructive way.

In March 2012, the Board has established a Shareholders
communication policy and a Shareholders’ guide is in place to
ensure that Shareholders are provided with ready, equal and
timely access to balanced and understandable information about
the Group. The policy is uploaded on the Company’s website
and has been regularly reviewed during the year to ensure its
effectiveness.

The Company’s website has become the primary platform of
communication between the Company and the Shareholders.
The investor relations section of the website is kept under regular
review by the Company to ensure that information related to
Shareholders is disseminated in an accurate and timely manner.
During the year, the Company convened one annual general
meeting and two extraordinary general meetings. Members of
the Board and Board committees also attended the general
meetings of the Company to answer relevant questions raised
at the meetings. Separate resolutions were proposed at general
meetings for any significant separate issues.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

The particulars of Shareholders’ rights relating to, inter alia,
putting forward proposals at Shareholders’ meetings, convening
of extraordinary general meetings and making enquiries to the

Group are as follows:

PROPOSING A CANDIDATE FOR ELECTION AS
A DIRECTOR AT THE GENERAL MEETINGS OF
THE COMPANY

Pursuant to Article 120 of the Articles of Association, no person,
other than a retiring Director, shall, unless recommended by the
Board for election, be eligible for election to the office of Director
at any general meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention
to propose that person for election as a Director, signed by a
Shareholder (other than the person to be proposed for election
as a Director) duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting
for which such notice is given, and a notice in writing signed
by that person of his willingness to be elected shall have been
lodged at the registration office. The minimum length of the period
during which such notices are given shall be at least seven days,
commencing no earlier than the day after the dispatch of the
notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and
ending no later than seven days prior to the date of such general
meeting.

To include a resolution relating to other matters in a general
meeting, Shareholders are requested to follow the requirements
and procedures as set out in section 615 of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong). The relevant
Shareholders’ Guide has also been published on the Company’s
website.
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CONVENING OF EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL
MEETING OF THE COMPANY

Pursuant to Article 72 of the Articles of Association, the Board
may, whenever it thinks fit, convene an extraordinary general
meeting. General meetings shall also be convened on the
written requisition of any two or more members of the Company
deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or,
in the event the Company ceases to have such a principal office,
the registered office specifying the objects of the meeting and
signed by the requisitionists, provided that such requisitionists
held as at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company. General meetings
may also be convened on the written requisition of any one
member of the Company which is a recognised clearing house
(or its nominee) deposited at the principal office of the Company
in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such
a principal office, the registered office specifying the objects of
the meeting and signed by the requisitionist, provided that such
requisitionist held as at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which
carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit
of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting, the
requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them representing more than
one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may convene the
general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that
in which meetings may be convened by the Board provided that
any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of
three months from the date of deposit of the requisition, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result
of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the
Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

The Board is grateful to Shareholders and other stakeholders for
their views, and welcomes their questions and concerns raised in
relation to the management and governance of the Group.

Shareholders and other stakeholders may at any time send their
enquiries and concerns to the Board by post to the Company
at Units No. 4102-06, 41/F, COSCO Tower, 183 Queen’s Road
Central, Hong Kong or by email to info@290.com.hk for the

attention of the Company Secretary.

DIVIDEND POLICY

A dividend policy was adopted by the Company in November
2018 (the “Dividend Policy”) which sets out the guideline for
distribution of dividends to the Shareholders. The Dividend Policy
aims to strike a balance between the Shareholders’ interests and
the Company’s capital requirement for business operation and
development needs. The recommendation of the payment of any
dividend is subject to the absolute discretion of the Board, and
any declaration of final dividend will be subject to the approval by
the Shareholders at the annual general meeting.

In proposing any dividend payout, the Board will take into
account, inter alia, the Group’s financial results and liquidity,
its business strategies and development plans, as well as other
factors that the Board may consider appropriate.

The Board will review the Dividend Policy from time to time and
may exercise its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend
and/or modify the Dividend Policy at any time as it deems fit and
necessary.

INVESTOR RELATIONS
CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association (in
both English and Chinese) is available on both the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange. On 19 September 2023,
the second amended and restated Memorandum and Articles of
Association of the Company was duly passed by Shareholders at
the 2023 annual general meeting of the Company.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Company has an internal audit function. Board acknowledges
its responsibility for establishing and maintaining sound and
effective risk management and internal control systems, and
for determining the nature and extent of risk it is willing to
take in pursuing business objectives of the Group. Yet, such
risk management and internal control systems are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Company has a risk management policy in place to formalize
the procedures in identifying, evaluating and monitoring the
risks which may be encountered by the Group in the course of
business. By tackling the risks in a systematic way, the Board
believes that the same can be minimized or under control at a
reasonable level.

The process used to identify, evaluate and manage significant
risks are as follows:

1. each business unit/department identifies the risks that
encountered or may be encountered by them in the course
of business/operation;

2. business units/departments compile a list of risks which
contains the following information for every single risk
identified by them:
of risk;

(a) risk classification;
(d) risk ranking; and (e)
recommendations to deal with such risk, and email this list

(b) contents
(c) measures taken;

to the Executive Committee and the Compliance and Risk
Management Department (the “CRM Department”) for
review and assessment;

3. the Executive Committee and the CRM Department discuss,
assess and determine whether further action is required to
be taken against the identified risks or whether such risks
should be reported to the Board;
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

4.  if reporting to the Board is required, the Company Secretary
will send the materials to the Board for discussion and
revert the Board’s decision to the relevant business unit/
department for action/follow up.

Besides, internal control measures and/or procedures have also
been designed and implemented for safeguarding the Group’s
assets against unauthorized use or disposal, maintaining proper
accounting records, and monitoring the compliance with the
applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The Company has a CRM Department to monitor the overall risk
management and compliance issues of the Group on an on-going
risk management and
internal control issues of the Group will be prepared by the CRM
Department and tabled before the regular Audit Committee and
Board meetings for review and discussion. The Company also

basis. Quarterly reports on compliance,

approved the establishment of the Investment Decision and Risk
Management Committee on 28 April 2023 and the adoption of
the Measures and Procedures for Investment Decision and Risk
Management. The Investment Decision and Risk Management
Committee is specifically responsible for investment decision-
making and risk management matters under the guidance of
the Executive Committee. The Investment Decision and Risk
Management Committee meets regularly or when necessary to
consider matters relating to risk management and make decisions.
Modifications and improvements on the existing risk management
and internal control policies will be carried out from time to time
as required.

The CRM Department carries out reviews of the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group or specific business
segments of the Group, having regard to specific corporate and
fundraising exercises that have taken place and the applicable
regulatory and independence requirements on an annual basis.
The Company’s reviews have not revealed systemic deficiencies of
medium risk or above. The results of the review were submitted by
the CRM Department to the Audit Committee for their consideration.
The Board, based on the review of the Audit Committee, confirmed
the effectiveness and adequacy of risk management and internal
control systems of the Group.
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The Audit Committee also considers the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting and
financial reporting function, as well as their training programmes and
budgets.

Hence, the Board considers that the existing risk management and
internal control systems of the Group are effective and adequate to
meet its needs in its current business environment.

INSIDE INFORMATION DISCLOSURE POLICY

To ensure timely, fair, accurate and complete disclosure of inside
information and for compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations, an updated policy on handling the inside information has
been approved by the Board in August 2017, pursuant to which, the
Company has taken a series of procedures to identify and preserve
the confidentiality of the price sensitive information and to disclose
the same to the public in a timely manner, if required. All staff are
also required to observe the code of ethical standards stated in Staff
Handbook to keep non-public information confidential.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH
SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The Company continues to pursue a proactive policy of promoting
investor relations and communication by maintaining regular
meetings with institutional Shareholders, fund managers and
analysts through different means including meetings, presentations
and correspondence. In an effort to enhance communications with
the Shareholders and investors, the Company maintains a website
(www.290.com.hk) to disseminate information relating to the latest
business developments and all corporate announcements.

The annual general meeting is a valuable forum for the Board
to communicate directly with the Shareholders. No less than 21
days’ notice in writing will be distributed to all Shareholders prior
to the annual general meeting. The circular of the annual general
meeting sets out the details of each proposed resolution and other
relevant information. Separate resolutions are proposed at the
general meetings of the Company on each substantially separate
issue, including the election of individual Directors. Shareholders
have the opportunity to participate and vote in general meetings
and are informed of the rules and voting procedures that govern
the general meeting.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

The 2023 annual general meeting of the Company was held at
Units No. 4102-06, 41/F, COSCO Tower, 183 Queen’s Road
Central, Hong Kong. All Directors attended the 2023 annual
general meeting. The external auditor of the Company, BDO
limited, also attended the 2023 annual general meeting to answer
questions raised by the Shareholders.

Having considered the various existing channels of communication
and the feedbacks from the Shareholders, investors and analysts,
the Board considers that the Shareholders’ communication policy
has been properly implemented and effective during the year
ended 31 March 2024.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RRE - #HBRERBRE

OVERVIEW

GoFintech Innovation Limited (“GoFintech” or the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries collectively referred to as the
“Group”) is pleased to present its Environmental, Social and
Governance Report (the “ESG Report”), which summarised
the environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) initiatives
and accomplishments for the year ended 31 March 2024 (the
“Reporting Year” or “2024").

Founded in 2002, GoFintech is an investment holding company
and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in securities and
insurance brokerage, equity investment and provision of asset
management, corporate finance, margin financing and money
lending services. The Group’s operations are located primarily in
Hong Kong with offices in Mainland China.

ESG investing has been moving mainstream as climate-related
risks reshape the principles of investment decisions. As a
significant player in China’s financial market, GoFintech has been
vigilant on those trends and the impacts that may assert on its
business.

BOARD STATEMENT

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) is pleased
to present the ESG Report of the Group, which reviews the
Group’s ESG initiatives, plans, performance, as well as its
sustainable development in respect of environmental protection,
labour practices, business operations, supply chain management
and other ESG issues for the Reporting Year. As a responsible
corporation, the Group views ESG commitment as part of
its responsibilities and is committed to incorporating ESG
considerations into its decision-making process.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

THE ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

Regarding corporate governance, the Group has applied a top-
down approach to manage the Group’s ESG-related issues. The
Board has the overall responsibility for the Group’s ESG strategies
and reporting, as well as overseeing and managing its ESG-related
issues, in achieving green operations for sustainable development.
The Board reviews and confirms the Group’'s ESG-related risks
and opportunities, performance, goals and targets, progress
made against ESG-related goals and targets, management
approaches, strategies, priorities of the Group’s material ESG-
related issues, and policies annually with the assistance of the
Group’s designated personnel from the business and functional
departments. With the assistance of ESG professionals, the Board
is equipped with the skills, experience and knowledge needed
for overseeing the ESG strategy of the Group. The Board also
ensures the effectiveness of ESG risk management and internal
control mechanism.

The Group’s designated personnel from the business and
functional departments facilitate the Board’s oversight of ESG-
related issues. They are responsible for overseeing and reviewing
the Group’s ESG-related policies and performance; monitoring
and managing ESG-related risks and opportunities, and the
effectiveness of the ESG management systems; and identifying
and prioritising the Group’s ESG-related issues. They also
propose and recommend to the Board on the Group’s ESG-
related strategies, priorities, goals and targets, and report the
relevant ESG-related matters to the Board annually.

REPORTING SCOPE

The reporting scope of this ESG Report is in line with the annual
report, covering all the Group’s business operations, including
subsidiaries in Hong Kong and Mainland China. The Group’s
business segments include securities brokerage and margin
financing, corporate finance, money lending, consultancy and
insurance brokerage, asset management, equity investment as
well as the new investment immigration business, representing
all of the Group’s revenue for the Reporting Year. To align with
the ongoing business expansion, the Group will make efforts
to broaden the scope of disclosure. This will be achieved by
enhancing the data collection process across multiple operational
locations.
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ENVIRONMENTAL SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

The content including data in preparing this ESG Report is
primarily based on the internal policies and documents as well as
information provided by various key stakeholders.

REPORTING FRAMEWORK

This ESG Report serves to provide details of the Group’s ESG
policies and practices of its business in Hong Kong and Mainland
China, which has been prepared and compiled in accordance with
the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the
“ESG Reporting Guide”) set out in the Appendix C2 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rule”) on Main
Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

Information relating to the Group’s corporate governance
practices is set out in the “Corporate Governance Report” of the
annual report.

During preparation of this ESG Report, the Group has applied the
following reporting principles of the ESG Reporting Guide.

Materiality: Materiality assessment was conducted to identify and
prioritise material ESG issues during the Reporting Year, thereby
adopting the confirmed material ESG issues as the focus for the
preparation of this ESG Report. The materiality of ESG issues was
reviewed and confirmed by the Board and senior management
of the Group. Please refer to the sections headed “Stakeholders
Engagement” and “Materiality Assessment” for further details.

Quantitative: The standards and methodologies used in the
calculation of relevant data in this ESG Report, as well as the
applicable assumptions were disclosed. The key performance
indicators (“KPIs”) are supplemented by explanatory notes to
establish benchmarks where feasible.

Consistency: The preparation approach of this ESG Report was
substantially consistent with the ESG report of previous year and
explanations were provided regarding data with changes in the
scope of disclosure and calculation methodologies.

This ESG Report has undergone the internal review process of the
Group’s management and has been approved by the Board.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

ESG PRACTICE
THE GROUP’S APPROACH

GoFintech started the ESG journey from its own operations to
ensure full compliance with all applicable laws and regulations,
and aim at becoming a leading player in the sector. During the
Reporting Year, the Group’s Chief Executive Officer (‘CEOQ”) and
Financial Controller (“FC”) continued to take lead in exploring ESG
practices. The Group made commitments in two areas:

1)  Continue green operations within GoFintech

2)  Anticipate and address the Group’s stakeholders’ concerns

In addition, the Group understands that climate change is posing
imminent impacts on the environment and the communities
in which the Group operates. In order to mitigate climate
change, enhance decarbonisation and respond to the Group’s
stakeholders’ concerns, the Group has set targets related to
greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions, waste management and
energy consumption. The targets were approved by the Board
and the progress towards these targets will be reviewed by the
management, the result of the review is reported to the Board
annually. The Group will continue to work on environmental
protection and minimising its carbon footprint in order to achieve
long-term sustainability of the environment and community
where it operates. Details of the targets are mentioned in the
sections headed “GHG Emissions and Air Emissions”, “Waste
Management” and “Energy Consumption” under aspect
“Environmental”.
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Stakeholders Engagement

Stakeholders are interest groups who are involved in the
Group’s business and have significant impact on the Group’s
success. GoFintech applied the following principles to assess its
stakeholders and their importance during the Reporting Year:

° Impact on the viability of the Group’s business model

° Impact on the efficiency and reputation of the Group

° Impact on the direction and quality of the Group’s decision-
making

Having two decades’ development, the Group appreciates the
importance of effective communication with external and internal
parties. The Group has built channels in its daily operation to
understand views and expectations of its stakeholders, who are
customers, employees, shareholders, government and regulatory
authorities, suppliers and the community.
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The table below provides highlights of stakeholder engagement

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
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TRIEFNHEL2REHORE

activities:
Stakeholders Communication Channels Expectations Management Responses
237 BERE e EEEORE
Customers ° Customer service hotline o Integrity J Ensuring contractual obligations
RP and email o High quality services are in place for protection of
o Company website o Complaint handling customers’ benefits and rights
¢ EFRBAGLEH mechanism o Collecting customers’ opinion
NS D o HIfE from various channels in
o BERK order to improve customer
o BRFEREHS satisfaction
o  HERHTANEL UREER
PR & R R
e WEBRBUEEPER N
RITEFPRERE
Employees . Trainings and workshops o Humanity and labour rights e Paying attention to
EE o Performance evaluation or o Occupational health and occupational health and safety,

appraisal
o Internal announcement
. 23 R TES
o BRI ER

s RERE

safety
o Career development
o Equal opportunity
o ANBREIEZR
o BERERZ2
o  EXRER
o  TEHKe

creating a comfortable working
environment

o Encouraging employees to
participate in continuous
education and professional
trainings to enhance
competency

o Holding team building function
to increase workplace
collaboration

. Setting up contractual
obligations to protect labour

rights
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o BREGEREDUREIE
A1 49 1

o HITANEERESIER

AEAFARAT —E-MEEH

115



ENVIRONMENTAL SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

REBE HERE

AWE (&)

Stakeholders Communication Channels Expectations Management Responses
BOE BERE i) EEEORE

Shareholders o Annual general meeting and Financial performance o Ensuring efficient
B®R other shareholder meetings ~ ® Information transparency communications and

Government and
Regulatory
Authorities

B REE#E

Suppliers
e

Community

S

o Financial reports
o Announcements and

circulars
o REBFREREMRE
g

o HBRSE
o RERAH

o Routine reports

o Written or electronic
correspondences

o PITRE

«  EERETER

J Business cooperation

«  HAXRAE

o ESG reports
. RE HERERRE
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o Operating risks
management

o Corporate sustainability

o HMBRHA

. %%%%F

o SERRERE

o REUHRBER

o Compliance with laws and
regulations

o Fulfilling tax obligations

o Cooperation for mutual
benefits

o EBTERRRER

o  RBIIBKEE

o  AEEHEEEH

o Fair and open selection

o Supply chain management
o RAFRARMEGE

o  fEEER

o Involvement in communities

o Environmental protection
awareness

o Compliant operations

o HEZ2H

o ERREH

¢ ARKE

information disclosure through
shareholder’s meetings,
annual reports and regular
announcements published on
official websites

e  BBRRERE FERERE
EAMUERBENODE
REWERBRGEERE

o Upholding integrity and
operating business in
compliance with law and
regulations

o Paying tax on time in return
contributing to the society

o RRACGKNEEXRBDET
ERRER

o  REZHADELE

o Ensuring contractual obligations
are in place to protect mutual
benefit

o Performing supplier selection
with due care to ensure fair and
open procurement

o  HERHETANEL REMRE
Mz

o REFERMED BRRELD
SN

o Encouraging employees to
participate in volunteer and
charitable activities
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

Materiality Assessment

Materiality assessment is a process of identifying and assessing
the ESG issues that are important to the Group’s business and its
stakeholder. With the assistance of the Group’s management and
the designated personnel, a list of material ESG issues has been
identified.

Factors such as business strategic objectives and policies,
industrial standards and legal and regulatory responsibilities have
been taken into consideration for identifying the Group’s material
ESG issues, covering environmental protection, climate change,
operating practices, employment and labour practices.

To prioritise the identified material ESG issues, the Group
conducted a materiality assessment survey during the Reporting
Year. Management and employees of different business units
and departments were invited to evaluate the significance of
the identified ESG issues to the Group’s stakeholders and
its businesses. Based on the results of the survey, the Group
compiled the materiality matrix.

The results of the materiality assessment were reviewed by the
Group’s management, and approved by the Board. The materiality
matrix below mapped out the identified material ESG issues
and their respective level of importance on their influence on
stakeholders and significance on the sustainable development of
the Group. Those material ESG issues reflected are compared
against GoFintech’s own strategic and operational focus to
produce a series of aligned priorities.
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MATERIALITY MATRIX
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Based on the result of materiality assessment, GoFintech
identified three major sustainable business development priorities
among all material ESG issues, which are shown as below:

° Employees’ Development and Training

o Waste Management

o Energy Consumption

During the Reporting Year, the Group confirmed that it has
established appropriate and effective management policies and
internal control systems for ESG issues and confirmed that

the information disclosed in the ESG Report complies with the
“comply or explain” provisions of the ESG Reporting Guide.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

SUSTAINABLE BUSINESS OPERATIONS

As a financial institution, GoFintech provides services to a wide
range of corporate and private clients who trust it to bring
financial solutions and grow their assets and wealth. The Group
is committed to the quality of its products and customer services
throughout its operations. The Group has also developed a series
of internal policies and procedures with regular updates to ensure
strict compliance.

During the Reporting Year, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations in
relation to product responsibility and product quality, including
health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters
relating to its products and services provided as well as methods
of redress. Such laws and regulations include but are not
limited to the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”) of Hong
Kong, Companies Ordinance of Hong Kong, Trade Descriptions
Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance
of Hong Kong, the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
the Protection of Consumer Rights and Interests, the Product
Quality Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Patent Law of
the People’s Republic of China, and the Advertising Law of the
People’s Republic of China.

PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

Product quality starts with product safety, which is at the core
of the Group’s commitment to all clients. The Group has placed
great importance on due diligence and risk monitoring processes
in product planning and on-going management. Product reliability
is the next layer of quality assurance initiative. It is conducted by a
set of check and balance processes amongst various professional
teams. As the health and safety risks involved in the Group’s
services are not material, the Group is not applicable to disclose
the product recall procedure or the percentage of total products
sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and health reasons.
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At operation level, senior officers are assigned to supervise the
daily operation to ensure compliance with the Group’s internal
policies and risk control management requirements. If the Group
is aware of any fraudulent or non-compliance cases including but
not limited to fraudulent GoFintech corporate website, mobile
apps and WeChat group that could lead to fraud or any loss
of the Group’s customers, the Group will report immediately to
the Hong Kong Police and police authorities in Mainland China,
and file a brief with relevant regulators if feasible. Meanwhile,
the Group will make public announcement through external
engagement channels exposing such fraudulent acts in order to
protect its reputation and the interest of customers.

CUSTOMER SERVICES

GoFintech aspires to provide the best customer experience
as it can in product variety, product quality and customer
communications. The Group believes in providing quality advice
and insights to customers and has established a dedicated team
of professionals with diverse experience and in-depth knowledge
of its services. They offer valuable counsel to customers across
the Group’s major service offerings.

The Group’s customer service quality assurance measure is
guided by the principle of transparency. The role of quality
reviewers has been established many years ago with the
designated duty of overseeing the process of customer service,
including assessing service quality through telephone tapes on
sample check basis.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

In addition, the Group actively seeks customer feedback on a
regular basis and closes gaps where possible, as it believes
feedback is a valuable mechanism for building a stronger
customer-oriented corporate culture. Complaints Handling
Procedure is one of the internal policies, providing detailed
processes to follow when dealing with customers’ complaints. A
variety of customer communication channels were set up, such
as telephone hotline and dedicated email address. Both are made
prominently on the client statements to ensure customers are
aware of those channels for their opinions. Once a complaint has
been received, the Group will investigate the received complaint
competently, diligently and impartially, and also offer appropriate
redress or remedial action accordingly. During the complaint
investigation, the client will be kept informed of the investigation
progress as appropriate. During the Reporting Year, the Group
have not received any material complaints (2023: 0 complaint).

The Right People
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CUSTOMER PRIVACY PROTECTION AND
CYBER SECURITY

Customer’s data privacy is handled with utmost care at GoFintech
and is the most important commitment the Group has made to its
clients. The Group had developed Privacy Policy to comply with
the applicable data protection laws and regulations, including but
not limited to Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance of Hong Kong. It
also ensures that appropriate technical measures are put in place
to protect the personal data against any unauthorised use or
access.

The Group has established a system whereby all data is
categorised, while authorisation on usage, filing, editing and
access are clearly defined. In principle, staff only access client
personal data on a need-to-know basis when opening and
maintaining client’s account. The head of legal department is also
the Group’s Information Security Officer with the responsibility to
ensure the relevance and the enforcement of the Privacy Policy.

During the pandemic, extra network security measures were taken
when some of the Group’s employees had to work from home. It
covered remote access policy and procedures upgrade, intrusion
detection systems and monitoring, virus and malware protection,
vulnerability management, incident response planning, and patch
management. While the pandemic has eased off, the relevant
measures were still taken whenever applicable.

During the Reporting Year, the Group was not aware of any
received complaints in relation to breaches of customer privacy,
losses or misuse of client’s data. The Group will review its data
protection measures regularly to ensure its effectiveness.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS AND
RESPONSIBLE MARKETING

GoFintech treasures the trust that its clients put into its advice
and service, and the Group has never taken it for granted. The
Group appreciates that ample competition helps improve the
quality of product and service and benefits customers at large.
Therefore, the Group advocates for fair competition and follows
best practice in product and service marketing activities. As
a company providing financial services, the Group does not
consider advertising and labelling as a material ESG issue for it. In
the Group’s dealings with its clients, information provided should
be complete, true, accurate, clear, and comply with all relevant
laws and regulations regarding the proper advertising, including
but not limited to Trade Descriptions Ordinance of Hong Kong.

The Group respects the intellectual property rights and strives to
protect intellectual property rights of its own. On the other hand,
the Group equally respects the intellectual property rights of the
others. All software installed by the Group are purchased through
legitimate sources. During the Reporting Year, the Group was not
aware of any cases of infringement of intellectual property rights.

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

As a financial service provider, the Group’s suppliers are mainly
general office supplies providers. In order to provide a fair
assessment of suppliers’ selection, the Group has adopted
relevant policies and evaluated needed services based on
a combination of capability, efficiency, competitiveness and
reputation of the suppliers before entering into the contractual
agreements. If any inconsistency is found between the Group’s
requirements and their act, the Group will suspend the

cooperation until improvement is made.

During the Reporting Year, the Group has engaged a total of 16
major suppliers (2023: 14), all of which have gone through the

aforementioned procurement practices of the Group.
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The number of major suppliers by geographical region is as
follows.

RSO ETBHERHBELT -

2024 2023
By Geographical Region % it = &l 5 —EC_MEE —EZ=FE
Hong Kong BB 10 9
Mainland China B 1A #h 4 3
The United States EH 1 1
The United Kingdom R 1 1

In view of green supply chain management, the Group strives
to engage suppliers who incorporate the consideration
of environmental and social risks into their supply chain
management. The Group periodically evaluates and monitors
the performance of its suppliers to ensure their compliance with
laws and regulations relating to environmental and social policies,
service standards, contract conditions and quality provisions.
Any non-compliance with relevant environmental and social laws
and regulations discovered by the designated personnel from the
Group will be promptly reported to the management. Corrective
action plan will be carried out to remediate the identified risk in
a timely manner. The supplier who continuously fails to meet the
Group’s requirement could be subject to termination of supplier
contract.

The Group attaches importance to the environmental impacts of
the purchased goods and services. More environmentally friendly
products or services should be procured by the Group when
it is feasible, to minimise negative impacts on the environment
and human health, and conserve natural resources. The Group
will provide the necessary guidance to its suppliers and service
providers on how to implement good environmental and social
practices throughout the supply chain engagement process.

The Group will review the above measures regularly to ensure its
effectiveness.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

BUSINESS ETHICS AND PRACTICE

The Group advocates an operating environment of fairness and
a corporate culture of integrity and honesty. Employees, senior
management and directors are guided with the Group’s principles
of business ethics and integrity.

ANTI/-CORRUPTION AND ANTI-FRAUD

GoFintech has zero tolerance towards any form of corruption,
bribery, forgery, extortion, conspiracy, embezzlement and
collusion. Anti-corruption policies and procedures are crystalised
in both Code of Conduct and Employee Handbook to drive both
mind-set and behavioural change. Head of Compliance and Risk
Management Department leads all related work streams from
policy setting to enforcement.

All employees are required to act in full compliance with all anti-
corruption related internal policies, laws and regulations, including
but not limited to Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong
and the Company Law and Criminal Law of the People’s Republic
of China. Anti-corruption training is mandatory for all employees
including the directors. The Group promised to provide internal
and external anti-corruption and corporate governance training
and related training materials for its employees and directors
annually. During the Reporting Year, the Group has provided anti-
corruption training materials for all directors and employees for
their self-study. In addition, 1 director (of a subsidiary of the
Group) and 9 employees have attended 2 Continuous Professional
Training (“CPT”) courses of 1.5 hours and 1 hour respectively,
covering topics on anti-money laundering as well as potential
changes in ESG frameworks and anti-corruption.

The Group’s operation policy requires:

1. No confidential commercial information of the Group shall
be disclosed, discussed and shared with third parties for
personal interest.

2. All employees are prohibited to give and accept personal,
commercial, regulatory or contractual advantage, by using
the excuse of work or the authority granted from the Group.

3. If any misconducts are found and proven, the Group will
apply disciplinary actions in accordance with set policies.
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AML AND CTF

GoFintech has taken AML and CTF as one of the most imperative
compliance requirements. The Group has established AML and
CTF Policy and Prevention of Bribery and Conflict of Interest
Handling Guideline with updates on a compliance tool used by
the Group during the Reporting Year to ensure that all business
operations comply with relevant laws and regulations. The Group
also formulated relevant policies and measures including customer
acceptance policies, customer due diligence process, ongoing
monitoring, and customer and transaction record keeping to
prevent any breaches throughout the transaction.

The Group also regularly conducts internal training relating to AML
and CTF procedure and recent updates on relevant regulation
and other topics related to licensed regulated activities. The
compliance training provided up-to-date information regarding
to AML and CTF, including but not limited to the regulatory
framework, stakeholders’ roles and responsibilities, procedure
and importance of conducting customer due diligence, and the
transaction monitoring system. By doing so, the Group ensures
its employees are equipped with sufficient knowledge and
awareness, regarding to AML and CTF, therefore, minimising the
risk of relevant breaches.

WHISTLEBLOWING MECHANISM

GoFintech formulated a whistleblowing system for employees and
external parties to report any suspected irregularities or doubts
on misconduct. Such report will be raised to the Group by post
or email in confidence and anonymity. Upon receiving the report,
the Group will conduct the investigation in a fair and impartial way
for every reporting. If there is any evidence of illegal conduct or
breach of laws and regulations, it shall be referred to the relevant
public or regulatory bodies such as the Hong Kong Police Force,
the Independent Commission against Corruption, the Securities
and Futures Commission, or relevant regulatory body. Disciplinary
actions would be adopted once the guilty or misconduct is
proven. The Group is committed to protecting the identity of
whistleblowers and retaliation against them. Related practices are
reviewed regularly to ensure their effectiveness.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

During the Reporting Year, there were no concluded legal cases
regarding corruptive practices brought against the Group or its
employees, and no reports were received through the Group’s
whistleblowing channels. Also, the Group has not identified any
material non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations in
Hong Kong and Mainland China including but not limited to
Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Company
Law of the People’s Republic of China and Criminal Law of the
People’s Republic of China.

EMPLOYMENT
THE GROUP’S TALENT POLICY

Talents have long been recognised as one of the major
competitive strengths in financial industry, and GoFintech has
continued its investment to attract and retain talents. The Group
has established the Employee Handbook which build a holistic and
harmony system for employment practice, covering compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other

benefits and welfare.

The Group is committed to promoting equal opportunities
and diversity in recruitment. The Group’s hiring, appraisal and
promotion policies are merit-based regardless of individual’s
gender orientation, racial background, age, religion, marital status
and so on, and relevant processes are clear and transparent.

During the Reporting Year, the Group has not identified any
material non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
including but not limited to Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong,
Minimum Wage Ordinance of Hong Kong, Bill of Rights Ordinance
of Hong Kong, Sex Discrimination Ordinance of Hong Kong,
Disability Discrimination Ordinance of Hong Kong, Family Status
Discrimination Ordinance and Race Discrimination Ordinance of
Hong Kong, Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance of Hong
Kong, Employees’ Compensation Ordinance of Hong Kong, the
Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China and the Labour
Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China that would have a
significant impact on the Group.
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The Group recognises its employees’ qualifications, experiences
and work performances by offering attractive remuneration
packages. In order to retain talents, remuneration packages are
reviewed annually and bonuses are paid each year, according to
the work performance, seniority and contribution to the Group, to
recognise employees’ hard work throughout the year.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group has a total of 67 employees (as
at 31 March 2023: 55). The workforce distributions by gender, age
group, employment type and geographical region are as follows:

AEBRBEARS DNFMETEELSY
BREERE KRAIHEXRBANRF -BHE
EAT AEEEFRIFHGTE LR
BEIERR BEERHASENERER
TEAAKXRTRE—FRNE N -

R-ZZE-_WNE=ZA=+—H0 AEEHE
FTRETI(M-_TE-_=€=A=+—8:
554) MR- FEAAR BB EAE Rit
BEESNETIHHIBRIT

As at 31 March

R=A=+—H
Categories Al 2024 2023
—F_NF —F=

By Gender &% B8l 2

Male S 38 34
Female 7 29 21
By Age Group EERARE 5

Under 31 31T 10 8
31-40 318 2 408% 31 21
41-50 4178 £505% 15 16
Over 50 B B505% 11 10
By Employment Type RERERES

Full-time £ 64 55
Part-time i 3 =
By Geographical Region % ith & 8l 5

Hong Kong BB 59 50
Mainland China AR A 8 5

The promotion of employees depends on their performances,
working ability, intrinsic potential, and the needs of the Group’s
entities. The basis and process for management to determine
promotion, transfer and demotion of employees are clearly defined
to protect the interest of both the employees and the Group. Only
with the appropriate approval, the relevant actions can be carried
out.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

Employment termination of employees are arranged in accordance
with relevant laws and regulations. Unreasonable dismissal under
any circumstances is strictly prohibited, dismissal will be based
on appropriate and lawful grounds supported by internal policies
of the Group. During the Reporting Year, the Group’s overall
turnover rate was approximately 32.79%' (2023: approximately
59.68%). The employee turnover rate by gender, age group, and
geographical region was as follows:

R -#HekER/%E (&)

BEINEBRIEZEEAEKBREBERRE
R AKEREEEMIBERTEIEHRERE
BT fMEVEAKBREBRANIBREMX
ROEE RS EBERET RAREFE -
AEENERBEEMRAERLS2.79%' (=
T ZFE 459.68%) c IR MBI - F 4
kRIS EERIEMT

2024 2023
Turnover Rate? k&2 —EC_MEE =ER e =
By Gender &R 8 o
Male 5 30.56% 47.22%
Female z 36.00% 76.92%
By Age Group RERAR &2
Under 31 31BIAT 22.22% 91.67%
31-40 315% 2405% 42.31% 50.98%
41-50 4155 2 505% 19.35% 50.00%
Over 50 8 8505% 38.10% 57.14%
By Geographical Region b EE 5
Hong Kong BB 36.70% 60.71%
Mainland China B A #h - 50.00%
Note(s): B 7E
1. The overall employee turnover rate is calculated by dividing the 1. EBEXAETAXRIRVRFEE VBB E

number of employees leaving employment during the financial year
by the average number of employees at the beginning and the end
of the financial year, and multiplying by 100%.

2. The employee turnover rate by category is calculated by dividing the
number of employees leaving employment in the specific category
during the financial year by the average number of employees at the
beginning and the end of the financial year in the specific category,
and multiplying by 100%.

BABBRUNTBRFEFIRFRANTEY
EE A8 BFEA100% T HE -

2. BEINEERAXEEUBRFEEANE
THEANBEBREE ABKRUVERFESF
MEFRFEEENNFEHHRERBEAS B
FLA100% 5T & -
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STAFF BENEFIT AND WELL-BEING

The Group has formulated policies in determining the working
hours and rest periods for employees following local employment
laws and regulations. In addition to the statutory benefits, such as
paid annual leave, maternity leave, paid sick leave and marriage
leave, the Group continues to offer employees with casual Fridays,
festival gifts, training subsidy, qualification allowance, travel and
overtime allowance. Qualified members were also offered with
housing allowance under the Group’s Staff Residential Rental
Subsidy program.

The Group offers a variety of communications means with the
staff, for instance, weekly all-staff-meeting and management
meeting. In additional, the Group’s Townhall Meeting is held
regularly. All these channels effectively cascade the Group's
policies and principles throughout the organisation.

DIVERSITY, EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES AND
ANTI-DISCRIMINATION

To maintain an embracing and collaborative workplace culture, the
Group provides equal opportunities in all aspects of employment
and ensures the workplace is free from discrimination, physical or
verbal harassment against any individual because of race, religion,
colour, gender, physical or mental capability, age, place of origin,
marital status, and sexual orientation. The Group also strives
to ensure that complaints, afflictions and concerns, including
whistleblowing, are dealt with promptly and confidentially. The
Group has zero tolerance for sexual harassment or abuse in the
workplace in any form.

EMPLOYEES' HEALTH AND SAFETY

Due to the office-based operation, the Group does not involve
significant safety risks. Nevertheless, the Group does not overlook
the responsibility to safeguard employees’ health and safety.
The Group has formulated various management requirements in
accordance with relevant occupational health and safety laws
and regulations. The relevant health and safety measures and
response plans are clearly stated in the Employee Handbook.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

Acknowledging the relatively longer time spent in front of
computers as the reality of financial industry practitioners, the
Group has provided protective equipment and furniture, such as
ergonomic chairs and lightings, to help relieve body stiffness and
eye stress. Regular breaks during the day with desk-side stretch
exercise have always been encouraged. The management team
will continue to seek feedback from the staff on the support
needed from the Group so that the staff can be more focused and
well-motivated to deliver first-class service to customers.

The COVID-19 pandemic began to ease off during the Reporting
Year. Nevertheless, the Group adhered to placing the health and
safety of employees as its top priority, therefore the relevant
precautionary measures remained the same as the previous years.

The Group provided highly sought-after protective measures
for staff, such as face masks and sanitising packages, through
its overseas network. The Group also made flexible work
arrangements including home office for its staff on the basis of no
compromise on customer service quality.

Sanitising measures were put in place in offices when employees
returned to work. Employees’ body temperatures were also taken
regularly, and the Group issued a policy to arrange employees to
go for immediate medical treatment should their body temperature
exceed 37.3C at the Group’s expense where necessary. The
Group will review the relevant measures regularly to ensure their
effectiveness.

During the Reporting Year, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with health and safety-related laws
and regulations, including but not limited to Occupational Safety
and Health Ordinance of Hong Kong, Employees Compensation
Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
the Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases that would
have a significant impact on the Group. In the past three years
(including the Reporting Year), the Group did not record any cases
of work-related fatalities. In addition, the Group did not record
any work-related injuries nor losses in working days due to work-
related injuries during the Reporting Year (2023: Nil).
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EMPLOYEES  DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

The level of professionalism of GoFintech’'s team is its building
block. The Group holds that principle and enables continued
professional training of staff as such that they will play to their
strength and deliver high-quality performance. The Group
encourages staff to participate in external seminars and industrial
events to keep abreast of industry challenges and best practices,
at the same time, the Group offers internal trainings in areas of
legal, compliance, business ethics and other licensed regulated
activities. The Group also offers subsidies on external training
programs, license fees and qualification allowance.

To ensure employees’ professionalism and the service quality
provided, the Group regularly conducts internal trainings
relating to AML and CTF procedure, recent updates on relevant
regulations and other topics related to licensed regulated
activities. The Group also provides cyber security training to its
employees, in order to prevent any relevant incident leading to
customers’ or the Group’s loss or threat. Employees were taught
to conduct the best practice and the procedure of timely response
in case of any breaches.

During the Reporting Year, the Group recorded approximately
26.44%° (2023: approximately 34.78%) of trained employee, with
an average of approximately 3.04* (2023: approximately 3.46)
training hours per employee.

Percentage of Trained Employee®
ZilEER DS

B %R RIE5|

BEaHNEAEEEBENERKF K
SEFRAWRA HEHE THETHEEE
I EREREESEN BRSEEN
KPR AEEBE T2 MINBHATE R
ENES UTHEARBEKEEM
Rk NREER{EIZ AR AXER
REMAFAZRE RS T @A EE -
AEBIINEIZDRE  FEREA R E
R AL R R o

REREENEXEUENFAREHENREE
ZAEEEHERAMEI ABTF R
ks M RZEE R R IGRGI T
FHMEAFAUIAERHAENEM T
B AKBENMRETREBBRZ 25
FEMLELENERBETAAREEXE
RIBENEBEEH - BT NESRER
RANBLEERBRABHOEERERYRERF
FEREREEE-

RAREFEE AEBITINEE ARY
1526.44%2 (ZE = F[F : £934.78% ) -
BLZREEB M FHEIIEELN B3.044(ZF
T ZFE #4)3.46) o

Average Training Hours® (hours)

34558 5l 5 e (/0 B )

2024 2023 2024 2023
Categories gl —E_NEE —ECCFE “E-NEE “E-CHE
By Gender BERIE S
Male 2 28.57% 35.29% 3.17 4.04
Female 7 23.68% 34.15% 2.87 2.74
By Employee Category REBERES
Management EBAB 29.17% 48.00% 3.03 6.34
General staff —RETL 25.40% 29.85% 3.04 2.39
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Breakdown of Trained

Employee’

ZiEED 7

2024 2023
Categories Al —E_MEE T ZFE
By Gender &1 B8l o
Male 2 60.87% 56.25%
Female Z 39.13% 43.75%
By Employee Category REEBERE S
Management BEABR 30.43% 37.50%
General staff —REL 69.57% 62.50%

Note(s):

The percentage of trained employee is calculated by dividing
the total number of employees who took part in training during
the financial year by the total number of employees, covering
the employees as at the end of the financial year and resigned
employees during the financial year, and multiplying by 100%.

The average training hours per employee is calculated by dividing
the total training hours during the financial year by the total number
of employees, covering the employees as at the end of the financial
year and resigned employees during the financial year.

The percentage of trained employees by category is calculated by
dividing the number of employees in the specified category who
took part in training during the financial year by the total number
of employees in the specified category, covering the employees as
at the end of the financial year and resigned employees during the
financial year, and multiplying by 100%.

The average training hours by category is calculated by dividing
the total number of training hours for employees in the specified
category during the financial year by the number of employees in
the specified category, covering the employees as at the end of the
financial year and resigned employees during the financial year.

The breakdown of trained employee by category is calculated by
dividing the number of employees in the specified category who
took part in training during the financial year by the total number of
employees who took part in training during the financial year, and
multiplying by 100%.
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ENVIRONMENTAL SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

LABOUR STANDARDS
Prevention of Child and Forced Labour

In strict compliance with relevant local labour laws and
regulations, the Group prohibits to hire child labour and requires
verifying the age of applicants during the recruitment process.
The Group strictly follows the internal policies, in which all staffs
are required to sign employment contract before employment to
safeguard legal rights of both parties. Furthermore, employees
of the Group work overtime on a voluntary basis to prevent any
breaches of labour standards. Any punishments, management
methods and behaviours involving verbal abuse, physical
punishment, physical abuse, oppression, sexual harassment
against its employees are prohibited for any reasons. The Group
also conducts regular reviews and inspections to prevent any child
labour or forced labour in operation. If the case of child labour
is found, it will be dealt with in the light of the circumstances,
including terminating the employment contracts of the child labour
and reporting to legal authorities. For the case of forced labour,
the Group will terminate the employment contracts of the staff
who is responsible for the cause of the case. The measures will

be reviewed regularly to ensure their effectiveness.

During the Reporting Year, the Group has not identified any
material non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
relating to child and forced labour, including but are not limited to
Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong and the Labour Law of the
People’s Republic of China that would have a significant impact
on the Group.

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

The Group’s business itself does not create a significant
direct impact on or engagement with the community in neither
environmental nor social aspects. However, the Group believes
that contribution to social causes and development of local
communities is part of its corporate social responsibility. It has
upheld the principle of corporate social responsibility throughout
its operations and implemented policy to maintain its community
investment.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

During the Reporting Year, the Group has devoted significant
resources to maintain its business operations in light of pandemic
recovery and suspended its philanthropic activities. The Group
will focus more on social participation and community investment,
especially related to labour needs and health, and continue to
encourage the employees to actively participate in charitable
activities and voluntary services coordinated by non-profit
organisations. The Group believes that promoting the awareness
of corporate social responsibilities among staffs would not
just help the society and business in general, but more about
their personal growth. The Group welcomes opportunities of
sponsorship or partnership for charity events, and organising
volunteer work to support vulnerable groups in Hong Kong.

ENVIRONMENTAL

The Group is committed to building an environmentally friendly
corporation image. It pursues to minimise resource consumption
and adopts environmentally friendly practices across the business
with the relevant environmental protection policies set for the
Group’s business operations. The Group provides financial
products and services to a wide range of corporate clients and
individual customers. For the Group’s staff to carry out daily work,
the Group rents office spaces which have been furnished with
office equipment. The Group uses electricity, water and waste
management services provided by the leased premises. Due to
the office-based business nature, the Group’s daily operation has
limited environmental impact.

However, the Group proactively implements emissions reduction
and energy conservation measures to achieve efficient use of
resources, enhancing its sustainability development. Various
initiatives have been implemented throughout its operations such
as minimising the use of paper and reducing water consumption.
Through active monitoring and managing the use of resources, the
Group aims to reduce its carbon footprints as well as its operating

cost.
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ENVIRONMENTAL SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

During the Reporting Year, the Group has not identified any
material non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
relating to air and GHG emissions, discharges into water and
land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste that
would have a significant impact on the Group. The relevant laws
and regulations include, but are not limited to Air Pollution Control
Ordinance of Hong Kong, Waste Disposal Ordinance of Hong
Kong, the Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic
of China, the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste.

CLIMATE CHANGE MITIGATION AND
ADAPTATION

The Group recognise that climate change has been affecting its
business operations and the Group is exposed to both physical
and transition risks. The Group’s primary responsibility is to
implement environmental policies to reduce its GHG emissions
and the environmental footprint as a whole by ensuring that its
assets and operations are prepared to withstand, or respond
to, expected climate impacts. The Group has initiated a climate
change assessment under the Task Force on Climate-related
Financial Disclosures (“TCFD”) framework to identify and
mitigate the potential climate-related risks that may arise from its
business operations. These risks mainly stem from the following
dimensions:

Physical Risks

Climate change leads to the increase of extreme weather events,
such as typhoons, storms and heavy rainfall. These events may
potentially disrupt the daily operations of the Group by causing
damages to power grid and communication infrastructure.
Additionally, they can impede employees’ ability to work or
commute, leading to injuries. Consequently, the Group may
experience partial halt or even permanent cessation of business
operations, which expose the Group to risks associated with
reduced revenue and higher operational costs from negative

impacts on workforce.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

To better manage the above physical risks, the Group has
formulated emergency plan which is reviewed regularly to
response such events, including procedures to approach typhoons
and black rainstorms. The relevant procedures and measures are
outlined in the Employee Handbook. When it is anticipated that
extreme weather events will happen, the senior management will
react according to the plans and timely communicate with the
employees about the work arrangements to ensure staff safety
and operational continuity.

Transition Risks

The Group anticipates that there will be more stringent climate
legislations and regulations to support the global vision of
carbon neutrality. From a listed company’s perspective, the
Group acknowledges the stricter requirements of climate-
related disclosures. One example is the update of the Stock
Exchange’s ESG Reporting Guide in respect of disclosures
regarding significant climate-related impact on an issuer. The
Group’s business operations may be materially and adversely
affected under the stricter environmental laws and regulations if it
fails to comply with the laws and regulations as applicable to its
businesses from time to time. Negative publicity may also arise
due to failure to meet the compliance requirements for climate
change. The Group’s related capital investment and compliance
costs thus increase.

In response to the policy and legal risks as well as the reputation
risks, the Group regularly monitors existing and emerging trends,
policies and regulations relevant to climate and be prepared
to alert the top management where necessary to avoid cost
increments, non-compliance fines or reputational risks due to
delayed response.
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GHG EMISSIONS AND AIR EMISSIONS

The major sources of the Group’s GHG emissions are direct
GHG emissions (Scope 1) from petrol consumed by company-
owned vehicles, energy indirect GHG emissions (Scope 2)
from purchased electricity consumption in offices, and other
indirect GHG emissions (Scope 3) from paper waste disposed
at landfill and employees’ air business travels. To minimise the
environmental impacts of GHG emissions from the Group’s
business operations, the Group has set a target to reduce its
GHG emissions intensity (tCO,e/employee) by the financial year
ending 31 March 2026 (“2026”), using 2022 as the baseline year
(2022: 1.03 tCO e/employee). To achieve the target, the Group
has taken the following measures to minimise the GHG emissions
from its business operations:

° Choose the shortest route when vehicles are travelling
between the Group’s operating locations and destinations to
reduce consumption of fuel;

o Turn off engines for idling vehicles;

. Conduct regular vehicle maintenance to ensure efficient use
of fuel; and

° Encourage employees to hold video conference call.

The Group has implemented policies including vehicle
management methods to manage the air and GHG emissions from
its operations. Meanwhile, the Group seeks to educate its staff
members to increase the office environmental awareness. Besides,
the Group has actively adopted energy conservation measures
which are described in the section headed “Energy Consumption”
under aspect “Environmental”.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

During the Reporting Year, the Group’s total GHG emissions
intensity was approximately 2.75 tCO,e/employee, which has
increased by approximately 167.00% compared to 1.03 tCO,e/
employee in 2022. The increase was due to the full resumption
of normal travel between Hong Kong and Mainland China, and
thus the travelling in Mainland China was also included in the
calculation. Since this situation is expected to persist in the
upcoming years, the Group has made the decision to revise the
target baseline to 2024. The Group will continue to monitor its
GHG emissions and implement relevant measures, reduce its GHG
emissions intensity progressively and aim to achieve the target of
reducing GHG emission intensity by 2026.

The Group’s GHG emissions performance was as follows:

I‘%iﬁ‘?‘ig& ﬁﬂ:(nﬁ)

RABREFE AEENEREREBHEK
BEABLZEBH2 75 _ELiIkE 2
BRI —FENSEEBN1.03 A
b & & EF#9167.00% Ex B ABEB
HPEA s MEEREESHRB B
PERH AT RZBIGTELEARN - ARTE
Eﬁéﬁ/l%iﬁ&fﬁ%%%i%ﬁ =¥ RN
AEMERELEBR BT _NFE R
‘ilﬁ“l%_iizéi/ﬁlJﬁm&Iﬁﬁfwﬁﬂz| AP
EAEERE ZPRDERE REHER
QE'?Jﬂmgszf/@£EHUiﬁﬁVDm
ERBEREENE R

AEERERBHERRRMOT

GHG Emissions® Unit 2024 2023 2022
BERBEHH By “ENFE ZT-=FE e a3
Scope 1 - Company-owned vehicles tCOe 150.33 15.43 17.24
#HE1 -ARIEEAE B_EiKEE

Direct GHG emissions tCOe 150.33 15.43 17.24
EEREREYNE B_ERES

Scope 2 - Purchased electricity tCO e 24.15 26.42 28.84
HE2 —IEEN —EtiRES

Scope 3 - Paper waste disposed at landfill and air tCOe

business travel 9.78 11.11 24.67
HE - HEERARERMERBER M-S REE

Indirect GHG emissions tCO.e 33.93 37.53 53.51
MEAZEREENE M-_ELthEE

Total GHG emissions - Scope 1,2 and 3 tCO.e 184.26 52.96 70.75
BERBEHHAE-&E - 2K3 M-_ELtREE

Total GHG emissions intensity® tCO,e/employee 2.75 0.96 1.03

BERBHEHEE® W_EtREE &S

BERHBRLAF —B-NFEFRH
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ENVIRONMENTAL SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

REBE HERE

AWE (&)

Note(s):

8.

GHG emissions data is presented in terms of carbon dioxide
equivalent and are based on, including but not limited to, “The
Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate Accounting and Reporting
Standards” issued by the World Resources Institute and the World
Business Council for Sustainable Development, “How to prepare an
ESG Report — Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental
KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange, “Global Warming Potential
Values” from the Sixth Assessment Report (AR6) of the United
Nation Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, and the “2023
Sustainability Report” published by the HK Electric Investment.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had a total of 67 (as at 31 March
2023: 55; as at 31 March 2022: 69) employees. These data are also
used for calculating other intensity data.

The major source of the Group’s air emissions is company-owned
vehicles. The Group has adopted various vehicle control measures
to minimise the pollutants emitted during its business operation
that are described above in this section.

During the Reporting Year, the Group’s total air emissions
increased compared to 2022 due to the full resumption of normal
travel between Hong Kong and Mainland China, and thus the
travelling in Mainland China was also included in the calculation.

G

8. BAERBHEMHBBA-_SLRIEENE
X2 HER(BEETRRERE
BRI AERAIFEERIFESS
BHM CAERBREZTE - DESH
MEREZE) BRATEMH (A RE
REB-HERERARS MR- RIEMH
REBFUSZERES) BRNEREZ L
HMZ 8 ERMMENRTEHHRS (ARG)
B (EHRELBREE) REEENRE
TR C2023F A HEFHRMRE) -

9. RIZE-_ME=/F=+—H AEFEAH
BerR (R-_E-_=F=A=+—H:55
H R _E-_—_F=ZA=+—H:69%)
BB - ZS5HE ARG E At E 8% -

AEEBEREBRNEIERRARAEBESR
iﬁﬁ ZIKEIE?%HX%IEEETW%H R

BERLAMEXHARHZLERRE
EP%JFEAZE’JE r) o

RABREFE AEBNEIERBER
TR FHEMEN ERANREBHESP
A2 EREETRE  PEAHAR
AXBNFETERN - NEEHEERPEHRE

The Group’s air emissions performance was as follows: W

Air Emissions® Unit 2024 2023 2022
BRER By “E_NFE ZZ-=FE i
Nitrogen Oxides (NOx) g 37,870.21 3,899.94 4,358.18
AEL(NOX) 7

Sulphur Oxides (SOx) g 828.05 85.27 95.29
m.%ﬂﬁ% SOx) =

Particulate Matter (PM) g 2,788.30 287.14 320.88
BOFRLT(PM) =)

Note(s): 5T -

10. The calculation method of air emissions and the related emission 10. BERBEMMETE A EZRMBEBEERRET)

factors were based on, including but not limited to, “How to Prepare
an ESG Report — Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental
KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

SEWAGE DISCHARGE

Due to the Group’s minimal water consumption in its daily
operation, there were no significant water discharges during
the Reporting Year. Moreover, the management office of the
building exclusively handles water supply and discharge, making
it impractical to provide water withdrawal and discharge data or
sub-metering specifically for the Group as an individual occupant.
More water conservation measures are described in the section
headed “Water Consumption” under aspect “Environmental”.

WASTE MANAGEMENT
Hazardous Waste

In view of the Group’s business nature, the Group did not
generate a material amount of hazardous waste during the
Reporting Year. Where it is required to handle hazardous waste,
the Group will independently store and transport the hazardous
waste to third-party professionals for safe and legal processing.

Non-hazardous Waste

The non-hazardous waste generated by the Group is mainly office
paper from daily business operations. During 2023, the Group
has set target to maintain the total non-hazardous waste disposal
intensity (tonnes/employee) at the level of 0.02 tonnes/employee
for 2024. To achieve the target, the Group has taken various
measures to minimise the environmental impact and promote
“green office” concept. In particular, the Group promotes “think
before you print” attitude in order to encourage paperless offices
by facilitating the use of electronic means for communication such
as intranet, email, internal workflow system to reduce printing and
paper copies. Moreover, the reduction measures for other kinds of
wastes include:

° Set up recycling bins to collect recyclable products; and

° Encourage employees to reduce the use of one-off products.

R -#HekER/%E (&)

JTIKBE

HRAKEERREZETRKERD R
AfEFEWEKNE TR LI #
IKRFKEGHYEERRE & Bt K
5 B 1F = (8 B FH P O 52 4t B 88 /Y BUK
RBEKBIBER D EREH - E L HKEEH
RIRE|BEABOH [KIRBFRE] —&-
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BIRHBIE -

BERY

AEEELANEZTENIZRAEER
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BEBO.02HEMKF - BERZBZE A%
BEeRRZERERARYRENZEY
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ENVIRONMENTAL SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

During the Reporting Year, the Group’s total non-hazardous waste
disposal intensity was approximately 0.02 tonnes/employee,
which was at a similar level of 2023 (0.02 tonnes/employee),
staying at a low level. The Group has achieved the target of the
total non-hazardous waste disposal intensity it set in 2023. The
Group will continue to monitor the amount of non-hazardous
waste it generated and implement relevant measures, reduce its
non-hazardous waste intensity progressively. For the year ending
31 March 2025 (“2025”), the Group aims to achieve the target of
maintaining the total non-hazardous waste disposal intensity at

the level similar to 2024.

The Group’s waste disposal performance was as follows:

RABREFE AEEREEREYEER
ERHNBEEB0RE BT _=FF
(0.02M1, "B E)MIKFHE HGHEFER
KFP-AEFBDEREAR T _=FER
ENRBEEEMEERE IR -AKE K
BEEREELNEETEYBEL EEA
AEE ZPREEETEYEE YR
BE_Z_RAF=A=+t—HLFE((=
ZHFE]) AKENEEERAES
BYERETEARER_T_MEER
EHIKF o

AEEHNENEERRNOT

Non-hazardous Waste Unit 2024 2023 2022
BEEN Efu “E-NEE _—T_=FE “ECCFRE
Office paper tonnes 1.03 0.99 1.35
WRERK I

Total non-hazardous waste disposal tonnes 1.03 0.99 1.35
BERNREAS W

Total non-hazardous waste disposal intensity tonnes/employee 0.02 0.02 0.02

REERNRERE
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

ENERGY CONSUMPTION

The major sources of the Group’s energy consumption were
direct energy consumption from petrol consumed by company-
owned vehicles and indirect energy consumption from purchased
electricity used in the offices. To minimise the environmental
impacts of energy consumption from the Group’s business
operations, the Group has set target to reduce the total energy
consumption intensity (kWh/employee) by 2026, using 2022 as
the baseline year (2022: 1,499.24 kWh/employee). To achieve
the target, the Group has implemented company-owned vehicles
management methods as described in the section headed “GHG
Emissions and Air Emissions” to reduce its energy consumption
by company-owned vehicles. In addition, the Group encourages
employees to establish energy-saving habits at offices and has
also implemented various energy-saving measures including:

° Replace lighting control system with light emitting diode
(‘LED”) bulbs;

° Maintain indoor temperature at 25.5C;

° Conduct regular maintenance to avoid excessive electricity
usage;

° Use electronic devices in energy-saving mode where
possible;

o Lower the brightness of the monitor screen;
° Switch off the monitors during lunch hours; and

° Turn off the light when leaving the offices.

R -#HekER/%E (&)
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ENVIRONMENTAL SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

During the Reporting Year, the Group’s total energy consumption
intensity was approximately 8,694.14 kWh/employee, which
has increased by approximately 402.93% from 1,728.70 kWh/
employee in 2023. The main reason of the increase of total energy
consumption intensity was the increase in vehicle consumption
as described in the paragraph headed “GHG Emissions and Air
Emissions” above. This has made it challenging to achieve the
target using the 2022 baseline. Since this situation is expected to
persist in the upcoming years, the Group has made the decision
to revise the target baseline to 2024. The Group will continue to
monitor its energy consumption and implement relevant measures,
reduce its energy consumption intensity progressively and aim
to achieve the target of reducing the total energy consumption
intensity by 2026.

The Group’s energy consumption performance was as follows:

RAREFE AEEBNEERERER
EHBE4EESMI4TRE K _-F
—:Emi%ﬁ§1mgm¥HﬁWMU
402.93% - BELRBREZEE NN EZR
I%tzﬂm*ﬁ%ﬁW&E%#mk—
AT BRI M- EEE A
T _FEREENBEZHEUER -BHR
B EEBERERREFNERE A%
ErAEHEREEERAE_S_NFE-
KEB 1 iz BERREREREBRLE®
HEEE ZETREEERERERE  F
BER-_Z-_"FAEREEBERE
HREMNEZ-

REBOBEERBRRBENT

Types of Energy" Unit 2024 2023 2022
RERER Efu “E-NEE _—T_=FE “E-CFR
Direct energy consumption - Petrol kWh 545,914.20 56,218.50 62,824.23
EfERERE - FRH

Indirect energy consumption — Purchased electricity kWh 36,593.00 38,860.00 40,623.00
AEERERE-INEE N TRE

Total energy consumption kWh 582,507.20 95,078.50 103,447.23
BERHERE TRE

Total energy consumption intensity kWh/employee 8,694.14 1,728.70 1,499.24
REREERE TER/EE

Note(s): B 3T

11.  The unit conversion method of energy consumption data is
formulated based on the Energy Statistics Manual issued by
International Energy Agency.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

WATER CONSUMPTION

As the Group operates in office premises of which both the water
supply and discharge are solely controlled by the building’s
management office, there is no issue in sourcing water that is
fit for purpose. The provision of water withdrawal and discharge
data or sub-meter for the Group as an individual occupant is
not available, therefore target setting for water efficiency is not
applicable. The Group’s water consumption is minimal. Yet, the
Group promotes water-saving practices in the workplace by
encouraging its employees to reduce water use in order to raise
the awareness on water conservation, including:

° Conduct regular maintenance and repair of toilet flushing
system;

° Remind employees to turn off taps tightly after using to avoid
dripping of water;

° Use water-saving appliances in water facilities where
possible;

° Notify relevant department if problems are found to avoid
wasting water resources; and

° Post water-saving reminders in pantry and toilets to remind
employees on water conservation.

USE OF PACKAGING MATERIALS

Since the Group is principally engaged in the provision of financial
services, packaging is not involved in the usual course of the
Group’s business, and therefore the use of packaging materials
during the Reporting Year is not applicable.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

RR #HekER/%E (&)

WORKING ENVIRONMENT

The Group has implemented different policies to govern the
impact on the environment of its operations. To enhance working
efficiency, the Group is committed to providing employees a
comfortable and green workplace. Office areas are inspected
regularly to ensure that a good working environment is maintained.
Once the Group has found problems within the workplace,
precautionary measures will be promptly taken to minimise the
potential harm to employees. In addition, the Group monitors
the indoor air quality of the workplace regularly, and cleans air-
conditioning systems regularly to maintain good indoor air quality.

GREEN FINANCE

During the Reporting Year, the Group allocated HK$1 million
towards a green deposit of which the funds will be used to
finance and/or refinance the eligible Green Projects of Chong Hing
Bank verified by the Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency. Those
projects encompass a range of initiatives, including but not limited
to green buildings, renewable energy, energy efficiency, pollution
prevention and control, clean transportation, sustainable water
and wastewater management. Moving forward, the Group remains
committed to actively supporting climate-friendly endeavours by
facilitating the development and innovation of climate-friendly
products and technologies.

ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT
INDEX OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE

Mandatory Disclosure Requirements

BERERE

THEBEE
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HRENTZE - RBRETIERER KEH
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AEEEEHRERQGH BAREFR
O TERR - —BEARNKEEBR TSR
AEFERE el RRIGEE - &
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THERKETFEN EEZE2RBREBRKER
ERERBARBNEEBITEERGZE
BEMER SBRE - ZEHEERE—
RUNBRE BRETERZECRE AR
HEBeIR BEIRE R E B RER
AREAKRBKRKER - BERR KE
EREEREBRYHRIEREAIER #EH
RIRR SZ R E @A BT A 5 2 B A5 -

Section/Declaration

-0 1

Governance Structure

ERRE

Reporting Principles
HERA

Reporting Boundary
wEHE
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Aspects, General
Disclosures and
KPIs

BE - —REER
HARANMERS

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
RE g REAKRE (&)

Description

g

Section/Declaration

-0 1

Aspect A1: Emissions

BEA R

General Disclosure

— R R

KPI A1.1

B B2 4B IR IR AL

KPI A1.2

B BB IR IR A2

KPI A1.3

BB A IEIRAL3

KPI A1.4

FA B AE IR IRAT4

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,

discharges into water and land, and generation of

hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

BRABRIORERBYN RKRLHEES BF

MEEERVHNELFH:

(@) HE: &

() BFHBETAGERTENHBEZRRD

& K o

The types of emissions and respective emissions data.
P e R M AR R B R BUR

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2)
greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

B (HBE1) kepRAEE (BE2) R=RBHRE (A
MEAE) R (WER)BE (WMASESEMN FIAR
MaEtHE) o

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and,

where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).
FTEXEEEEMRE (UEE) K (WER)FE
(IMABEEEAMN FHEHRETE)

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and,
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).
EABREEZEMES (ABEAE) R
(IMABEEEAMN SHEHRZEFTE) -

(Em) =&

Environmental

B

Environmental - GHG
Emissions and Air Emissions
RIR—RERBH M NER
e

Environmental - GHG
Emissions and Air Emissions

RE-LERBHBRMER

BEDR

Environmental — Waste
Management

RIE-EYEIE

Environmental — Waste
Management

RE-BYERE

BERHBRLAF —B-NFEFRH
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RR #HekER/%E (&)

Aspects, General
Disclosures and

KPIs Description Section/Declaration
BE - —REER

HARANERS it =303

KPI' A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken Environmental - GHG

to achieve them.

BREMIBERAIS  HWAAFT NN E B ERREDEL BRI
B 2B o

KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes are handled, and a description of reduction
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

BRANIERAME HAEEEENESIEEVMN G L KRG LG
WEE B IR R AEDELBFAERIA LR -

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

EEA2 : ERERA

General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, including
energy, water and other raw materials.

—RIKE BEREAER (BERR  KREMERME) B EE -

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type

(e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in "000s)
and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

BARAMIEFREA21 REISSNEERABEEER (WE - Roh) 42

HE(WTETERKAZE) REE (WASEE S -
BHERMEETHE)

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit
of production volume, per facility).

BREMIERA22 BLRKEREE (NMASGESEMN BERMTHE) -

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and
steps taken to achieve them

BRANIERA23 MM CHEREANGEREAEIELAR
FTERER B9 22 8% -

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing
water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s)
set and steps taken to achieve them.

FARESIEREA2.4 fHRKEGERKIR LA BEREE A RAETZHA
KW e B R R REDE L B IRATERIA) 5
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Emissions and Air Emissions
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e

Environmental — Waste
Management

RIB-BYER

Environmental

IRIE
Environmental — Energy
Consumption

R —EIRHR

Environmental — Water
Consumption
BRIR—KIRHFE
Environmental — Energy
Consumption
RIBE—BLIRERE

Environmental — Water
Consumption
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Aspects, General
Disclosures and

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

RE HERE

AWE (K)

KPIs Description Section/Declaration
BE - —REER

HARANER it 30 3

KPI' A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in Environmental — Use of

FABEAE IR IRA2.5

tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit
produced.

HEmABEEMANEE (UG E) &
BAEBEAMhE-

(an@Em)

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

EBEA3 : BERRXRER

General Disclosure

—MRIE
KPI A3.1

B 52 48 I 1R A3.1

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts
on the environment and natural resources.
MEZETAHRBERRAEREXNERNZENOBEK -
Description of the significant impacts of activities on
the environment and natural resources and the actions
taken to manage them.
HMEREHHIRBERRAARAERNEAZERDK
REREETENTH-

Aspect A4: Climate Change

EEA4 : RIZE1L

General Disclosure

—RWE

KPI A4.1

B B2 4B IR IR AL

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant
climate-related issues which have impacted, and those
which may impact, the issuer.
BRINEHERRAIGEEHETAEETENEX
RIRMEHEEEHBER

Description of the significant climate-related issues
which have impacted, and those which may impact,
the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.
MRE R RAREEHBETAEETENERRIRN
HMEE REHTH-

Packaging Materials (Not
applicable — explained)
RE-BEMBANER (F
HEA-CBE)

Environmental — Working

Environment, Green Finance
RIE-IERR ZETHE
Environmental — Working

Environment, Green Finance

RE-THERR ST

Environmental — Climate
Change Mitigation and
Adaptation

R —RiR 2 H R & NOE

[

458

Environmental — Climate

Change Mitigation and

Adaptation
RIE— RIEECHR
J&

BERHBRLAF —B-NFEFRH
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

RR #HekER/%E (&)

Aspects, General
Disclosures and

KPIs Description Section/Declaration
BE - —REER
HARANERS it =303
Aspect B1: Employment
EEB1 : EE
General Disclosure Information on: Employment
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other
benefits and welfare.
— PRI EE BTk EE BEREA TERE BRE T5 EE
He - %t - IR DA K H 5538 K tE A1l |9
(@ BEX: K&
(o) BTHEHRTABEARTEMNMEEERZ AR
EoR= g
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for Employment — The Group's

example, full- or part-time), age group and geographical
region.

BREMERBIT  HUER ERER (WE2BRE)  Fieds bR
ElomEEESE-

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region.

BRERIEREBI.2  RUR FRAMN KRB SNERERKRL K-

GoFintech Innovation Limited Annual Report 2024

Talent Policy

BE-—AEEOHASTBER

Employment — The Group’s
Talent Policy

BIR—AREOHAT BE



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
RE g REAKRE (&)

Aspects, General
Disclosures and

KPlIs Description
EBE —REER
ARERIER ot

Section/Declaration

-0 1

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
EBEB2 REHEZE

General Disclosure Information on:
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to providing a safe working environment and
protecting employees from occupational hazards.

— MR EHARBLZE2TEREMREREEMABEMEEN:
(a HEX: K&
(b) BFEHBEITABERTZENBBEERE KRG
B &R

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in

each of the past three years including the reporting

year.

BRAENIEREB21 BE=F (BREHFE)EFRAITHOHAZRLL
;_'E_( o

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury.

FRENIEEB22 RHIBGEAXIERH-

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety
measures adopted, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

A NIEREB2.3 AR BRBREERZ 2EH LA RBERITR

BERNEe

Employment — Employees’
Health and Safety

BE-REEEREZE

Employment — Employees’
Health and Safety

BRE-—EEREREZS
Employment — Employees’
Health and Safety
EBRE-—EEREHEZS

Employment — Employees’
Health and Safety

BE-REEEEREZE

BERHBRLAF —B-NFEFRH
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

REBE HERE

Aspects, General
Disclosures and
KPIs

BE - —REER
HARANERS

BEHE (&)

Description

g

Section/Declaration

-1

Aspect B3: Development and Training

EHB3 : #& K&

General Disclosure

—RWE

KPI B3.1

B B2 A AR 1R B3

KPI B3.2

B B2 A8 IR 1R B3.2

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills
for discharging duties at work. Description of training
activities.
ERARAEERITIIEBRENMBRRENEEK -H
MmIFAEE -

The percentage of employees trained by gender and
employee category (e.g. senior management, middle
management).

RUERIREEEN (MEREEE FREEE) S
DHXINEERDL -

The average training hours completed per employee by
gender and employee category.
RIUERINREEEMNE S BREETKXIINFHE
e

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

EMEB4 : 8% ITX%E|

General Disclosure

— AR R

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to preventing child and forced labour

BRI E TR EISTH:

(a) HX: &

() BFHETAGERTENHBEZ LR

& K o
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Employment — Employees’
Development and Training

BE-EEZHRKLEI

Employment — Employees’
Development and Training

BRE—1EE %R NI
Employment — Employees’

Development and Training

BE-—REZRKLEI

Employment — Labour
Standards

fEE— 5% TR



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
RE g REAKRE (&)

Aspects, General
Disclosures and

KPIs Description Section/Declaration
BE - —REER

HARANMERS it 303

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment Employment — Labour

practices to avoid child and forced labour.
BRBEMIEREBLT R BEENINREEAREE T KRGS T -
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices
when discovered.

FRENIEEBL2 HAEZRRBRBEAKERERABRMERON TR -

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[EmEBs : fEEER

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of
the supply chain.

— R R EEHEENRELEERABER

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region.

BREMIEEBST WWEEASHHERHE -

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers,
number of suppliers where the practices are being
implemented, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

B ENIEIEBS.2 W AMERAHKERNED  AERTARES MK

JEREE  URHEERTRERT A

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they
are implemented and monitored.

BREMIEEBS.S WA AEBANHEEREGERGNRRERE SRR
B ARAEBINITRERT &

Standards

EIE— % T4
Employment — Labour
Standards

EIE— % T#A|

Sustainable Business
Operations — Supply Chain
Management
AREEGEE-—HERE
P

Sustainable Business
Operations — Supply Chain
Management
AREXBEE-—HERE
B

Sustainable Business
Operations — Supply Chain
Management

ARNEEGEE-—HERE

38

Sustainable Business

Operations — Supply Chain

Management
AREEKEE-HERE

E'@_

BERHBRLAF —B-NFEFRH
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ENVIRONMENTAL SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

REBE HERE

Aspects, General
Disclosures and

AWE (&)

KPIs Description Section/Declaration
BE - —REER

HARANERS it =303

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote Sustainable Business

B B2 48 W AR B5.4

environmentally preferable products and services when
selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

et PRE H IR (2 (5 2 AR IRE fn R IRFG V18 B -
AR BBERITRERT A

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

EmB6 - EmEE

General Disclosure

— AR R

KPI B6.1

B B2 A 1515 B6.1

KPI B6.2

842 (8 IR 12 B6.2

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling

and privacy matters relating to products and services

provided and methods of redress.

BRAfMEHERNRENRRELZS BE S&K

LS E H DA KRR T A

(@ BEX: K&

(o) BTHEHTABERTENMEEERZ AR

oR= g

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to

recalls for safety and health reasons.

EEACEREmEITR L REREmmMAR
WH B Dk

Number of products and service related complaints
received and how they are dealt with.

BRERNERIREORFEE A RBETTE-
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Operations — Supply Chain
Management

AREEGEE-HERE
Pt

Sustainable Business
Operations

AREEGEE

Sustainable Business
Operations — Product
Responsibility (Not applicable
— explained)
AR EEGEE -
(TEA-BERE)

Sustainable Business

EmEE

Operations — Customer
Services

AREXGEE TP R



Aspects, General
Disclosures and

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
R -HERE

AWE (K)

KPIs Description Section/Declaration
BE - —REER

HARANMERS it B8 BH

KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and Sustainable Business

BB A5 W HE1EB6.3

KPI B6.4

BAS AR K 1515 B6 4
KPI B6.5

BB A IR B6.5

protecting intellectual property rights.

B i v M AR IR AR EE A BV 1B B -

Description of quality assurance process and recall
procedures.

Mt EERTBREREMBKERF -
Description of consumer data protection and privacy
policies, and how they are implemented and monitored.

HIVBEEERNRERLBEBR  UREBERTRE
%7ﬂ£°

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

EEB7 : RES

General Disclosure

— AR R

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money

laundering.

BRAPLEHE R

(@) BE: &

() BFHBETAGERTENHBEZ LR

& K o

BEF AR ER

Operations — Intellectual
Property Rights and
Responsible Marketing

A FFERTG S B — MBERE
&E BEEEH
Sustainable Business
Operations — Customer
Services
AREEBEE-TFPRE
Sustainable Business
Operations — Customer
Privacy Protection and Cyber
Security
AREEKE
1&&%%?%

—EPRLE

Business Ethics and Practice

BEERERE

&

BERHBRLAF —B-NFEFRH
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

REBE HERE

Aspects, General
Disclosures and

BEHE (&)

KPIs Description Section/Declaration

BE - —REER

HARANERS it =303

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt Business Ethics and Practice

B8 52 4R IR 1R BT .1
KPI B7.2
BASAR KI5 1R BT .2

KPI B7.3

BB A IR 1R BT.3

practices brought against the issuer or its employees
during the reporting period and the outcomes of the
cases.
RERPANEHBTARERBEREIEELENES
FAARMHEE MFRAER-

Description of preventive measures and whistleblowing
procedures, how they are implemented and monitored.
PSS b R R RIZ T - A RABRBIRIT REER 5% o
Description of anti-corruption training provided to
directors and staff.

WAREFERBE TRENREISHE -

Aspect B8: Community Investment

EEBS - HtERE

General Disclosure

— R R

KPI B8.1

Bl B2 4 I 1% B8 1

KPI B8.2

BB W IEIEBS.2

Policies on community engagement to understand the
needs of the communities where the issuer operates
and to ensure its activities take into consideration the
communities’ interests.
ERANHRBERTREEMETRFZMBER
EBEBHEERTE &= ABUR -

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education,
environmental concerns, labour needs, health, culture,
sport).
HIERER (#E RESFE BIHER BER-
X85 ) -

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the
focus area.

EEIGREMBAER (WEEXERH) -

GoFintech Innovation Limited Annual Report 2024

— Whistleblowing Mechanism

R EEERTEH RS
Business Ethics and Practice
EEBEERER

Business Ethics and Practice
— Anti-corruption and Anti-
fraud, AML and CTF
HEEEREH-REFK
REGF RAEBRRZGE

Community Investment

R E

Community Investment

HERE

Community Investment

R E



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

-y
| =
ZHONGHUI
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
GOFINTECH INNOVATION LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of GoFintech Innovation Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 162 to 267, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2024, and consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting
policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 March 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’'s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

BYZHERES

HEHEAFERLIAZERR
(REEHESZTMHE L FRLA])

=R

AZHE (ATEE BN EEFIE
RE162E267E B BRI ER 2R ([E
RAD)MEMBAR (SE BEE]) D
REMBHRR BERR_T_WNF=A
=t BENEAMBRARERHEZA
TEENGERAENAMERKER &
ERAEHR HKARERERANES
MBHREWE (BRERSAEERER)

BHRR GEMBHREACREBTEES
firg ([(EBEMAE])RH2EB
MRS ER([EEBMBREEYN])E
EMAnkRT BERER-_FT_NF
A=t BENRAMBRAREEZX
FEFENGAEMBRAMGARER
E YR ERERE (RG] WRER
FEX SR B -

RENER

BACRBEBESFAMAGRMN (BB
BAFERD) ([ (BBEFERA) |)ETT
B -REZFE HMANEEREAR
S IZBEREA AV BRRAENE
El—SPE—TFL-RIEFESFE
RENEXGFEMERTA (ISR
BMBIY BEEE YCEEETRIET
Hip g aE T -RMEE HMAMESH
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)
BYURBERES (&)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement,
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These

matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the

were of most significance in our audit of the

consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS USING LEVEL 3 FAIR VALUE
MEASUREMENT

Refer to Notes 6 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group measured its investments at fair value through
profit or loss with the changes in fair value recognised in the
consolidated profit or loss. This fair value measurement is
significant to our audit because the balance of investments at fair
value through profit or loss using level 3 fair value measurement
of HK$118,892,000 as at 31 March 2024 is material to the
consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group’s fair
value measurement involves application of judgement and is

based on assumptions and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

- Discuss and challenge the valuation process, methodologies
used and market evidence to support significant judgments

and assumptions applied in the valuation model;

= Checking key assumptions and input data in the valuation
model to supporting evidence;

- Checking arithmetical accuracy of the valuation model; and

- Assessing the disclosure of the fair value measurement in
the consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group’s fair value measurement of the

investments at fair value through profit or loss using level 3 fair
value measurement is supported by the available evidence.

GoFintech Innovation Limited Annual Report 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
LOAN AND TRADE RECEIVABLES

Refer to Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group tested the amount of loan and trade receivables
for impairment. This impairment test is significant to our
audit because the balance of loan and trade receivables of
HK$113,497,000 as at 31 March 2024 is material to the
consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group’s
impairment test involves application of judgement and is based on
estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

- Assessing the Group’s procedures on granting credit limits
and credit periods to debtors;

- Assessing the Group’s relationship and transaction history
with the debtors;

- Evaluating the Group’s impairment assessment;

- Assessing ageing of the debts;

= Assessing creditworthiness of the debtors;

- Checking subsequent settlements from the debtors;

- Assessing the value of the collateral for the debts; and

- Assessing the disclosure of the Group’s exposure to credit
risk in the consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for loan and trade
receivables is supported by the available evidence.

BUZBMBEE (&)

FBEETZEE o
EWE R E Z AR
BREGRA M EHRE M 520 o
EEEAATRERUERKE ZEINER
FRESBE HEMOEFTMS 5B
EARETEE K EREEZ T
FZA=+—H EXREEFEWKERE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)
BYURBERES (&)

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the Company’s annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

QOur opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

GoFintech Innovation Limited Annual Report 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report
our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA’s
website at:

https://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/Standards-setting/Standards/Our-
views/auditre

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Yeung Hong Chun

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P07374

Hong Kong, 26 June 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
ReBEaREMEEREXR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F —F = =+—HIFFE

2024 2023

—EoNE  ZEZ=F

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

B 7 FET FAET

Revenue WA 7,8 49,456 26,943
Net losses on investments at fair BERAFEINABERRER

value through profit or loss ([BAFEIAERER])

(“FVTPL’) ZIREEBFE (3,481) (4,630)
Cost of brokerage and other services 442 £8 H b iR # 2 Ak X (20,719) (6,012)
Other income, net H b Y AF5R 9 17,672 3,330
Expected credit losses (“ECL”) EREFREEZRKERZ

on loan and trade receivables BHEEEBE ((FAHEE

BBl (6,034) (16,717)
Impairment loss of right-of-use assets & F 1 & & )5 B &5 18 (6,140) (1,005)
Staff costs B IR 11 (35,734) (42,575)
Other operating expenses HagE M 11 (21,169) (13,916)
Finance costs LR DN 10 (2,002) (5,136)
Share of (losses)/profits of associates [E{h Bt & X&) (EE) & F 18 (2,483) 855
Loss before tax BRBLATE B 11 (30,634) (58,863)
Income tax (expense)/credit FIisf (AX) H% 12 (45) 8
Loss for the year KEEEIE (30,679) (58,855)
Other comprehensive expense: Hih2HEAX:
Items that may be reclassified GERTTEFN D EE B R

subsequently to profit or l0ss: EHE :

Exchange differences arising on MEBINEBEEZ

translation of foreign operations X =5 (1,934) (123)
Share of other comprehensive ERBE AR EMEEAX

expense of associates 18 (4,506) (6,254)
Other comprehensive expense AEEHME2ERASX

for the year, net of tax (BR#EIE) (6,440) (6,377)
Total comprehensive expense AEEL2HEHBXEARE

for the year (37,119) (65,232)

HK cent HK cents
A1l B
(Restated)
(&ZE5)
Loss per share BREE
- Basic - &R 15 (0.91) (2.84)
— Diluted - s 15 (0.91) (2.84)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
mEMBARR R

As at 31 March 2024 R=ZFE—pWE=H=+—H

2024 2023
—E_WEF e =
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 3E FHET F& T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property and equipment and MERZBEBARERAEEE
right-of-use assets 16 14,630 -
Loan receivables W E = 20 13,500 =
Other non-current assets HEiIEmBEE 17 7,294 6,815
Investments at FVTPL BAFEIABZE RS 19 79,769 =
Interests in associates REENF 2R 18 112,898 99,647
228,091 106,462
Current assets RBEE
Investments at FVTPL BERAFEIABEEREIRE 19 173,504 71,491
Loan and trade receivables ERERNE HERIER 20 99,997 42,644
Contract assets BHEE 21 17 17
Other receivables, deposits and HipEzE ke &
prepayments TET RIAE 22 24,436 6,346
Current tax assets BIEATR 1B & &= 151 151
Bank balances and cash — trust RITHEHRRIRE - 55T 23(A) 276,738 136,902
Bank balances and cash — general  B1T&%B LR - — &% 23(B) 289,257 111,748
864,100 369,299
Current liabilities RBEE
Trade payables B S EMERR 24 276,025 137,157
Other payables and accruals EMEMNRKIERETER 4,505 4,525
Lease liabilities HEAE 25 7,217 5,468
Corporate bonds UNEIE-¢- 26 2,062 29,185
Current tax liabilities BEAR IR B & 843 834
290,652 177,169
Net current assets REEEFE 573,448 192,130
Total assets less current liabilities EEZAERAB ARG 801,539 298,592
EEaERAR —ZE-NEER
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

meEMBRRR (&)

As at 31 March 2024 R-ZE-pWE=H=+—H

2023
—E-NEF —E-=
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5T FET FETT
Non-current liabilities ERBEME
Lease liabilities HEBE 25 14,696 106
Corporate bonds UNGIE-¢- 26 2,017
14,696 2,123
Net assets EEZRE 786,843 296,469
Capital and reserves BARARHE
Share capital f& AR 27 632,625 131,797
Reserves Fp] 28 154,218 164,672
Total equity EEEE 786,843 296,469
Approved by the Board on 26 June 2024. EFEERE-MFEAZ+BHE-
CHAN Kin Sang SUN Qing
BR 4 BE
Chairman Director
FE EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REEZSBR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z = F ZpJF =H =+ —HIF&E

Attributable to owners of the Company

KRAERAER
Share-based
Share Share  Translation Special Capital payment Other Accumulated Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses equity
Rt
Rx  RHEE EXRE SREE  EXRK ARG RHER  ERAR
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TAL TAL TEx TEx TR TERT TEL TAL
(Note 27) (Note 28) (Note 28) (Note 28) (Note 28) (Note 28) (Note 28)
(Wstor)  (Wizkos)  (Miskos)  (Wiskos)  (Misks)  (Wiikos)  (Fizkos)
At 1 April 2022 RZE--EmA-A 91,631 689,003 (670) 13,524 1,863 - (3,440) (543,952) 247,859
Total comprehensive expense for the year TEE2ERYEE - - (6,377) - - - - (58,855) (65,232)
Issue of shares LG 40,266 73,576 - - - - - - 113842
At 31 March 2023 R=Z-Zf#=f=1+-A 131,797 762,679 (7,047) 13,524 1,863 - (3,440) (602,807) 296,469
At 1 April 2023 RZZ-=5¥WmA-A 131,797 762,579 (7,047) 13,524 1,863 - (3,440) (602,807) 296,469
Total comprehensive expense for the year TEE2EHEYAE - - (6,440) - 5 5 5 (30,679)  (37,119)
Share-based payments (note 29) R 1T (H5H20) - - - - - 306 - - 306
Issue of shares LG 500,828 26,359 - - - - - - 51,187
At 31 March 2024 RZEZMF=A=1—H 632,625 788,938 (13,487) 13,524 1,863 306 (3,440) (633,486) 786,843
BERIHBARART —B-NFEFR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HMERITRER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F —F = =+—HIFFE

2024 2023
—ESE-E —EC=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 7 FET FAT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REXEFEHELSHKE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax BRELAIEE (30,634) (58,863)
Adjustments for: BN &IA:
Bad debt written off on trade B REMEWKIE L
and other receivables W sH 1= AR 11 - 136
Impairment loss of right-of-use FRREERBERIE
assets 6,140 1,005
Gain on bargain purchase of BEARzEERBE A
an associate (9,676) -
Depreciation e 16 1,888 =
Finance costs & B AR 10 2,002 5,136
Interest revenue B U A (13,293) (8,241)
ECL on loan and trade ERERRE 5 EWERR
receivables, net ZTEHEEBERERE 6,034 16,717
Net losses on investments BEAFEIABREZ
at FVTPL REEBEFRE 3,481 4,630
Share of losses/(profits) of FE(E B & N RE 1B,
associates (s F) 2,483 (855)
Equity-settled share-based NERGEE 2RI
payments 306 _
Operating loss before working EEESERHAIZKE
capital changes 58 (31,269) (40,335)
Change in trade and other receivables & 5 K E {th i I B 7 & (89,425) 60,334
Change in contract assets EHEEEZS - (17)
Change in bank balances and RITHBR LIRS —
cash — trust ErEE (139,836) 38,434
Change in trade payables, BIRENERR - EMER
other payables and accruals NBEREGFERE 138,848 (37,779)
Change in contract liabilities EHEEES - (419)
Cash (used in)/generated from KBRS (AR /BHEe
operations (121,682) 20,218
Income tax (paid)/refunded (BEft) /BEROFEBH (36) 1,596
NET CASH (USED IN)/GENERATED &% %% (FiR) /B8R E
FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES EEE (121,718) 21,814
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

RERERER (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F - F = =+—HIFFE

2024 2023
—E-MEF —ET=F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt 5 FHET FABT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZFEFEHELSAKE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received 2 HFH B 7,259 1,359
Proceeds from disposal of HEZAFEIAEMEE
equity investments at fair value W (TRAFEIIAHA
through other comprehensive ZEWRE]) CBRERE 2
income (“FVTOCI") P15 318 - 138
Acquisition of associates g RN (10,564) =
Proceeds from disposal of HEZANTFEEY ABRE
investments at FVTPL ZIRE Z G RIA 4,319 4,920
Purchases of investments at FVTPL BARAFEIABZE
ZRE (189,582) (75,650)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING REZHFFARE TR
ACTIVITIES (188,568) (69,233)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING RBIEZFEFERESAKE
ACTIVITIES
Repayment of loans EEEXR - (300,000)
Repayment of corporate bonds ERUNEILEE= (28,100) (32,000)
Repayment of lease liabilities EBEHEEAR (6,319) (7,052)
Proceeds from issue of shares BT D 2 TS 08 527,187 113,842
Proceeds from loans ERZ S sIE - 200,000
Interests paid B A (3,039) (5,918)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM/ METEME (FA)RE
(USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES F% 489,729 (31,128)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN ReRREESEYW2EM
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (R2) F5 179,443 (78,547)
Effect of foreign currency translation YN & 7 522 (1,934) (123)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS E¥zHERBESSE
AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR {EY¥) 111,748 190,418
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS HXZHE&RESEEY
AT THE END OF THE YEAR,
represented by bank balances BIRITEHRNERE —— MK
and cash — general 23(B) 289,257 111,748

HERIMBERART
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRNE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F —F = =+—HIFFE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

GoFintech Innovation Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability. The address of its registered
office is P.O. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-
1104, Cayman Islands. The address of its principal place of
business is Units No. 4102-06, 41/F, COSCO Tower, 183
Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares
are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of the subsidiaries of the Company is set
out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND
REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) has adopted all the
new and revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) that are relevant to its
operations and effective for its accounting year beginning
on 1 April 2023. HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting
Standards; and Interpretations. The adoption of these new
and revised HKFRSs did not result in significant changes to
the Group’s accounting policies, presentation of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements and amounts reported for
the current year and prior years.

The Group has not applied the new and revised HKFRSs
that have been issued but are not yet effective. The Group
has already commenced an assessment of the impact of
these new and revised HKFRSs but is not yet in a position
to state whether these new and revised HKFRSs would have
a material impact on its results of operations and financial
position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e M BRRME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F - F = =+—HIFFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA,
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and
the applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified by
investments and derivatives which are carried at their fair
values.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain key
assumptions and estimates. It also requires the directors
to exercise its judgements in the process of applying the
accounting policies. The areas involving critical judgements
and areas where assumptions and estimates are significant
to these consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in
note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to
31 March. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. The Group has power over an entity
when the Group has existing rights that give it the current
ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e. activities that
significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties, to determine whether it has control. A potential
voting right is considered only if the holder has the practical
ability to exercise that right.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
CONSOLIDATION (Continued)

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from
the date the control ceases.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

ASSOCIATES

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate
in the financial and operating policy decisions of an entity
but is not control or joint control over those policies. The
existence and effect of potential voting rights that are
currently exercisable or convertible, including potential voting
rights held by other entities, are considered when assessing
whether the Group has significant influence. In assessing
whether a potential voting right contributes to significant
influence, the holder’'s intention and financial ability to
exercise or convert that right is not considered.

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements by the equity method and
is initially recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities
of the associate in an acquisition are measured at their fair
values at the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of
acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded
as goodwill. The goodwill is included in the carrying amount
of the investment and is tested for impairment together with
the investment at the end of each reporting period when
there is objective evidence that the investment is impaired.
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition
is recognised in consolidated profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
mEMBHRERME (K)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F —F = =+—HIFFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e M BRRME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F - F = =+—HIFFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
ASSOCIATES (Continueq)

The Group’s share of an associate’s post-acquisition profits
or losses is recognised in consolidated profit or loss, and
its share of the post-acquisition movements in reserves is
recognised in the consolidated reserves. The cumulative
post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the
carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s share
of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in
the associate, including any other unsecured receivables,
the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate. If the associate subsequently reports profits, the
Group resumes recognising its share of those profits only
after its share of the profits equals the share of losses not
recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that results
in a loss of significant influence represents the difference
between (i) the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus
the fair value of any investment retained in that associate
and (ii) the Group’s share of the net assets of that associate
plus any remaining goodwill relating to that associate and
any related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve.
If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture, the Group continues to apply the equity
method and does not remeasure the retained interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and
its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
associates have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
mEMBHRERME (K)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F —F = =+—HIFFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the Company’s
functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values
in foreign currencies are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in other comprehensive income, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income. When a gain or loss on
a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e M BRRME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F - F = =+—HIFFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

(Continued)
(c) Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different from
the Company’s presentation currency are translated
into the Company’s presentation currency as follows:

()  Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

(i)  Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect
of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are translated
at the exchange rates on the transaction dates);
and

(i) All resulting exchange differences are recognised
in the exchange reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign entities and
of borrowings are recognised in the exchange reserve.
When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange
differences are recognised in consolidated profit or loss
as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

(c)
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs
and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during the
period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property and equipment is calculated at
rates sufficient to write off their cost less their residual values
over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The
principal useful lives are as follows:
Leasehold improvements Shorter of remaining
lease term or 3 years

Office equipment 4 years
Motor vehicles 4 years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.

The gain or loss on disposal of property and equipment
is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
mEMBHRERME (K)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F —F = =+—HIFFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e M BRRME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F - F = =+—HIFFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
LEASES

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and
corresponding lease liabilities when the leased assets are
available for use by the Group. Right-of-use assets are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses. Depreciation of right-of-use assets is calculated at
rates to write off their cost over the shorter of the asset’s
useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. The
principal useful lives of office premises and warehouse is 2
to 3 years.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
amount of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities,
lease payments prepaid, initial direct costs and the
restoration costs. Lease liabilities include the net present
value of the lease payments discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease if that rate can be determined, or
otherwise the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Each
lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the
lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expenses in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the lease terms. Short-term
leases are leases with an initial lease term of 12 months or
less.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets with indefinite useful life is stated at cost
less any impairment losses. Impairment is reviewed annually
or when there is any indication that intangible assets has
suffered an impairment loss.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

RECOGNITION AND DERECOGNITION OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
statement of financial position when the Group becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire; the
Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets; or the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the assets but has not retained control on the assets. On
derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid is
recognised in profit or loss.

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under
a contract whose terms require delivery of the asset within
the timeframe established by the market concerned, and
are initially recognised at fair value, plus directly attributable
transaction costs except in the case of investments at
FVTPL. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of investments at fair value through profit or loss
are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
mEMBHRERME (K)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F - F = =+—HIFFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EEGFEEX =

(Continued)

FINANCIAL ASSETS (continueq)

Financial assets of the Group are classified as under the

following categories:

(a)

(b)

Financial assets at amortised cost; and

Investments at FVTPL.

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets (including trade and other receivables)
are classified under this category if they satisfy both of
the following conditions:

- the assets are held within a business model
whose objective is to hold assets in order to

collect contractual cash flows; and

- the contractual terms of the assets give rise
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They are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method less loss allowance
for ECL.

Investments at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified under this category if
they do not meet the conditions to be measured at
amortised cost and the conditions of debt investments
at fair value through other comprehensive income
unless the Group designates an equity investment that
is not held for trading as at fair value through other
comprehensive income on initial recognition.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)

(b) Investments at FVTPL (Continued)

Investments at FVTPL are subsequently measured at
fair value with any gains or losses arising from changes
in fair values recognised in profit or loss. The fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss are net
of any interest income and dividend income. Interest
income and dividend income are recognised in profit or
loss.

LOSS ALLOWANCES FOR ECL

The Group recognises loss allowances for ECL on financial
assets at amortised cost. ECL are the weighted average of
credit losses with the respective risks of a default occurring
as the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures the
loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal
to the expected credit losses that result from all possible
default events over the expected life of that financial
instrument (“lifetime expected credit losses”) for trade
receivables and contract assets, or if the credit risk on that
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition.

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a
financial instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for
that financial instrument at an amount equal to the portion of
lifetime expected credit losses that represents the ECL that
result from default events on that financial instrument that
are possible within 12 months after the reporting period.

The amount of ECL or reversal to adjust the loss allowance
at the end of the reporting period to the required amount is
recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e M BRRME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F - F = =+—HIFFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term highly liquid investments which
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
INSTRUMENTS

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any
contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of
the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting
policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity
instruments are set out below.

CORPORATE BONDS

Corporate bonds are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Corporate bonds are classified as current liabilities unless
the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Derivatives are initially recognised and subsequently
measured at fair value with any gains or losses arising from
changes in fair values recognised in profit or loss.

EQUITY INSTRUMENTS

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH
CUSTOMERS

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in
a contract with a customer with reference to the customary
business practices and excludes amounts collected on
behalf of third parties. For a contract where the period
between the payment by the customer and the transfer
of the promised product or service exceeds one year, the
consideration is adjusted for the effect of a significant
financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a performance
obligation by transferring control over a product or service to
a customer. Depending on the terms of a contract and the
laws that apply to that contract, a performance obligation can
be satisfied over time or at a point in time. A performance
obligation is satisfied over time if:

- the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance;

- the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced; or

- the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
mEMBHRERME (K)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z = F =pJF =H =+ —HIF&E

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EEGFTBE =

(Continued)

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH KEEFEH YA (&)
CUSTOMERS (Continued)

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is BB ERERBER - AR A I 2
recognised by reference to the progress towards complete EXEEXNBEHNECNEEER B
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, Bl AR B B BRAS B & ok AR 7% 45
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer T ) I5 ) BE AR AR ©

obtains control of the product or service.

OTHER REVENUE HA

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest FIBRARAERF REER -

method.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS =F=FJ

(a) Employee leave entitlements (a) EEERZRHE
Employee entitiements to annual leave are recognised EEEZEMNTEFRAEEESK
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made TURR - EREEZHREHK
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of EERHBRBMEEANFR
services rendered by employees up to the end of the R(HET B ERT IR EME -

reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity EEEZENRBREBRKE
leave are not recognised until the time of leave. 7 T HER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
mEMBHRERME (K)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F —F = =+—HIFFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continueq)

(b)

Pension obligations

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
(“MPF”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance, for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employee’s basic
salaries and charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income when
employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions
vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF Scheme.

Pursuant to the regulations of the relevant authorities
in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”), the
subsidiaries of the Company in PRC participate in
local municipal government retirement benefit scheme
(the “Scheme”) whereby the subsidiaries are required
to contribute to the Scheme to fund the retirement
benefits of the eligible employees. Contributions
made to the Scheme are calculated based on
certain percentages of the applicable payroll costs
as stipulated under the requirement in the PRC. The
relevant authorities of the PRC are responsible for
the entire pension obligations payable to the retired
employees. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the Scheme is to pay the ongoing required
contribution under the Schemes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e M BRRME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F - F = =+—HIFFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to
certain directors and employees.

Equity-settled share-based payments to directors and
employees are measured at the fair value (excluding the
effect of non market-based vesting conditions) of the equity
instruments at the date of grant. The fair value determined
at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments
is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually
vest and adjusted for the effect of non market-based vesting
conditions.

When the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share-based payment reserve will
be transferred to share capital and share premium. When
the share options are forfeited or lapsed after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share-based payment reserve will
be transferred to retained profits/accumulated losses.

BORROWING COSTS

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to it and that the grant will be received.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
TAXATION

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit
or loss because it excludes items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses
or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than
in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e M BRRME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F - F = =+—HIFFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
TAXATION (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will
be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
SEGMENT REPORTING

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements are
identified from the financial information provided regularly
to the Group’s most senior executive management for
the purpose of allocating resources and assessing the
performance of the Group’s various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect
of the nature of products and services, the nature of
productions processes, the type or class of customers,
the methods used to distribute the products or provide
the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material may
be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

RELATED PARTIES

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the
Group.

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Company or of a parent of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
mEMBHRERME (K)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F - F = =+—HIFFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

RELATED PARTIES (Continued)

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the Company are members of
the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group. If the Group is itself
such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also
related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Company or to a parent of the Company.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or not yet
available for use are reviewed annually for impairment and
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be
recoverable.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible assets except investments
and receivables to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of any impairment
loss. Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to which the
asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to
its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment
loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined (net
of amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset or cash-generating unit in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of
the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F - F = =+—HIFFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

PROVISIONS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed
as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is
remote.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events
after the reporting period that are not adjusting events
are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements when material.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

mEMBERRWE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F —F = =+—HIFFE

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below.

[A) FAIR VALUE OF INVESTMENTS

In the absence of quoted market prices in an active
market, the directors estimate the fair value of the
Group’s certain investments at FVTPL, details of which
are set out in notes 6 and 19 to the consolidated
financial statements, by considering information from
a variety of sources, including the latest published
financial information, the historical data on market
volatility as well as the price and industry and sector
performance of the Group’s investments at FVTPL.

(B) IMPAIRMENT LOSS FOR BAD AND
DOUBTFUL DEBTS

The Group makes impairment loss for bad and doubtful
debts based on assessments of the recoverability of
receivables, including the current creditworthiness and
the past collection history of each debtor. Impairments
arise where events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the balances may not be collectible. The
identification of bad and doubtful debts requires the
use of judgement and estimates. Where the actual
result is different from the original estimate, such
difference will impact the carrying value of receivables
and doubtful debt expenses in the year in which such
estimate has been changed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e M BRRME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F - F = =+—HIFFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign currency risk, price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk
and interest rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group’s financial performance.

(i) Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency
risk as most of its business transactions, assets and
liabilities are principally denominated in the functional
currencies of the Group entities. The Group currently
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy in
respect of foreign currency transactions, assets and
liabilities. The Group will monitor its foreign currency
exposure closely and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

As HK$ is pegged to United States dollars (“US$”),
the Group does not expect any significant movements
in the US$/HK$ exchange rates. In the opinion of
the Directors, the foreign currency sensitivity analysis
does not give additional value in view of insignificant
movement in the US$/HK$ exchange rates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

mEMBERRWE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F —F = =+—HIFFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)
(i) Foreign currency risk (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the sensitivity
analysis of Renminbi (“RMB”) against HK$ is as follows:

5. M AKMERE »

SN R B (4F)

RBEMRK ARB(TAR
W) RBTZBURESITT

Increase/
decrease in
Sensitivity loss for
rate the year
FEEFR
BREE ®m,/wD
HK$'000
FTAET
2024 —E-NE
RMB AR 5% 988
2023 —ZEBE-=F
RMB AR 5% 1,405
(ii) Price risk (ii) EEEEE

The Group is exposed to price risk through its
investments at FVTPL, which are measured at fair
value. The management manages this exposure by
maintaining a portfolio of investments with different risk
and return profiles.

As at 31 March 2024, if the fair value of the
investments at FVTPL had been 5% higher/lower,
loss for the year ended 31 March 2024 would be
decreased/increased by HK$10,574,000 (2023:
HK$2,985,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
mEMBHRERME (K)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F - F = =+—HIFFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 5. MBERERE»

(Continued)

(iii) Credit risk (iii) EERRE

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk for the
components of the consolidated statement of financial
position at 31 March 2024 and 2023 is the carrying
amount of financial assets as disclosed in note 5(vi) to
the consolidated financial statements.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and
other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition,
the management of the Group reviews the recoverable
amount of each debtor at the end of the reporting
period to ensure that adequate ECL are made for
irrecoverable amounts. In this regards, the management
of the Group considers that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

1 Regulatory deposits, contract assets, other
receivables and deposits

The credit risk is limited based on historical
settlement records and past experience. The
Group has assessed that the ECL of these
financial assets are not material under the
12-month expected loss method. Thus no ECL
(2023: nil) has been recognised during the year
ended 31 March 2024.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
mEMBHRERME (K)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F —F = =+—HIFFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

(iii) Credit risk (Continued)

2

Investments at FVTPL and Bank balances —
trust and general

The credit risks of investments at FVTPL and bank
balances — trust and general are considered to be
insignificant because the counterparties are banks
and financial institutions with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

Trade receivables [excluded margin clients)

The credit risks of trade receivables from Hong
Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited
(“"HKSCC") are considered to be insignificant
because the counterparties had high credit rating
and are governed by regulators including the
Hong Kong Monetary Authority and the Hong
Kong Securities and Futures Commission. The
risk of default in repayment of these debtors are
considered to be minimal by the directors and no
ECL provision were made for these debtors.

The credit risks of trade receivables from the
cash clients are considered to be insignificant
because the counterparties had sufficient pledged
securities, the risk of default in repayment of
these debtors are considered to be minimal by
the directors and no ECL provision were made for
these debtors.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F - F = =+—HIFFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

(iii) Credit risk (Continued)

4

Loan receivables and trade receivables from
margin clients

The Group’s impairment requirements are based
on an ECL model. The Group assesses the ECL
for loan receivables and trade receivables from
margin clients individually and measures the ECL
equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime
expected credit losses.

The credit risk on substantial portion of loan
receivables and trade receivables from margin
clients are limited because significant amount
of balances are secured by the pledged listed
securities and certain property units and the
counterparties have no historical default record.
The directors expect that the general economic
conditions will not significantly changed for the 12
months’ after the end of the reporting period.

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amount of
trade receivables from margin clients amounted to
HK$570,000 (2023: HK$28,359,000) (net of ECL
of HK$2,000 (2023: HK$12,390,000)). During the
year ended 31 March 2024, ECL amounted to
HK$2,674,000 (2023: HK$10,279,000) has been
recognised.

BERRBREE »

liii) EER B (£)

4

EREZREKFREE
FZEZ R

& ERRERE T ER
EHEEEREER XKL
) 25 8 &Y ff B W S R M
WHREFPZESERZ
EHEEEE YRES
R+ —EARREEEE
ZeRAEEHNEES
BEEBVTERAR
fo R E L B AR

EEEWT Hra (5
EL)ZE?TEO

R BB 1D & B 3R K W AT
REFZEZERFBHEE
ERBRER - THRAZ
BEGHDER EHE

METYESMERR
BXSEFUEBEED

R -EZFAHREHR

B+ 8 A EREREEMRR
BIrgEEERE-

RZE-_WF=ZRA=+—
H EKAREFPZES
AR 7% BR 1 B A570,0007%8 7T
(=& = =% :28,359,000
BL) (MBREBHEE
BB E#EH2,0008 T (=
T — = 4 :12,390,000/8
L)) BET-_NF=
A=+—HLEEE B
R8BI {E B & 182,674,000
B (& - = F:
10,279,000/ 7T ) °

BERHBRLAF —B-NFEFRH

195



196

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

(iii) Credit risk (Continued)

4 Loan receivables and trade receivables from
margin clients (Continued)

It is the Group’s policy that all customers who
wish to obtain loans from the group are subject
to management review. Receivable balances are
monitored on an ongoing basis.

The Group considers a broader range of information
when assessing credit risk and measuring ECL,
including past events, current conditions, reasonable
and supportable forecasts that affect the expected
collectability of the future cash flows of the instrument.

In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction
is made between:

— financial instruments that have not deteriorated
significantly in credit quality since initial
recognition or that have low credit risk (“Stage 17)
and

= financial instruments that have deteriorated
significantly in credit quality since initial
recognition and whose credit risk is not low
(“Stage 2”).

“Stage 3” would cover financial assets that have
objective evidence of impairment at the end of the
reporting period.

“12-month ECL” are recognised for the Stage 1
category while “lifetime expected credit losses” are
recognised for the Stage 2 category.

Measurement of the ECL is determined by a probability-
weighted estimate of credit losses over the expected
life of the financial instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
mEMBHRERME (K)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F - F = =+—HIFFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 5. MBERERE»

(Continued)

(iii) Credit risk (Continuea) (iii) E &R (&)

For trade receivables (excluded margin financing), the
Group applies a simplified approach in calculating
ECL and recognises a loss allowance based on
lifetime expected credit losses at the end of each
reporting period. These are the expected shortfalls
in contractual cash flows, considering the potential
for default at any point during the life of the financial
assets. In calculating the ECL, the Group established
a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit
loss experience and external indicators, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

To measure the ECL, trade receivables (excluded
margin financing) and contract assets have been
grouped based on the days past due. The contract
assets relate to unbilled work in progress and have
substantially the same risk characteristics as the
trade receivables for the same types of contracts. The
Group has therefore concluded that the ECL rates
for trade receivables (excluded margin financing) are
a reasonable approximation of the loss rates for the
contract assets.

The Group measures the loss allowance on other
financial assets measured at amortised cost (including
regulatory deposits, loan receivables, margin financing
receivables, other receivables and deposits and bank
balances - trust and general) equal to 12-month
ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the
Group recognises lifetime expected credit losses. The
assessment of whether lifetime expected credit losses
should be recognised is based on significant increase
in the likelihood or risk of default occurring since initial
recognition.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

(iii) Credit risk (Continued)

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of default occurring on the financial
assets at the end of the reporting period with the risk of
default occurring on the financial assets at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

= significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

- existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions those are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

= an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; and

= an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e M BRRME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F - F = =+—HIFFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

(iii) Credit risk (Continued)

(iv)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
end of each reporting period. A debt instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if it has a low risk of
default, the borrower has strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and
adverse changes in economic and business conditions
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce
the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash
flow obligations.

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when contractual
payment are 90 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate. In certain cases, the Group may also
consider a financial asset is default when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collateral held by the Group).

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

5. Bf

BKEMEE »

liii) FE @AM (&)

liv)

Ew L RF A AR WA
WA BEAI0OKE A&
BiEEEERR A YL ERIA
KARBIEIN - ERNEEAF G B
EXFEZENEERRIL I
itk - B S PRI o

BE WL WS WS HORAE
EEBTANGEERRRE.
AEEBRREFZILANEER
& B 1) 2 HE SR A SRR B IR
MmemEORBREE BERAR
BAENERHABRTERLN
RenE8&x% AQBERER
EHHRB|AIMESH AT (B
Av)BEREBERABITEAR
MRERERBHE N RIE
EEHFTANEERBEE-

FAMEERAREREMS A
SERSWENNREREBR
90H - BIHIREBLAEM FRIEA
SEBREAEREEEXTN
ERBETERRNENRER
RER AZERw-RETHE
T B A B E L RSN R
BRIIBEMBR BEBATK
AREmEEEA (BRAKE)
XNEBFE (T EAEE
FANEAERG) K ~XEE
NRRETREECDEEED-

REE < @k

AEBZBRETEREEER
REHORDE TR BRF
mBRE R MEAREE
HhEHANRBESH K-

HERIMBERART

“E-MEER

199



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F —F = =+—HIFFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

5. BIERER 2

(iv) Liquidity risk (Continued) livl "BELER (&)

The maturity analysis, based on undiscounted cash

AEEsRABER RER

flows, of the Group’s financial liabilities is as follows: EREZHNBBERSTAOT
More than More than
Within 1 year but 2 years but
1 year or on less than less than
demand 2 years 5 years
—FRH —FE MEULE
BER BLRME BLRESE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FAT FAT
At 31 March 2024 R-EB-_NFE=A=+-—H
Trade payables, other payables % 5 & BR 3k« E i jE 1+
and accruals RENETEA 280,530 = =
Corporate bonds NalfEHF 2,065 = =
Lease liabilities HEBE 7,894 8,455 6,736
290,489 8,455 6,736
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=F=ZR=+—H
Trade payables, other payables B SRR B
and accruals RENESER 141,682 = =
Corporate bonds NGIEEE 29,380 2,017 =
Lease liabilities HEARE 5,533 107 =
176,595 2,124 _
(vl Interest rate risk (v F== Rk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to certain trade receivables and bank balances

AEEBAZEETHE S ENKE
RERITEH - —REBZR

- general. It is the Group’s policy to keep its assets eREFNERARKR - AEE 2K

and liabilities at floating rate of interests so as to RBEIBANNEGFEH ﬁ%&

minimise the fair value interest rate risk. BE UEQXFEMNXERR
ExiEe

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly rEEzZBEeREMN XA R

relating to the fluctuation of Hong Kong prime rate EE@E$%@Z.§+E\§@$IH

(“prime rate”) and Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate EEZEEBBRMNEX ([RE

(“HIBOR”) arising from the Group’s interest bearing
financial instruments.

GoFintech Innovation Limited Annual Report 2024
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Continued)

(v])

(vi) Categories of financial instruments at 31

Interest rate risk (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2024

5. Bt

(v)

As at 31 March 2024, if the interest rate had been 100

basis points (2023: 100 basis points) higher/lower,

the Group’s loss for the year would decrease/increase

by HK$2,420,000 (2023: HK$1,170,000), arising
mainly as a result of higher/lower interest revenue on

balances — general.

certain trade receivables from margin clients and bank

(vi)

e M BRRME (&)

HE—_FE_pmFE=F=+—HIFZE

BKEMEE »

MERmb (a)

R_E-_mME=ZA=+—8"
fi F) & £ F T BR1001E £ 24
—E_ZF100BEZ) K
SEZFEEBEBBRLD, N
2,420,000 L (ZE == F:
1,170,000/ 7C) - EZHRE T
BUAFEEFZESERZRKIER
THB — — RO F S AN,
e

R=ZA=+—Hz&€®mI A

March XAl
2024 2023
—E-NF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FH&T
Financial assets tREE
Investments at FVTPL: BRAFEIABREIKRE:
— Designated as such upon initial ~ — R ¥R EREIETE
recognition 253,273 71,491
Financial assets at amortised cost: IZE M ARG R S RMEE -
- Regulatory deposits —EEES 684 205
— Loan and trade receivables —EURERNE S ERER 113,497 42,644
- Contract assets —EHEE 17 17
— Other receivables and deposits —Hih B N IRE 23,854 5,664
— Bank balances and cash — trust —R{T&EBRKRIRE — 55 276,738 136,902
- Bank balances and cash — —IRITEHEAS K
general 289,257 111,748
Financial liabilities THMas
Financial liabilities at amortised cost: 1R # ER A5 R 2 BB &
— Trade payables, other payables — B S REMNERR  HMER
and accruals HIENEETE R 280,530 141,682
- Corporate bonds —NEfEHF 2,062 31,202
— Lease liabilities —HEEE 21,913 5,574
MEAFERAT —E-MEEH
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6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement
of financial position approximate their respective fair values.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The
following disclosures of fair value measurements use a fair
value hierarchy that categorises into three levels the inputs
to valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the Group can access
at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices
included within level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability,

either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or

liability.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of any of the three levels as of the date of the
event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

GoFintech Innovation Limited Annual Report 2024

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
mEMBHRERME (K)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F —F = =+—HIFFE

. AVEHE

RAMBRARARARRZ AEEE
MEEFTBRABZEAERES
BZRFERE-

AFERTE2EENRGFERESR
FREFHEEEMBIMKEZEE
BN ZEB U TRFEFER
BRAAFEER BARFERYF
BzHERNEABES S =EE
i

F—& KEBRFE
PN ¢ ERAERZ
RBEEEXEA

BRIERE™D S
RZRE (RE

BE) -

F; EESBEA
AR BERSEESR
B8 ABE
(E—&mBeR
ZERERIN) -

E= BEEXRAREZ
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AEEZBHRERNERERZEMH
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6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
mEMBHRERME (K)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z = F =pJF =H =+ —HIF&E

(Continued)

(i)

Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy

6. AF{EFTE »

i) X FPEBRKE

Fair value measurements using: Total
ATEFEER: @t
Description B Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
£-R E-R F=H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FTAET FTAET FTAET FTAET
Recurring fair value measurements: AEMLNTFEHE
Investments at FVTPL BRFEINABREZERE
At 31 March 2024 R-ZE-ME=A=+-H
- Equity securities listed in Hong Kong -REBLMZBRAES 86,908 - - 86,908
- Unlisted equity instruments —FEWRALA - - 79,769 79,769
~ Fund investments -EeRE 15,097 32,349 39,123 86,569
- Derivative financial instruments —TEEBIA 27 - - 27
102,032 32,349 118,892 253,273
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=5=A=+—H
- Equity securities listed in Hong Kong ~-REB LM ZREES 10,922 = = 10,922
- Unlisted equity instruments - FEMRATR S — 5,115 5,115
- Fund investments -HeRE = 30,590 24 831 55,421
- Derivative financial instruments —TEeRIA 33 = = 33
10,955 30,590 29,946 71,491
BEEAFBRAT —Z-_MNFEFRHR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

mEMBERRWE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F —F = =+—HIFFE

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 6. RFEFTE =
(Continued)
(ii) Reconciliation of assets measured at fair (i) RE="BAFEIEZEE
value based on level 3 ¥ AR
2024 2023
—E-E —T-=F
Equity
Investments Investments investments
Description il at FVTPL at FVTPL at FVTOCI
BRAFEIIA
BAFEIA  RAFEIA EiozENE
BER2RE BRKRIRE ZRERE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER AT THEL
At the beginning of the year REN 29,946 = 138
Total gains or losses recognised in RE&EER NS
profit or loss (#) BEERE®W 3,707 (594) -
Additions RNE 92,309 30,540 -
Disposals & (4,319) S (138)
Transfer % (1,173) - -
Exchange difference &5 E (1,578) = =
At the end of the year RER 118,892 29,946 =
(#) Include gains or losses for assets WEERRSRRME
held at the end of the reporting period BEZWGHER 3,156 (594) =

The total gains or losses recognised in profit or
loss including those for assets held at the end of
the reporting period are presented in net loss on
investments at FVTPL in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

GoFintech Innovation Limited Annual Report 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

(Continued)

(iii) Disclosure of valuation process used by the
Group and valuation techniques and inputs
used in fair value measurements at the end of

the reporting period

The Group’s chief financial officer is responsible for
the fair value measurements of assets and liabilities
required for financial reporting purposes, including level
3 fair value measurements. The chief financial officer
reports directly to the board of directors (the “Board”)
for these fair value measurements. Discussions of
valuation processes and results are held between the
chief financial officer and the Board at least twice a

year.

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group has a
team that manages the valuation exercise of level 3
financial instruments for financial reporting purposes.
The team manages the valuation exercise of the
investments on a case-by-case basis. At least twice
every year, the team would use valuation techniques to
determine the fair value of the Group’s level 3 financial

instruments.

Level 2 fair value measurements

e M BRRME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F - F = =+—HIFFE

6. AF{EFTE »

liii) ARERAZ2EERFUR

RBEMRAFEFERA
fEERNREABE

AEEMKEAERBERY R
SETHRZEERBENR
FEFE BERE=ZRQTE
AE-MBEAEREBEAFE
AEERRESS ([EEE])
BE WBRERESTEESF
ELETMABRAEERERFR
R o

RE=ZRAFEFEMS &
SERE-—RBNEEEE =R
TRTAZHBEIE KIEH
BHRERZ -/ AREAR
BREBEHEKREZMETLE
ZNHABFELIMRERGE
PMEBEEASREF=MERT
B2 R¥E-

FEZRRFEFE

Fair value
AVE
Description Valuation technique 2024 2023
LRl & {8 £ 1l —E-EF —ET-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT FHET
Fund investments Share of net assets 32,349 30,590

HeiRE DHEEFE

HZRMBRAR —E-ENFFR
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6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

(Continued)

(iii) Disclosure of valuation process used by the

Group and valuation techniques and inputs

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
mEMBHRERME (K)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F —F = =+—HIFFE

6. AEEFTE »

liii) AEBRA 2 EERFUR
RBEMRAFEFERA

used in fair value measurements at the end of fEE TR oA S (&)
the reporting period (Continued)
Level 3 fair value measurements FERAFETE
Effect on Fair value
fair value for AYE
Unobservable increase of 2024 2023
inputs inputs “ECME “F-=k

Valuation technique FUBE Range BAEEENZ HK$'000 HK$'000
fhERH BARE #E AVEZYE TEn TR
Investments at FVTPL
BROVESIARERRE
Unlisted equity instruments
FLTRAIA
Recent arm’s length transactions price N/A N/A N/A 79,769 1,173
TARTRAER TER TER T
Share of net assets N/A N/A N/A - 3,942
MAEEFE AiER LiER TER
Fund investments
Recent arm’s length transactions price N/A N/A N/A 15,735 -
TARTRHER @R @R TER
Share of net assets N/A N/A N/A 23,388 24 831
HMEEERE TEA TER T

During the year, there were no changes in the valuation

techniques used.

GoFintech Innovation Limited Annual Report 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
mEMBHRERME (K)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F - F = =+—HIFFE

7. REVENUE 7.

WA

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers: REEPEHZWADHF:
2024 2023
—E-mE el = %=
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET
Timing of revenue recognition U A i 52 B
Over time: BE b5 T -
Service income from corporate finance 1R E @& TS IRTE U A 4,719 5,444
Income from asset management business & E & I ¥ 115 WA 4,784 10,651
At a point in time: RE — BB -
Income from securities brokerage BABLEBFRA
business 33,385 2,913
Income from consultancy and insurance  BA T MR G &K 40 ES TS
brokerage business WA 534 700
Income from asset management business & E & I ¥ T 15 WA - 234
Income from equity investment business &R & E TS U A - 119
Revenue from contracts with customers RBEZEFE& 42 A 43,422 20,061
Margin interest revenue from securities B 5 & 4L E B TS
brokerage business R BEWA 1,492 4,071
Interest revenue from money lending WEEBHER B A
business 4,542 2,788
Interest revenue from equity investment XL E E TS F B I A
business - 23
Total revenue BN 49,456 26,943

COMMISSION INCOME FOR BROKERAGE
AND MARGIN FINANCING

The Group provides securities dealing and brokerage,
placing and underwriting services. Commission income from
securities dealing and brokerage, placing and underwriting
services is recognised at a point in time on the execution
date of the trades at a certain percentage of the transaction
value of the trades executed and the relevant placing and
underwriting are completed.

BERAFRBEZHEN

A

AR EREHE S
B 5H AR 7% - 8 55

EENER RER
BEERER KRER

BHEREZMERARRZHHITH
HeeRERRBEAATIBZZX
SEENMAERNBEEE REH

Z—EBDLER -

BHEAMBERRR

“E-MEER
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7. REVENUE (coniinveq)

ADVISORY SERVICES FOR ASSET
MANAGEMENT, EQUITY INVESTMENT
AND CORPORATE FINANCE SERVICES
INCOME

The Group provides advisory services for asset management,
equity investment and corporate finance services which
included advisory services and sponsor services. Depending
on the nature of the services and the contract terms, the
revenue for advisory service is recognised over time based
on the services transferred to customers up to date if one of
the following criteria is met:

— The customers simultaneously receive and consume
the benefits provided by the Group;

- The Group’s performance creates and enhances an
asset that the customers control as the asset is created
and enhanced; or

- The Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use and the Group has a right to
payment at an amount that reasonably compensates
it for its performance completed to date at all times
throughout the contract.

Otherwise, the revenue for advisory service is recognised in
time when the service is completed.

The Group treats all sponsor services promised in the
contract as a single performance obligation. In determining
the timing of satisfaction of the performance obligation, the
Group examines its services on contract basis and considers
that it has a right to payment at an amount that reasonably
compensates it for its performance completed to date at all
times throughout the contract.

Sponsor services are recognised over time during the course
of the work performed by the Group, with reference to the
time incurred compared with the time budget, which depict
the Group’s performance towards satisfying the performance
obligation.

GoFintech Innovation Limited Annual Report 2024

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
mEMBHRERME (K)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F —F = =+—HIFFE

7. WA =)

EEEZEBRE RER
BEREFEHBERERA

AEBRHEEEERBMMRE KR
BRERECERMERY B ERR
B RRBARS - RFREMEERE
WERME - WEA TIEP—BR
EBERRBOHBARLEZSERAETA
1R A B R 745 B ey ) e AR ¢
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A F &

- AEENBHNAIEIRATE
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7.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e M BRRME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F - F = =+—HIFFE

R EV E N U E (Continued)

REVENUE FOR CONSULTANCY AND
INSURANCE BROKERAGE

The Group provided consultancy services to customers. The
customers simultaneously receive and consume the benefits
provided by the Group, hence the revenue is recognised
over time based on the services transferred to customers up
to date.

The Group also provided insurance brokerage. Commission
income for insurance brokerage is recognised at a point in
time on execution date of the insurance contracts executed.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the Board, being the chief operating
decision maker, for the purpose of resources allocation and
assessment of segment performance is focus on the type
of services provided. No operating segments identified by
the chief operating decision maker have been aggregated in
arriving at the reportable segments of the Group.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable and operating segments
under HKFRS 8 are as follows:

1) The securities brokerage and margin financing segment
engages in securities brokerage and margin financing
in Hong Kong;

2) The corporate finance segment engages in the
provision of corporate finance services;

3) The money lending segment engages in the provision
of money lending services in Hong Kong;

4)  The consultancy and insurance brokerage segment
engages in the provision of consultancy service and
insurance brokerage in Hong Kong;

5) The asset management segment engages in the
provision of asset management and advisory services
to professional investors; and

6) The equity investment segment engages in the
management of financial investments.

7.

WA )

FE [ R AR B A5 70 2 WA

AEBEREFREBERRE - EFR
RIS IMERASERENN R E
bt AR E [ 4R AL AR %5 BE B
ﬁﬂﬁwu"

rEBNTRERREL RRELZ
REBARFEBEZREAEHNES
E%m%{.ﬁﬁ'ﬁ?ﬂ%ﬁﬁ&nmo

7 &b &

E’iﬁﬁ P BRI D HBRIRME - M
EEg(EEEERRAN)ER
BRTERRAARMERE 2 BRI -5
EEAEBZARENHE FTEE
BARARAFTHEE 2K E 5D I B4R
SR

HEMS AREREFEMBRSE
ERE8R 2 Al W& ML E DRI

1) BERBEMFRBE S RV
E%ﬁé% ERRLERTRAE

2) DBEBENEREMHfDE
ARTS

EmE

3 MEDE NEFEREHERBRER

7%

4) BEREFRBRELOH NEE
he A R ] AR S M AR IR A AL AR 7S

5) EEEEIH NHERMEER
ﬁ%%ﬁEL\/\FEEE&uDu/—JH&%
M

6) BEREDE:
EHE-

kEEMEE

BERHBRLAF —B-NFEFRH
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GoFintech Innovation Limited

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in
note 3 to the consolidated financial statements. Segment
results represent the results from each segment without
allocation of central operating expenses, office staff salaries,
directors’ emoluments, and other operating income. This is
the measure reported to the chief operating decision maker
for the purposes of resources allocation and performance
assessment. Inter-segment revenue are charged at prevailing
market prices.

Information regarding the above segments is reported below.

SEGMENT REVENUE AND RESULTS

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and
results by reportable and operating segments.

For the year ended 31 March 2024

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
mEMBHRRME (&

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F —F = =+—HIFFE

DEER 2

LENBZEFRREL S MK K
RIS FEBATR AR E 2 5T BERMER
MEAEREKRABT DR ZEE M
BEORPREEA - WAEETT
B EFEMEREMEERA TS
AETREERRARSAETER
DRERBFEZFEIE D BE
WATIRBITHENE -

D

BRALEDBZERZRNOT -

T EBRA R E A

ARERTRERGEH B2 2
WA REEHHMT -

BE-_E-_ME=A=+-—B8L%E
E

Securities Consultancy
brokerage and
and margin Corporate Money insurance Asset Equity Inter-segment
financing finance lending brokerage ~ management investment  Unallocated elimination ~ Consolidated
FHAER EBR
FRBE LERE i RREg BEEE RERE AOE  AREHY &4
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn
Revenue WA 34,817 4,719 4,542 534 4,784 - - - 49,456
Inter-Segment revenue ABERA 2,202 - - m - - - (2.279) -
Net losses on investments at FVTPL BRATEIAERE
REERTE (28) - - - - (3,459) - - (3,481)
Finance costs HERK K] - - - (10) - (1,989) - 2,002
Impairment loss of ight-of-use assets FHEREZNERS - - - - - - (6,140) - (6,140)
Others - (28,476) (7,508) (5,018) (807) (6,036) (3,791) (26,303) 2,219 (75,660)
Segment results PBEE 8,512 (2,789) (476) (196) (1,262) (7,244) (34,432) - (37,827)
Gain on bargain purchase of BN EERENG
an associate 9,676
Share of losses of associates EEBENTER (2,483)
Loss before tax RRHER (30,634)
Income tax expense FERRT (49)
Loss for the year FEEER (30,679)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
mEMBHRERME (K)

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z = F =pJF =H =+ —HIF&E

SEGMENT REVENUE AND RESULTS

(Continueq)

For the year ended 31 March 2023

8.

AN

)

HER 2
DEBMA RFELE ()

BE-_B_="f=A=+t—-HL¥#F

E
Securities Consultancy
brokerage and
and margin Corporate Money insurance Asset Equity Inter-segment

financing finance lending brokerage  management investment ~ Unallocated elimination  Consolidated

FHELR BHR
FRRE tERE il REREL BEER RiERE RAR  HUEEE &
HK$000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
T Thn Thn Thn T Thn Thn TEn T
Revenue WA 6,984 5,444 2,788 700 10,885 142 - - 26,943
Inter-segment revenue AFERA 03 2,950 - 113 - - - (23,366) -

Net gains/(losses) on investments RAFEIINESERL

at FVTPL REZ MG/ (BR)SE 2 : - - [£642) (10) (4,630)
Finance costs HENA i] - - (1) (5,124) - (5,136)
Impairment loss of ight-of-use assets FREAEZRERER - - - - (801) (204 = (1,008}
Others i (19,736) (13948) (5793) (880) (10,164) (649) (48,086) 23,366 (75.890)
Segment results ARRE (12,428) 14,446 (3008) (67) o) (5149) (53.424) - (59,718)
Share of profits of associates ELBELTE 8%
Loss before tax BRAEE (58,869)
Income tax credit fEkEs 8
Loss for the year FEEER (58,855

HEAMAERRR —E-EFEH

21



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

A

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F —F = =+—HIFFE

PR M (&)

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea)

SEGMENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

DEER 2

TEEERER

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and AEBBRIABERKEEDEZ5 2
liabilities by reportable and operating segments: BERBEIWHOT:
2024 2023
—E-NE —E=F
HK$’000 HK$' 000
FET FAET
Segment assets DEEE
Securities brokerage and margin BHERERAFRRE
financing 312,616 220,225
Corporate finance TERME 4,231 3,821
Money lending WE 123,212 25,574
Consultancy and insurance brokerage BERE AR B & 42 1,378 1,337
Asset management BEEER 8,955 11,692
Equity investment P& 1% & 257,708 82,758
Total segment assets DEEELE 708,100 345,407
Interests in associates AR/ o e 112,898 99,647
Unallocated R 271,193 30,707
Consolidated total assets REEEHE 1,092,191 475,761
Segment liabilities pEHEE
Securities brokerage and margin BAEKLERFFRERE
financing 276,170 137,616
Corporate finance TERE 84 167
Money lending AR 38 —
Consultancy and insurance brokerage BER AR B K 4 244 209
Asset management EEEE 2,186 3,000
Equity investment RERE 146 114
Total segment liabilities nEBEERE 278,868 141,106
Unallocated Ko 26,480 38,186
Consolidated total liabilities mERERE 305,348 179,292

GoFintech Innovation Limited Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
= /Zl-z%ﬁ'%%lzfj.?(mﬁ)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 2 =F =pJF =HF =+ —HIFFZ

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea) 8. 7EEF &)
SEGMENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES DEEEREE (#)

(Continueq)

MEEDRE RS
MBS :

o B EE R

For the purpose of monitoring segment performance and

allocating resources between segments:

RET - RBRELEHRENMER
*“1 Eﬁﬂ#m?ﬂﬁ% N

NAlZ AT EH MR
B -RZeEBENREBEAERET
prepayments and certain bank balances and cash - AT 2*?%&5,%6——1%{{ GNP

° all assets are allocated to operating segments other °
than certain property and equipment for general
operations, other non-current assets, interests in
associates, certain other receivables, deposits and

general; and EEEEPRELENI &
e all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other e KBRETHEMENRBERESTE

ETHERE AREBEFR
R EREIN MERER

aN @E = g«< AL N _L|g

than certain other payables and accruals, certain lease
liabilities, corporate bonds and current tax liabilities.

w7 22
OTHER SEGMENT INFORMATION Hith7 i &+
Securities Consultancy and
brokerage and insurance
margin financing Corporate finance Money lending brokerage Asset management Equity investment Unallocated Consolidated
BFEERARER bERE hiE EARRRES EEEE BERE 98 &4

0% 20 202 0 202 0 20 2023 202 2023 20 2023 20 2023 20 2023
CRIRE CRCZE CRoPF CBoSE ZRCRE CRocE ZRCRE CRoSF CRCRE CPCCF CRoRE CPCZF CRoRF CBSE CRoRF CRocE
HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKSOOD  HKSO00  HKS000  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKS000  HKSOOD  HKSO00  HK$000
T Fin T Fin T Fin k¥ 7 Fin T Fin T Fin T Fin T Fin

Amounts included in the measure of - Wit EAHERH AT

seqment results or segment assets:  SEEHAZAE
Additons to right-of-use asses FREAERE - - - - - o - o - 801 - - 22,658 204 22,658 1,005
Bad debt wrten-off on radeand & AREMENFEL

other recevables HERE - - - - - - - 3 - 182 - - - 1 - 136
Depreciation it 1 - S - S - S - S - = - S 1,888 S 1,888 a
ECL on trae receivebles BRRUNEN EREEEE 2674 10279 96 153 - - - - - - - - - - 3640 1181
ECL on loan receivables EhE ESEERR - - - - 239 4,906 - - - - - - - - 2394 4908
The amounts regularly provided to the chief operating HE_Z_NFRK_ZE_=ZF=A

_—f- EIJJ:EWIEF EHRmEEE

decision maker but not included in the measure of segment

results or segment assets are not material for both years
ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

BERRANRMEL ET AR EE
I MBEEFEZHBALTEK

HEAMAERRR —E-EFEH
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea)

INFORMATION ABOUT MAJOR CUSTOMERS

Revenue from customers which individually contributed over
10% of the Group’s revenue during the years ended 31
March 2024 and 2023 is as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
mEMBHRERME (K)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F —F = =+—HIFFE

DEER 2
FEEFEZEHF

BE_Z_NFE-_ZE-_=ZF=A
=t+—HILFE RKaHEAEERKA
BEE10% A EZ2@ERERE ZWA
U N

2024 2023

e -3 —F==
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Customer 1 A 5,779 &
Customer 2 ®F2 5,670 &
Customer 3 X3 s 5,155
Customer 4 B P4 * 2,873

The revenue contributed from customers 1 and 2 are derived from
the securities brokerage business, customers 3 and 4 are derived
from the asset management business.

* The corresponding revenue did not individually contribute over
10% of the Group’s revenue or did not have any transactions
in the respective years.

GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

The Group’s operations are mainly located and carried out in
Hong Kong. Accordingly, no geographical information related
to revenue has been presented. The following table sets
out information about the Group’s property and equipment
and right-of-use assets, other non-current assets (excluded
regulatory deposits) and interests in associates (“specified
non-current assets”). The geographical location of the
specified non-current assets is based on the physical
location of the asset (in the case of property and equipment
and right-of-use assets), and the location of operations
(in the case of other non-current assets and interests in
associates).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
mEMBHRERME (K)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z = F =pJF =H =+ —HIF&E

EER (2
h BB & Y ()

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea)
GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION (continueq)

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET F&E T
Hong Kong a5 123,135 84,946
The PRC H 11,003 21,311
134,138 106,257
\‘_r
OTHER INCOME, NET 9. HMW A FE
2024 2023
—ENE —EZ=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET F&E T
Interest revenue from financial institutions 4 &b ## F| 2 g A 7,259 1,359
Exchange (loss)/gain, net BN (BR) 558 (279) 128
Gain on bargain purchase of BERNFIcEEBRE K=
an associate 9,676 -
Sundry income (note) MEUWA () 1,016 1,843
17,672 3,330
Note: During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group WiE: HE—_ZT-_mF=ZA=+—H

recognised government grants of HK$756,000 in respect IEFE-
of setting up of open-ended fund companies in Hong
Kong. During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group
recognised government grants of HK$1,260,000 in respect
of COVID-19-related subsidies in relation to Employment & 7

Support Scheme provided by the Hong Kong government.

RETERE

REBREREREKL
AR E QB RSB
756,000 T HEZ-T ==
FZAZ+—BLHEE &&
B8 BT 6 B
1,260,000/ 7T * 5% f B JH B A 7

BT REN R ETBER-

HEAMAERRR —E-EFEH

215



216

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

mEMBERRWE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F —F = =+—HIFFE

10.FINANCE COSTS

10. 74 & K 2~

2024 2023
—E_ME —E =4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Interests on lease liabilities HERGZHE 269 194
Interests on loan payables and others ENERZFERE 3 1,714
Interests on corporate bonds NEfEHZHE 1,730 3,228
2,002 5,136
11.LOSS BEFORE TAX 1M.BRBLATES 18
The Group’s loss before tax is stated after charging the AEBWBRBAIEEIEHMBRUAT
following: FHEEZEZY:
2024 2023
—E-NE —EZ=F
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
B 3E FET FAT
Other operating expenses: HgEmx:
Auditor’s remuneration ZEET N &
— Audit services — % Bk 75 800 980
— Non-audit services — IEZER 240 270
Announcement and listing fee NERETER 1,134 592
Bad debt written-off on B 5 M H M EWRRIEZ
trade and other receivables MR R - 136
Bank charges fﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ 133 104
Computer expenses BIKER 1,207 1,226
Depreciation e 16 1,888 —
Entertainment JiE Bl & 707 1,084
Information and communication fee =B NBEME 1,373 1,429
Short-term lease expenses HHHEERX 100 234
Legal and professional fee 52&)325%%? 6,387 2,923
Membership fee 28 E8A 42 561
Rates and building management fee ZfiiNMIEFEEE 808 831
Telecommunication fee BEE 319 370
Transaction costs R58 3,016 42
Travelling expenses ZIRFAX 413 660
Other expenses EMREX 2,602 2,474
Total 5t 21,169 13,916
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

11.LOSS BEFORE TAX (continueq)

e M BRRME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z = F =pJF =H =+ —HIF&E

M.BRBIBIE B (=)

2024 2023
—E-UF —_F-=
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B & FET FAET
Staff costs: BIRA:
- Directors’ emoluments -EEWMe 13 7,336 8,259
— Salaries and allowance - ¥re MOERL
(excluding Directors) (TERES) 28,595 34,857
— Equity-settled share-based - UEREE 2RO
payments (excluding Directors) (T"BEEESE) 292 &
— Retirement benefit scheme - RIRAE N ET B K
contributions (excluding Directors) (T"EREES) 1,110 1,258
37,333 44,374
Less: Staff costs included in R AR A R H A
cost of brokerage and RIS A 2
other services B T KA (1,599) (1,799)
35,734 42,575
/B
12.INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) 12.Fi8HMx% (%)
2024 2023
—E_MEF —F-=
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHER FAET
Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax BNEAFR B - BB F 1S
— Under/(over) provision in prior years -BEFEREBEIRS
(HBEERE) 38 ®)
Current tax — PRC Enterprise Income Tax ~ BNEAFIIE —sh B> AT 15
— provision for the year - RNEE R 7 =
Total income tax expense/(credit) FBfAY/ (K&) B 45 8)

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at 16.5% (2023:
16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for the year
ended 31 March 2024.

HE_ZT-_WF=ZA=+—HLHF
EEENSHBEBRFERNMGE
EHMBEANZ166% (T - =4
16.5% ) 4 ©

HEAMAERRR —E-EFEH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

IIVi\

PR M (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F —F = =+—HIFFE

12.INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT)

(Continued)

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of
operations in the PRC was calculated at the tax rate of 25%
on the estimated assessable profits for the year ended 31
March 2024, based on existing legislation, interpretation and
practices in respect thereof. No income tax provision for the
year ended 31 March 2023 as the Group did not generate
any assessable profits arising in the PRC during that year.

The tax charge for the years can be reconciled to the loss
before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income as follows:

12.Fi 88 (ER)

(%)

HE_T-_WFEF=ZA=+—HItHF
B AEERFREKELOAEH
BEDREBERELZE REREM
5T FE R B 0% Fll#%25% BB R+ & -
HRAEBERBEE_T_=ZF=A
T+ BALEEYERPEELT
MEZRFREF WA EREZFEIED
FriS il o

FEMBARXAREARE MNEM
EERERZETATERERANT

2024 2023
—E-WE —E_=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Loss before tax PRt A& B (30,634) (58,863)
Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of EEAENEHE16.5%
16.5% (2023: 16.5%) (ZE=Z=%:16.5%)
R ZBIE (5,055) (9,712)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible N MBS 2B & 2,406 190
Tax effect of incomes not taxable RRMBAZH B2 (3,611) (836)
Tax effect of share of losses/(profits) of ~ JE/G B & N &) 58,7
associates Ca A 2 T 7% 52 2 410 (141)
Under/(over) provision in respect of BEFEREBETR/
prior years (EBEER A ) 38 (8)
Effect of different tax rates of REMBEREREE
subsidiaries operating in MEBARTREBE 2
other jurisdictions A 143 (198)
Utilisation of tax losses not recognised B BAFERER L
in previous years I e E (470) (2,337)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised  AERMIEEBEBZ MG 2 6,184 13,034
Income tax expense/(credit) for the year FEREHEAX (E%) 45 (8)

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had estimated unused
tax losses of HK$914,036,000 (2023: HK$880,170,000)
available for offset against future profits which may be
carried forward indefinitely, the estimated unused tax losses
are subject to the agreement by the Hong Kong Inland
Revenue Department. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of such estimated unused tax losses
due to unpredictability of future profit streams.
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12.INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT)

13.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Continued)

e M BRRME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z = F =pJF =H =+ —HIF&E

As at 31 March 2024, estimated unused tax losses of
HK$12,125,000 (2023: HK$17,704,000) attributable to
certain subsidiaries in the PRC will expire in 2025 to 2029

(20283: 2024 to 2028).

DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST
PAID EMPLOYEES" EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments, disclosed pursuant to the applicable

Listing Rules, are as follows:

12.

13.

Fresibx, (ER)

(%)

RZE-ZWMEF=A=+—H 'k8%+
BETHBARZEFAREARIE
E51812,125,0008 T (Z T == F:
17,704,0008 L) R TR F &
TENF(ZE=F:2F@M
FE_ZTZ)\F)HH-

EENTEEREFREE
Z M=

BEEANLETRAUNEEHRENE
EMew T

Year ended 31 March 2024

BZ-Z-MEZA=t+-HLEE

Retirement
Salaries Equity-settled benefit
and other  share-based scheme
Name of directors Fees benefits payments contributions Total
ek UEHREE BIER
£33 we HiRA 2ROXA HE L3 @it
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
TER TER TR TER TER
Executive Directors HITEE
LIU Zhiwei (note a) MER (Mia) 110 3,190 - 17 3,317
LIU Haoyuan (note b) M2E (Fisp) 56 334 - 8 398
SUN Qing %5 120 965 14 18 1,117
Non-executive Directors FRTES
HAN Hanting BHE 180 32 = 11 223
HUA Yang (note c) 25 (Misc) 125 1,385 - 17 1,527
LI Chunguang (note d) &K (Witd) 26 - - - 26
NIE Riming (note &) Z0EH (Mite) 76 - - - 76
Independent non-executive Directors ~ BUXHTES
CHAN Kin Sang (note REE (M3l 196 - - - 196
CHIU Kung Chik i YNE] 180 - - - 180
LI Gaofeng E3 180 - - - 180
LUI Mei Ka (note g) ExE (Mitg) 96 - - - 96
1,345 5,906 14 14| 7,336

AEANERAT —B-HETR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

mEMBERRWE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F —F = =+—HIFFE

13.DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST

PAID EMPLOYEES" EMOLUMENTS

(Continued)

Directors’ emoluments, disclosed pursuant to the applicable
Listing Rules, are as follows: (Continued)

13.%%&35%%%%1&5

[ A D)
BEERAN L TRETRENE
EWEmMT: (&)

Year ended 31 March 2023
BE-Z--F=-A=+-HLEE

Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other scheme
Name of directors Fees benefits contributions Total
Hek  RAEN
Espsg we  HeERN  FEMHfX @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT AT FET TEx
Executive Directors HTESE
LIU Zhiwei (note a) MER (MFa) 73 2,124 12 2,209
XIE Zhichun (note h) RS (Fisn) 47 1,837 7 1,891
HUA Yang (note c) # (Miatc) 3 32 2 37
LIU Haoyuan (note b) ME& (Mso) 142 203 6 351
SUN Qing %E 120 910 18 1,048
ZHU Yi (note i) K (HI3ED) 55 962 9 1,026
Non-executive Directors FHITES
CHEN Zhiwei (note j) REE (F5E)) 203 = = 203
HAN Hanting BHE 396 33 12 441
WU Ling (note k) R& (MsEk) 295 — - 295
Independent non-executive Directors BUEHTES
CHAN Kin Sang (note f) R4 (MaES) 198 — - 198
CHIU Kung Chik YN 198 - - 198
LI Gaofeng TRl 198 - - 198
LIU Xin (note K) 21 (FisEk) 106 - - 106
ZHAO Gen (note ) MR (HEED) 58 — - 58
2,092 6,101 66 8,259
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e M BRRME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F - F = =+—HIFFE

13.DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST
PAID EMPLOYEES" EMOLUMENTS

(Continued)

Directors’ emoluments, disclosed pursuant to the applicable
Listing Rules, are as follows: (Continued)

Notes:

(@) Appointed as an executive director and chairman of the
Board with effect from 22 August 2022 and resigned as an
executive director and chairman of the Board with effect from
28 February 2024.

(o)  Appointed as a non-executive director with effect from 22
August 2022, re-designated from a non-executive director to
an executive director with effect from 29 November 2022 and
retired as an executive director with effect from 19 September
2023.

()  Appointed as the chief executive officer of the Company
with effect from 4 January 2023, appointed as an executive
director with effect from 24 March 2023, re-designated from
an executive director to a non-executive director and resigned
as the chief executive director with effect from 28 February
2024.

(d)  Appointed as a non-executive director with effect from 8
February 2024.

(e)  Appointed as a non-executive director with effect from 30
October 2023.

) Appointed as the chairman of the Board with effect from 28
February 2024.

(g0 Appointed as an independent non-executive director with
effect from 19 September 2023.

13.EENTBRESHEES

ZWE =)

REEANELTRAAKERENE
EMemT: (&)

B & -

(@ RZZE_—FNA-+-_HEZFE
BHRITEESRESTSER HER
ZEZWMFE_AZF N\BBENTT
EEREFTEEIR-

by RZZEZ—FNAZ+-_HEZF
RIEVTES R Z_F+—
ARZ+hBHIERTESTHATA
WTES ABRZ-ZT=FN1A
+HBEERIHITES-

() EA_Y__i AMAEZEAR
NRABERWTE RZEZ=F=
AZ+HBEZEANTES K
ZEZWMF_AZFT/\BHHWTE
ERTEIINTESTERITEER
18-

d RZZE-_WNF-_A-+/\BEZFT
BIERITES -

) MZZE_=F1+A=+HEZETA
EMITES -

H RZE-WNF-_A-+/\BEZEFT

@@ R-ZZB_=ZFNLATILBEERZER
BILFRITES-

HZRMBRAR —E-ENFFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
mEMBHRRME (&

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F —F = =+—HIFFE

13.DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST 13.EERNTEBREHERS

PAID EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS 2 E =)

(Continued)

Directors’ emoluments, disclosed pursuant to the applicable BEEANLEITMRAUBTCEENE

Listing Rules, are as follows: (Continued) EfEwT: (&)

Notes: (Continued) Misx: (&)

()  Resigned all his offices in the Company with effect from 22 h R-ZZE_—_FNA-+-—HHETH
August 2022. RARE 2 BB -

()  Resigned all his offices in the Company with effect from 15 () RZZEZZFHAATHABFTER
September 2022. KRR ZHBEE-

)  Removed all his offices in the Company with effect from 11 ) RKRZZE—_ZF+—A+—HHEER
November 2022. Detail refer to announcement dated 11 RARBIZFERB -FHEREL2H
November 2022. HRER-_Z_—_#+—A+—HZ

N

(k) Retired all his offices in the Company with effect from 27 K RZEZ_—_FhALAZ-t+tBEFTH
September 2022. RARRZ BB

()  Appointed as an independent non-executive director with ) RZEZZFNAZ+ZHEZ
effect from 22 August 2022 and resigned all his offices in the FRBEBIIDTEST HER-Z
Company with effect from 7 December 2022. TZE+TZRAEHABAERAEARR

BB -

There was no arrangement under which any directors waived BHE_ZT-_MFEFR-_ZT_=F=A4

or agreed to waive any remunerations for the years ended =T—BLFE BEANEEHE

31 March 2024 and 2023. FRAEMEEAME 2L HE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e M BRRME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F - F = =+—HIFFE

13.DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST

PAID EMPLOYEES" EMOLUMENTS

(Continued)

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in
the Group for the year included, two (2023: two) directors
of the Company whose emoluments are reflected in the
analysis presented above. The emoluments of the remaining
three (2023: three) individuals during the year are as follows:

BEENTIERSHES

ZWE =)

FRALAEELEESFALTER
ME(ZCE_=F - MB)ARAE
EREZMEER LA Z oM
ARER - FRBT=ZA(ZT=F:
=N ZBEmT

2024 2023
—E-_NEF —E=-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET F&E T
Salaries, allowances and other benefits #r & ~ & 8 & H i 18 7 4,650 6,368
Discretionary bonuses 155 75 4L 1,903 79
Compensations — contractual HE-—BEHM - 841
Equity-settled share-based payments A& E ~ B X 5 -
Retirement benefit scheme BRIREFIFTEH R

contributions 35 50
6,593 7,338

The emoluments fell within the following bands: BN LA T EE :

Number of individuals
A

2024 2023

—E-NE —EF-=F

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T 2= 1,500,0007% JT 1 =
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T £2,000,000/% 7T - 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,0017% 7T £2,500,0007% 7T 1 =
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,0017% 7T 23,000,000/ 7T - 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,0017% 7T £3,500,0007% 7T 1 1

3 3

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the
directors or highest paid individual as inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office
for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

BHE-_ZT-_MNMFEFR-_ZT-_=F=A4
=+—HLEFE AEEHBEZAH
ETERNESHAESHTALERT
EMBEXNBEREER 2 REISE
REER S -

HZRMBRAR —E-ENFFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

mEMBERRWE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F —F = =+—HIFFE

14.DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed during the year ended 31
March 2024, nor has any dividend been proposed since the

end of the reporting year (2023: nil).

15.LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the

14. 18 B

BE_T_MEF=A=+—HItF
EHERNIEZRNEMRE B

AFEFERURMEZZ RS T
MEB(ZE_=F &) -

15. 5RE#E

ARRBEEAREZERERN L #
SBER DIRATBURAE

following:
2024 2023
—E_MEF —F-=
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FERT FHET
Loss BB
Loss for the purpose of calculating basic REFESRERR
and diluted loss per share BEERZER (30,679) (58,855)
2024 2023
—E-mE =
’000 000
T T &
(Restated)
(&%)
Number of shares BB EE
Weighted average number of ordinary REATEERER K
shares for the purpose of calculating BEEE T Ek
basic and diluted loss per share INHE 15 8k 3,381,332 2,074,438

The weighted average number of ordinary shares of
2,074,438,000 for the year ended 31 March 2023 was
adjusted to reflect the rights issue completed on 8 February
2024. No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings
per share amounts presented in respect of a dilution as the

HE-_ZT-_=f=A=+—HI1I*F
[E 2 &R hnkE 9 2i2,074,438,000
BREERAZREARRNR - _MF
ZANBEKZER - BRARITED
BREAARBINE  BARAR

impact of the share options outstanding had an anti-dilutive BHE_ZT-_NEFR-ZTE=-=F=AH4

effect and the Company did not have any dilutive potential
ordinary share during the years ended 31 March 2024 and

2028.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
mEMBHRERME (K)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z = F =pJF =H =+ —HIF&E

16.PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AND 16.ERFZBURERRE
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS BE

Property and equipment
NERZE
Leasehold Office Motor  Right-of-use
improvements equipment vehicles assets Total
HENELE WAZRME RE ERERE EH)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET FAT TAL TAETL
(Note)
(FzE)
Cost 2
At 1 April 2022 W-E-—#MA—H 4,984 1,144 1,462 18,733 26,323
Additions AE - = - 1,005 1,005
Disposals/written off HE /M - - - (1,561) (1,561)
At 31 March 2023 and RZZ-=F=A=+-A
1 April 2023 B-E-=EMA-A 4,984 1,144 1,462 18,177 25,767
Additions NE - - - 22,658 22,658
Disposals/written off e/ - - - (17,172) (17,172)
At 31 March 2024 R=2B-ME=A=1-A 4,984 1,144 1,462 23,663 31,253
Accumulated depreciation and Bt TERAE
impairment
At 1 April 2022 W-E-—#MA—H 4,984 1,144 1,462 18,733 26,323
Eliminated on disposals/written off &85 % 85 /1§ - - - (1,561) (1,561)
Impairment loss recognised ERAREER - - - 1,005 1,005
At 31 March 2023 and R-F-=F=A=+-A
1 April 2023 B-E-=£EMA-A 4,984 1,144 1,462 18,177 25,767
Provided for the year ERAE - - - 1,888 1,888
Eliminated on disposals/written off &8 ¥ 8 /Hl 3 - - - (17,172) (17,172)
Impairment loss recognised BHRARESE - - - 6,140 6,140
At 31 March 2024 R=B2-mE=ZA=+-AH 4,984 1,144 1,462 9,033 16,623
Carrying amount RHEE
At 31 March 2024 R=B-mE=A=+-H - - - 14,630 14,630
At 31 March 2023 RZB_=f=A=t-H - - - - -
Note: Lease agreements are typically made for fixed periods of 2 Mak: HEBENETHRBE R2E
to 3 years. Lease term is negotiated on an individual basis, SFE-THAR BRI R ERER I
does not impose any covenant and the leased assets may EHENERRE BHEEET
not be used as security for borrowing purposes. B RAEERER -
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16.PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AND

RIGHT-0OF-USE ASSETS (continueq)
IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT

Corporate finance

At the end of the reporting period, the management
performed an impairment assessment on right-of-use assets
relating to the corporate finance operation (the “Corporate
Finance CGU”) as the management concluded there was
indication for impairment due to the challenging business
environment and prudent behaviours of the investors as a
result of global capital market downturn.

The recoverable amount of the Corporate Finance CGU of
HK$313,000 has been determined based on value in use
calculation using cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by the management covering five-year
period, zero growth rate is applied to extrapolate the cash
flows beyond five-year period from 31 March 2024 and
2023. This growth rate is based on the relevant industry
growth forecasts and does not exceed the average long-
term growth rate for the relevant industry. The discount
rate applied to the cash flow projections is 14.39% (2023:
14.39%) as at 31 March 2024. Other key assumptions for
the value in use calculation related to the estimation of cash
inflows and outflows which include budgeted sales and
budgeted net profit margin. This estimation is determined
based on the unit’'s past performance and management’s
expectation for the market development.

Based on the result of the assessment, an impairment of
HK$5,400,000 (2023: HK$82,000) has been recognised in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
mEMBHRERME (K)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F —F = =+—HIFFE

16,918 R 3R 1 LA R 55 4

B (#)
L
trEmE

RBEMR EEEHECERER
BERNEREEE ([RXMER
EELEBEM)ETTRERNMG T
AEREBREARABEERER
MG RXEHREETAEER BE
BRA/TFEMETR -

tEBERSELAEUNATKRD S
#E313,0008 L IR EBEFAEEFE
B EMAZReREREMNDE
REEBEEH EREAFHE 28
HEE FTRASHREEEE-F
—WNERTE_=F=A=+—H
RAFHEENREERE  HIEREK
DERBEBITEZERBABEE T
SHBAMBTECTFHARAEREK.
R-ZZE-WNFE=ZA=+—8 #H 8RR
EmEMAMIEREER14.390% (=
T =F:1439%) - EFAEE
FFAZEMFEZERRERRTAR
M (PIEEREEEEREEAERNE)
BfEEt B ZMst DIRBZENL 2
BARBALERBEYMBSER2TE
HA i 7€ ©

BREIGER REBEZEIARE
5,400,000 7T ( — & — = 4 : 82,000
BIT) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e M BRRME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F - F = =+—HIFFE

16.PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AND

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continueq)
IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT (continueq)

Asset management

At the end of the reporting period, the management
performed an impairment assessment on right-of-use assets
relating to the asset management operation (the “Asset
Management CGU”) as the management concluded
there was indication for impairment due to the challenging
business environment and prudent behaviours of the
investors as a result of global capital market downturn.

The recoverable amount of Asset Management CGU of
HK$740,000 has been determined based on a value in use
calculation using cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by the management covering five-year
period, zero growth rate is applied to extrapolate the cash
flows beyond five-year period from 31 March 2024 and
2023. This growth rate is based on the relevant industry
growth forecasts and does not exceed the average long-
term growth rate for the relevant industry. The discount
rate applied to the cash flow projections is 14.08% (2023:
14.08%) as at 31 March 2024. Other key assumptions for
the value in use calculation related to the estimation of cash
inflows and outflows which include budgeted sales and
budgeted net profit margin. This estimation is determined
based on the unit’'s past performance and management’s
expectation for the market development.

Based on the result of the assessment, an impairment of
HK$740,000 (2023: HK$806,000) has been recognised in
profit or loss.

16,913 T2 3% 1 LA % 55 4

E e
Jab 18 51 (%)
EEEE

\REHR EEECHREREEE
BXHGcEREEE ([EEEER
EELEEBEM|)ETRENG H
REBRBEAMRBAREZHKER
MGRXEHREETAEER BE
BRA/TFEMETR -

EEERHcEAEMN 2T RE €
ﬁmmm%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ@%%
B EMAZReREENDE
Fméﬁﬁﬁ&uﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁzw
HEE HAZHREREFG -2
—HER-E-_ZF=ZA=Z+—H
RRAFHEENREERE  HIERE
DERBEBEITEZERBAEE T
HBAMBTEC TR RE.
RZZE-_ME=ZA=+—8 #8358
EMEMAMELIE X 514.08% (=
T =F:14.08%) T EFEREE
%%ZE@IKE“EEQWA&
mE(BREBEHERBEMFX)
BfEEt A ZMst DRBZENL 2
BAXRBALERBEYMSER2TE
HA i 5E ©

ﬁﬁﬁﬁi%‘ﬂﬁ*ﬁ%ﬁ@

740,000/ 70 ( =& — = 4 : 806,000
BIT) o
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16.PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AND

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continueq)
IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT (continued)
Money lending

At the end of the reporting period, the management
performed an impairment assessment on right-of-use
assets relating to the money lending operation (the “Money
lending CGU”) as the management concluded there may
be indication for impairment due to the challenging business
environment and prudent behaviours of the investors as a
result of global capital market downturn.

The recoverable amount of Money lending CGU of
HK$1,657,000 has been determined based on a value in use
calculation using cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by the management covering five-year
period, zero growth rate is applied to extrapolate the cash
flows beyond five-year period from 31 March 2024 and
2023. This growth rate is based on the relevant industry
growth forecasts and does not exceed the average long-
term growth rate for the relevant industry. The discount
rate applied to the cash flow projections is 11.93% (2023:
11.93%) as at 31 March 2024. Other key assumptions for
the value in use calculation related to the estimation of cash
inflows and outflows which include budgeted sales and
budgeted net profit margin. This estimation is determined
based on the unit’'s past performance and management’s
expectation for the market development.

Based on the result of the assessment, an impairment of
HK$nil (2023: HK$20,000) has been recognised in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
mEMBHRERME (K)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F —F = =+—HIFFE

16,918 R 3R 1 LA R 55 4

E e
JB1E 1 ()
mE

RBEEHR EEBCREREBRER
BeEREEE ((REREELE
) ETRESNE DTERERR
BRMEBIAR 2IRE AR5 E %K
BYREETRARR EEERRA
REFERENR -

WEREEESEM 2 KE £ 5
1,657,000 T HIRIBEFEAEEFE
EE EMAZREREEANDE
REEBREH EREAFHE 28
HEE HATHREEEE -
—TNER-E-_=f=A=+—8
RAFHEENREERE  HIERE
DERBEBEITEZERBABEE T
HRBAMRBITEZFHRAKRE .
R-_ZE-_WME=ZA=+—8 " #AR%
EREFMAMBIEXB11.93% (=
T =F:11.93%) T EFRHEE
FFTAZEMEFEZERRERRAR
nmb (ERBEREHERBEMAFX)
BfEEt A ZMst DIRBZENL 2
BAXRBALERBEYHMSERZTE
HA i 5E ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e M BRRME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F - F = =+—HIFFE

16.PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AND

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continueq)
IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT (continueq)

Brokerage and margin financing

At the end of the reporting period, the management
performed an impairment assessment on right-of-use
assets relating to the brokerage and margin financing
operation (the “Brokerage and margin financing CGU”")
as the management concluded there may be indication for
impairment due to the challenging business environment and
prudent behaviours of the investors as a result of Hong Kong
capital market downturn.

The recoverable amount of Brokerage and margin financing
CGU of HK$12,660,000 has been determined based on a
value in use calculation using cash flow projections based
on financial budgets approved by the management covering
five-year period, zero growth rate is applied to extrapolate
the cash flows beyond five-year period from 31 March 2024
and 2023. This growth rate is based on the relevant industry
growth forecasts and does not exceed the average long-
term growth rate for the relevant industry. The discount
rate applied to the cash flow projections is 14.08% (2023:
14.08%) as at 31 March 2024. Other key assumptions for
the value in use calculation related to the estimation of cash
inflows and outflows which include budgeted sales and
budgeted net profit margin. This estimation is determined
based on the unit’'s past performance and management’s
expectation for the market development.

Based on the result of the assessment, an impairment of
HK$nil (2023: HK$82,000) has been recognised for the year
ended 31 March 2024.

16,913 T2 3% 1 LA % 55 4

E e
BT (&)
RERITFRME

SRR BEEEENBBEELK
HFREEXB2ERAREE ([RL
RFRBERESELEM])ETRE
B TR E IR IR T M DL BUA
&%5%ﬁ$ﬁi%ﬁt§@l&ﬁ%ﬁ
REER EEER R EFHERED
%o

KR hkfERERSEAEMN 2T
U [21 € %812,660,0005% 7T JH 1R ¥ {5 A
BEFEET FEMACHRER
EEANDERKEREMARE R
FHE2WBEE KATERXE
HEE-ZT-_NMER-_T=-=F=A8
—+t—HEAFHRENRESRE
HEEERDENREBTXEZERTE
REE TEBAMERTEZTHEER
HERR - N T _NFE=ZA=+—
B #HARSAEMANBERE
14.08% (Z T == :14.08% ) ° &T
EFREEMACEMEIERSRSE
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HEFE)NGFTBEB-ZET TR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
mEMBHRERME (K)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F —F = =+—HIFFE

17.0THER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 17.HMERBEE
2024 2023
—E-_ME —E_-=
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B &E FH&xT FETT

Club membership =5 (a) 6,610 6,610

Regulatory deposits ETEERE (b) 684 205

Intangible asset BEAE () - -

7,294 6,815

Notes: B 5 -

(a)  The Group’s club membership is assessed as having indefinite (@ AEEMmeERHTITAEEERT
useful life because there is no time limit that the Group can FRFH FRAAAEETZEXZ
enjoy the services provided by those clubs. L2 FTHe 4 A PR 7% T2 48 5 R R 1 o

(o)  The regulatory deposits were made with the Stock Exchange b) EEEREABRASERESZZR
and HKSCC, in relation to the Group’s regulated businesses BEBRBIM MR BEERE
in Hong Kong. i o

(¢) Intangible Asset () EEEE

License right

18 BB &
HK$’000
FTET
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023, R-ZT-_=—FWA—A-
1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024 —E-=ZF=ZA=+—8"
—E_=FmMA—AK
—E-_mME=A=+—H
Cost N 2,261
Accumulated impairment RETRE (2,261)

Carrying amount BREE =
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e M BRRME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z = F =pJF =H =+ —HIF&E

17.0THER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

(Continued)

(c)

Intangible Asset (Continued)

The intangible asset represents a license right acquired as
part of a business combination of a subsidiary. The license
carries a right to conduct asset management business in
Hong Kong, and has no foreseeable limit to the period over
which the Group can use to generate net cash flows. As a
result, the license right is considered by the management
of the Group as having an indefinite useful life and is not
amortised. It is tested for impairment annually and whenever
there is an indication that it may be impaired.

The Directors conducted a review on the recoverable amount
of the Group’s license right, which was determined based
on higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use
calculation and determined that the recoverable amount was
lower than its carrying amount, therefore, the carrying amount
of the license right was fully impaired.

18.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

17. 52

SN

HERBEE o

BIVEE (&)

BREEHR —RHBRREBEAS G
5 P U5 8 2 B PR A o RX N PR MY B A
FMARNBEREEETERER &
SEAEAAELAR S REFED
HAFE) I 4% 7] 7B R A9 BR Rl o # itk - N
SEEEERERRESR L EETE
AEREH BT THE - ERE
BERBEHRAEHRRERET
IR

EXpAKEEREZATKRE SR
ETER RAFERDEKAKNER
CHREEAEERNETNRSE
B oEERREeBENEREE
F ik h R4 2 BREE B AR BURE -

1. RBEE AR 2 s

2024 2023
—BCOWEF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$' 000
FExT F&ET
Unlisted investments FLETEE
— Share of net assets —DIHEEFE 103,495 95,595
— Goodwill —HE 9,403 4,052
112,898 99,647
BEAFERAR —ZEWNEFHR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBRRWE (&

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F —F = =+—HIFFE

18.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continuea

Set out below are the particulars of the principal associate
as at 31 March 2024 and 2023 in the opinion of the
Directors, to give details of other associates would result in
particulars of excessive length:

Percentage of nominal

value of issued capital
held by the Group

1. R E Nl 2= (#)

TREIWR T _WER T =

FZA=+t—HZTEBERA:

BoEERA BHEEMEEAR
HEeEIERBRTE

Proportion of voting
right held by the Group
at board level

5t
z

AEEREERT AEEARESE

Principal place  Place of REEEED RRELH
Name of entity of business incorporation 2024 2023 2024 2023 Principal activities
ERER TEERBE MR SE-NE ZTZ=F ZZF-ME —T=F TEER
Starlight Financial Holdings Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong 25.00% 25.00% 33.00% 33.00% Loan financing and advisory

(“Starlight Group”) services
FEEXSREREAR BE EiE EFRE RER RS
(TBXx&M@])

BA Fintech Lab Limited Hong Kong Cayman Islands 34.00% Note 34.00% Note Asset management

Bk Rews ik Bzt EEER
Eminent Vision Limited Hong Kong British Virgin Islands 33.33% 0% 33.33% 0% Financial technology

(“BVI")
Bk RBRLES SRR
(IRBEZHEB])

Note: As at 31 March 2023, the Group owned less than 20% of the W - N =F=A=+—H &&

equity interest of BA Fintech Lab Limited.

The summarised financial information in respect of the
Group’s material associate, Starlight Group, which is
accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using
the equity method is set out below. The summarised financial
information presented is based on the HKFRS financial
statements of the associate.

[ ¥ & BA Fintech Lab Limited T~ &

20% K% ©

AREBERBEQRENEE (R
BEREEMIBERRIR) 2MBE
MBERTXE - P25 2 BE
MBEDERREZEEM KRS E
ARENZB L RR M E®RK -

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FExT FE&ET
At 31 March R=A=+—H

Current assets A E 520,670 562,350
Non-current assets FERBEE 26,473 36,235
Current liabilities mEAE (184,691) (215,338)
Non-current liabilities FEmBEE (1,017) (8695)
Net assets BEFE 361,435 382,382
The Group’s share of net assets REBDIEEEFE 90,358 95,595
Goodwill EES 4,052 4,052

The Group’s share of carrying AEB S (G REE
amount of interests 94,410 99,647
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
mEMBHRERME (K)

18.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continuea)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z = F =pJF =H =+ —HIF&E

1. Rt E NTBl 2= (#)

2024 2023
—E-NF —T-=%F
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FET FAT

Year ended 31 March BE=A=+—BLFE
Revenue O 41,227 49,483
(Loss)/profit for the year FAN(ER) R (2,930) 3,420
Other comprehensive expense for the year 9 A H 4th 2 M f X2 (18,017) (25,017)
Total comprehensive expense for the year A2 M 258 (20,947) (21,597)
The following table shows, in aggregate, the Group’s share TRETASES HLELATE E R

of the amounts of all individually immaterial associates that

FEERBMELRR (REREINR)®

are accounted for using the equity method. &
2024 2023
—F-NE  ZF_=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
At 31 March R=A=+-—
Carrying amounts of interests @ BREE 18,488 -
Year ended 31 March BE=ZR=1+—HLEE
Loss for the year FREIE (1,751) =
Other comprehensive expense
for the year FAEMEEAS (2) -
Total comprehensive expense
for the year FRNEEMXERE (1,753) -

HEAMAERRR —E-EFEH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

mEMBERRWE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F —F = =+—HIFFE

19.INVESTMENTS AT FVTPL

19. %22 FEIAEREZ

rE

2024 2023
—E-ME —E =4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong REA LT ZRAES 86,908 10,922
Unlisted equity instruments EETMRATEA 79,769 5,115
Fund investments HeKE 86,569 55,421
Derivative financial instruments PTEEmMIA 27 33

Total investments at FVTPL EAFEIABREZ
KREHETR 253,273 71,491

Analysed as: DHTMAT

— Non-current assets -ERBEE 79,769 =
— Current assets - mEBEE 173,504 71,491
253,273 71,491
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
mEMBHRERME (K)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z = F =pJF =H =+ —HIF&E

20.LOAN AND TRADE RECEIVABLES

ZO.E%H&E?‘?&&%Z%@H&EE

TA
2024 2023
—E-NF —TZ=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
k=2 FET FAET
Trade receivables g 5 e W R K (a) 2,921 30,397
Loan receivables — current EWER—RE (b) 97,076 12,247
Loan receivables — non-current FEWE R —IERED (b) 13,500 -
113,497 42,644

(a] TRADE RECEIVABLES

The followings are the balances of trade receivables,

la] BZ BRI

BHRWER &% (HKRRA

net of ECL: HiEEREE) T
2024 2023
—E-MEF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Trade receivables from securities KEBHELERKZ
brokerage business B 5 EUERR
- HKSCC —BBEER - 908
- margin clients —HFREF 572 40,749
Trade receivables from RKEHEMEB 2EH
other businesses & U BR 3R 5,530 3,344
6,102 45,001
Less: ECL B TBEEEEE (3,181) (14,604)
Carrying amount REE 2,921 30,397

AEANERAT —B-HETR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
mEMBHRERME (K)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F —F = =+—HIFFE

20.LOAN AND TRADE RECEIVABLES 20 ENERKE ZEWER

xh
(Continued) TA (&)

(a)] TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) (a) EZEWIRF (%)

The settlement terms of trade receivables from HKSCC
arising from securities brokerage business are two
trading days after trade date. The Group allows an
average credit period of 30 days to its customers from
other businesses.

No ageing analysis is disclosed for the Group’s margin
clients as these margin clients were carried on an open
account basis, and only fall due on conditions or on
demand by the Group. The Directors consider that
ageing analysis does not give additional value in the
view of the nature of these receivables.

Ageing analysis of trade receivables (excluding margin
clients), based on the invoice date, and net of ECL is

BHELCCEGELEZREBR
BREERE S EKERRERN
HRAEBEHHEMERSA -
AEBEREMEBOEFPET
T30 EEH -

HRAKRBEZHFREFIRE
KPP ARSI BERT K
iR ANEEERAER:
WA EBRBEBEBEREON-E
ERR ERNRFREREZ
MHEE A BRI & EE S
B1E -

ERNBRBEHMEHNBRERE
EER BHRUER (FRE

as follows: FPBRIN) CEREDTAT :
2024 2023
—E-NF ZEZ=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
TR FAET
Less than 30 days LH30H 392 1,307
31 to 60 days 31260H 337 315
61 to 90 days 61Z290H - &}
Over 90 days 90H M k£ 1,622 413

Carrying amount of trade receivables ZZEWER (FREF

(excluding margin clients) Brobh) 2 BREE 2,351 2,038
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e M BRRME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z = F =pJF =H =+ —HIF&E

20.LOAN AND TRADE RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

(a) TRADE RECEIVABLES (continueq)

Trade receivables from margin clients are secured by
the clients’ pledged securities which could be realised
at the Group’s discretion to settle any margin call
requirements imposed by their respective securities
transactions. The trade receivables from margin
clients are repayable on demand and bear interest
at commercial rates. As at 31 March 2024, included
in the total trade receivables, HK$570,000 (2023:
HK$28,359,000) was interest bearing whereas other
trade receivables was non-interest bearing. There is no
re-pledge of the collateral from margin clients in both
years.

20./&

w.
(a) E

W&

(%)
=€ 2743

BRIFREFPZESEFUE
FPEMRBELHEER BXEE
REERBEAEKTES AU
BEAMNEREFEESAETZE
FRGBEZITRAERE
BUFREFZESERRAIE
EREER WIRHENERGTE-
R-_E-_WME=/F=+—8"
Z 5 R KB FE E 570,000
It (ZF = = : 28,359,000
BIT) BFE - MEME S EIK
ERBTHE -MEFEANF

XN E 5 W R

A ()

Stz
Ko

BREPZERAY ERER-
Reconciliation of ECL on trade receivables: BoRWERZEHREEEE
HAERMT :

2024 2023

—E-NEF ==
HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FAET

At the beginning of the year R E Y] 14,604 2,793
Increase in ECL during the year FATBHEEEEE M 3,640 11,811
Amounts written off 0 8H FRIE (15,063) =
At the end of the year RER 3,181 14,604

HZRMBRAR —E-ENFFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
mEMBHRERME (K)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F —F = =+—HIFFE

20.LOAN AND TRADE RECEIVABLES 20 ENERKE ZEWER

xhH .
(Continued) FA (&)
(a] TRADE RECEIVABLES (continueq) (a] EZEWIR &)
The Group applies the simplified approach to provide AEERAEEY B RS ER
the ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the use FORBMEMNBLEZHBHEE
of the lifetime expected credit losses provision. EBEGAREREBEE ZAEATE

REEMEREEERRE-

To measure the ECL, trade receivables (excluded RIATEEHEEEE B5E
margin clients and HKSCC) have been grouped based WER(FREFPLBEBLEE
on the days past due. The ECL also incorporates FIBRIN BB REETH
forward-looking information, which was taken into H-TEHEE BB RATE
account the possible impacts associated with the MER EPERLCBEIREE
overall change in the economic environment. BELAIEELENTE-

Within 31to 61 to 91 to Over

30 days 60 days 90 days 365 days 365 days Total

30AR  31F60H 61Z90A 91Z365H #8iB365H wit

At 31 March 2024
R-B-BmE=A=+-H

ECL rate BHEERRE 26% 47% 0% 41% 76%

Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) BwEEE(TET) 526 635 - 1,668 2,701 5,530

Loss allowance (HK$'000) BEEE(TEL) (134) (298) = (689) (2,058) (3,179)
392 337 - 979 643 2,351

At 31 March 2023

R-—E_=%#=ZfA=+—H

ECL rate REEEBHEX 5% 29% 94% 62% 100%

Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) BERE(TEL) 418 444 42 1,083 1,357 3,344

Loss allowance (HK$'000) BEEE(THEL) (20) (128) (39) (670) (1,357) (2,214)
398 316 3 413 = 1,130

238 GoFintech Innovation Limited Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e M BRRME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z = F =pJF =H =+ —HIF&E

20.LOAN AND TRADE RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

(b) LOAN RECEIVABLES

20 BRNERKE 5 B WK

b
TA (&)

(b] FEKEFL

2024 2023
—E-_NE —ZT—=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FETT
Non-current portion FERBE D
Secured | 13,500 -
Current portion BB o
Secured BIEHE 5,063 14,139
Unsecured 4 4% 1 93,704 3,014
98,767 17,153
Less: ECL BT EEEE (1,691) (4,906)
Carrying amount REE 110,576 12,247

The Group has provided money lending and mortgage
services in Hong Kong during the year. The customers
are mainly individuals.

As at 31 March 2024, the secured loan receivables are
secured by all monies, deposits and equity shares of
listed companies in the securities account and second
mortgage over certain property units and carried
interest at a fixed interest rate at 8% to 13% (2023:
12% to 13%) per annum (“p.a.”).

As at 31 March 2024, the unsecured loan receivables
are guaranteed by independent third parties, and
carried interest at fixed interest rate at 12% to 15%
(2023: 12%) p.a..

AEERFAEETBREME
ERBRE - RMANEFPEE
RERES-

R-_TE-_WME=ZRA=+—8"
FEWEERERTIUABEER
PeRABERE -ZRERETAR
RIZHEEROARBETYESE
2 RIBERT  WiREEF
F*E8% £13% (Z T == F:
12% £13% ) 5T B °

RZE-_WNWE=ZA=+—8H"
EWEEKBEERABIE=H
BR RETFNER12% E15%
(ZEZ=F 1 12% )5T B~

HZRMBRAR —E-ENFFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

mEMBERRWE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F —F = =+—HIFFE

20.LOAN AND TRADE RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

(b) LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued)

The Group has certain concentration of credit risk
on loan receivables as HK$45,345,000 (20283:
HK$9,087,000) and all of the total loan receivables was
due from the Group’s largest borrower and the five
(2028: three) largest borrowers respectively.

Ageing analysis of the loan receivables, based on the
loan drawdown date, and net of ECL, is as follows:

20 BRNERKE 5 E WK

xh
TA (&)

(b] B EZ (&)

M 7 FE UL B 3045,345,000/% 7T

— T — =% :9,087,000/ 7T )
BRRAEEZRERAZK
BERAAERKERE BERAK
EEFA(ZS-_=F:51=)
AERAZRE B AEEH
BURERGE—TERENEER
S E b -

RE S (BB ERE)
EREREHABZER AN
M

2024 2023

—E_NEF —E-=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHExT FAETT

Less than 30 days L H30H 90,767 153
Over 90 days 90H M E 19,809 12,094
110,576 12,247
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
mEMBHRERME (K)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z = F =pJF =H =+ —HIF&E

20.LOAN AND TRADE RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

20.@14&1%

lTA (&)
(b]) BREF (&)

XN E 5 W R

(b) LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued)

The movement of gross balance of loan receivables is

as follows:

R E R AR R BT ¢

Stage 1 Stage 2 Total
BB E_EER mE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT TER THER
At 1 April 2022 RZEZZFMA—A 50,727 - 50,727
Transfer from stage 1 to BE-BEME _fHEREE
stage 2 (13,109) 13,109 -
Amounts originated EXzEH 10,976 1,512 12,488
Amounts recovered or repaid  FRKE K EE 2 &5
during the year (43,542) (2,520) (46,062)
At 31 March 2023 and RZZEZ=F=ZA=+—H
1 April 2023 RZZZ=FITA—H 5,052 12,101 17,153
Amounts written off WsE B EE D WA
as uncollectible - (5,609) (5,609)
Amounts originated EEZEH 117,763 1,278 119,041
Amounts recovered or repaid ~ FRWEIHEE 2 &5
during the year (13,562) (4,756) (18,318)
At 31 March 2024 RZE-MFE=A=+—H 109,253 3,014 112,267

HEAMAERRR —E-EFEH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

mEMBERRWE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F —F = =+—HIFFE

20.LOAN AND TRADE RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

[b) LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued)

20 BRNERKE 5 E WK

xh
TA (&)

[b] EEZ (4#)

The movement of ECL of loan receivables is as follows: ERERZEHEEBEZS
T

Stage 1 Stage 2 Total

E-RE BoRE k]

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FER FEx FER

At 1 April 2022 RZEZZFMA—A - - -

ECL recognised during the year FAER 2 EHEEERE - 4,906 4,906
At 31 March 2023 and RZEZ=F=H=+—H

1 April 2023 E-E-—#mA—A - 4,906 4,906

Amounts written off WsE A EE D WA

as uncollectible - (5,609) (5,609)

ECL recognised during the year F AR ZBHEEEE - 2,394 2,394

At 31 March 2024 RZE-_ME=A=+—8H - 1,691 1,691

The loan receivables are due for settlement at the date

specified in the respective loan agreements.

21.CONTRACT ASSETS

FEURE RN AR & R 1% & HE
BHIBHESE -

21. 60 EE

2024 2023
—E-NF —ZT=-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Contract assets EHNEE
— arising from corporate finance —RETERMEREE L
services contracts 17 17

Contract assets related to the Group’s right to consideration
for corporate finance services transferred but not billed
at the end of the reporting period. The contract assets
are transferred to receivable when the right become

unconditional.

GoFintech Innovation Limited Annual Report 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
mEMBHRERME (K)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z = F =pJF =H =+ —HIF&E

22.0THER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS 22.HMEWFHIE BER

=

AND PREPAYMENTS TE A+ R IE
2024 2023
—E-NEF —E-=%F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’ 000
B 7 FET FAT
Other receivables H b & I FRIB (i) 1,477 2,892
Interest receivables JE W1 2, 363 63
Rental and other deposits MEKHMZS (ii) 22,014 2,709
Prepayments A FOR 582 682
24,436 6,346

Notes: B -

()  Other receivables mainly represent monies placed in various i) HEKREFEEFATRLL

brokers accounts.

(if) Included deposits for franchise of new investment immigration (if)
business amounted to HK$15,587,000 (2023: Nil).

23.BANK BALANCES AND CASH 23.8R 1

REMER-
BRAREBREGHFEENE

£15,587,0008 L (ZE =&
) o

TERBERAS

(A] BANK BALANCES AND CASH—TRUST [A) RITAEZEEREZ — 155

The Group maintains segregated trust accounts with
licensed banks to hold clients’ monies arising from its
securities brokerage and margin financing business.
The Group has classified the clients’ monies as bank
balances and cash - trust under the current assets
of the consolidated statement of financial position
and recognised the corresponding trade payables to
respective clients on the grounds that it is liable for any
loss or misappropriation of clients’ monies. The Group
is not permitted to use the clients’ monies to settle its
own obligations.

AEERFRRITARXBULE
ARPUREREEFEL K
FREEEXRBELEZEFPHE-
AEEBBEPRESBERESR
MBARNKRBEERT 2R
THRHERBAES-GEF - ARK
SEARZERPRBEZEM
BRI BEEER AR E
RZERBELSERNBEBER
ZEBSRE KRBT A
EPRERRNEEEARNSER-

HZRMBRAR —E-ENFFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

mEMBERRWE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F —F = =+—HIFFE

23.BANK BALANCES AND CASH (continueq)
(B)] BANK BALANCES AND CASH —

GENERAL

As at 31 March 2024, the bank and cash balances
of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to
HK$774,000 (2023: HK$6,146,000). Conversion of
RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC’s
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations.

24.TRADE PAYABLES

23.BITHEBRRE S 2
[B] RITAERR B £ — — MR

R-ZE-_WNWFE=Z/A=+—8"
REBUARBIFEHRITR
REEHRBT74,0008 T (ZF
— =4 :6,146,000/8 L) - AR
MEBmAIINEEBT (FEA

RAFMBISMNE E R EH) o

24.8 5 FE AT BR X

2024 2023
—E-MF ZEZ=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAET
Trade payables from the securities REBHFLELER2E S
brokerage business FETBR 3K
— margin and cash clients —-HFEMREEFRP 266,924 137,157
- HKSCC —BBEEM 9,101 =
276,025 137,157

The settlement terms of trade payables to HKSCC is two
trading days after the trade dates.

No ageing analysis is disclosed for the Group’s trade
payables to margin and cash clients as these clients were
carried on an open account basis. The directors consider
that ageing analysis does not give additional value in the
view of the nature of these payables.

ENEEREMNE SRRENH

REBRHEMERZA -

HRAEBZAREKRASER IR
EREBPEEINK RLERES
RMEZRNRBAZKREIN - EFR
B ERNZERNFBZEEER
R DT AL EEEIMEE -

The ageing analysis of trade payables to HKSCC, based on ERERRBHCENBEEEEM
their recognition date, is as follows: WESERZEREDITOT :
2024 2023
—E-NF —F==
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FET
Less than 30 days LH380H 9,101 =

GoFintech Innovation Limited Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e M BRRME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z = F =pJF =H =+ —HIF&E

==
25.LEASE LIABILITIES 25.1HE&E
2024 2023
—E_MFE =23 =
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FHE T F& T
Lease payments: MERK
within one year —F R 7,894 5,533
in the second to fifth years F_EFEEZERFA 15,191 107
23,085 5,640
Less: Future finance charges B RKREE E (1,172) (66)
Present value of lease liabilities HEBEZRE 21,913 5,674
Present value of lease payments: HMENKHE:
within one year —F RN 7,217 5,468
in the second to fifth years E_FERERFN 14,696 106
Present value of lease liabilities HEBaEZRE 21,913 5,574
Less: Amount due for settlement within B R12 @A RBERSEER
12 months (shown under HRE (R REafkE
current liabilities) EHTHR) (7,217) (5,468)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months 712 {& A 1 B B 455 89
(shown under non-current liabilities) FE(RERHEBET
HR) 14,696 106

As at 31 March 2024, the average effective borrowing rate
was 3.58% (2023: 3.18%) p.a.. Interest rates are fixed at
the contract dates and thus expose the Group to fair value
interest rate risk.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the total cash outflow
for leases are HK$6,588,000 (2023: HK$7,246,000).

RZE-_WMFEF=A=+—H ¥H9E
REENXABTF3358% (ZFT==
F:3.18%) ° f'JT’J‘EAA’JEIHHfﬁTE'
Bt ASEmE A FENXRR

BHE-_ZT-_MF=A=+—HLHF
B HE 2R e M 8% 56,588,000
BIL(ZEZ=%:7,246,0008
JC) °

HZRMBRAR —E-ENFFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

mEMBERRWE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F —F = =+—HIFFE

26.CORPORATE BONDS

The Group employs unsecured corporate bonds as one of its

26. A A EZ

AEBHEERABNEHREE—BA

sources of financing. B KIR e
Particulars of outstanding corporate bonds at the end of the REHREEQREHFRZHFBH
reporting period were set out below: HILAT -
Effective
Annual interest rate Carrying
Terms  coupon rate (p.a.) Principal amount
BRF=
Issue in the year ended BEUATAMILEEARST FH FEER (BF) FiNe X REE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TAT
At 31 March 2024 R-ZZ-_MmME=A=+-H
31 March 2017 “T—+%=ZA=+—H 7.5 years 6.5% 9.10% 2,062
At 31 March 2023 RZZZ=%$=ZA=+—A
31 March 2017 “F-+%=ZfA=+—-H 7-7.5 years 6.5%  9.10%-9.12% 31,202

These corporate bonds are repayable as follows:

b

p=I1]

2FERAEFBRATFHER:

2024 2023
—E-UE —E-=
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FET FAET
On demand or within one year BERF—FUA 2,062 29,185
In the second year F-FER = 2,017
2,062 31,202
Less: Amount due for settlement within B 1218 B R B HR 455 A
12 months (shown under HRE(RREaE
current liabilities) B TTR) (2,062) (29,185)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months FA121& A 14 B Hi 455 &
(shown under non-current liabilities) FE(RIERBBEET
FIR) - 2,017
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
mEMBHRERME (K)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z = F =pJF =H =+ —HIF&E

27. ig 25

BREEC10E T2 LB

27.SHARE CAPITAL

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each

Number of
shares Amount
ROBEB -]
Notes ‘000 HK$'000
Bt 5 T FHETT
Authorised: EE:
At 1 April 2022 RZZE-ZZ-FMA—H 2,000,000 200,000
Increase in authorised share capital & VA B AR (A) 18,000,000 1,800,000
At 31 March 2023, 1 April 2023 R-ZZE-_=ZF#=ZRF=+—8H"
and 31 March 2024 “ZE-=ZFMA—HBK
—E-_MFE=A=+—H 20,000,000 2,000,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRARE:
At 1 April 2022 RZE-—FWPHA—H 915,308 91,531
Issue of shares BTl (B) 183,000 18,300
Issue of shares BITRG (©) 219,660 21,966
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 R-_TE-=F#=ZHF=+—H
MZE-_=FmMA—H 1,317,968 131,797
Issue of shares BTl (D) 263,594 26,359
Issue of shares BT D (E) 4,744,684 474,469
At 31 March 2024 R-ZZE-_NMF=ZA=+—H 6,326,246 632,625
BEAHERAT —E-NFEER 247
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
mEMBHRERME (K)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F —F = =+—HIFFE

27.5 HARE CAPITAL (Continued)

(A)

(B]

(cl

INCREASE IN AUTHORISED SHARE
CAPITAL

In March 2023, the Company passed a resolution
to approve the increase in authorised share capital
of the Company from HK$200,000,000 divided
into 2,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.10 each to
HK$2,000,000,000 divided into 20,000,000,000 shares
by the creation of additional 18,000,000,000 shares.

ISSUE OF SHARES

In September 2022, a total of 183,000,000 ordinary
shares at a price of HK$0.31 each were issued upon
completion of the subscription of which 53,000,000
ordinary shares were subscribed by a close family
member of one of the directors while remaining
130,000,000 ordinary shares to independent third
parties. The total proceeds received by the Company
from the subscription was HK$56,730,000.

ISSUE OF SHARES

In January 2023, a total of 219,660,000 ordinary
shares at a price of HK$0.26 each were issued upon
completion of the placing to independent third parties.
The total proceeds received by the Company from the
placing was approximately HK$57,112,000.

GoFintech Innovation Limited Annual Report 2024

27. R 7 (=)
[A) 18004 KA

(B]

(cl

RZEBE-_=F=ZA " ARAA
B—IBRBR BEREERE
47 8,000,000,0000% J& 15 » #5 A
A Al VA FE IR AR 200,000,000
Bt (9 A2,000,000,0000%
FR0.10B T WX 5 ) 18 0
%2,000,000,000& Tt (9 A&
20,000,000,0000% f% 15 ) °

ZITR (7

RZZEZZFNLA RRES
T8 (H #53,000,0000% & 5@ A%
H—R2ESZ2ARARE MK
T130,000,0000% & 8 A% B 58
VE=ZFTRBEB)TKIE BIK
BROS1IB THEREG KT
183,000,0000% & @ % - K R A
RREBEEHWMZFABRIES
8 /56,730,000 T °

ZITR (7

RZTE_=F—A REES
HEK%  BEEFR0.268 T
MERABILE=FHA HEET
219,660,000/ & B A% - A 2 A
MEESZEKRMZFABRIEL
KA 49 557,112,000 7T °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e M BRRME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F - F = =+—HIFFE

27.5 HARE CAPITAL (Continued)

(D) ISSUE OF SHARES

In August 2023, a total of 263,593,577 ordinary
shares at a price of HK$0.20 each were issued
upon completion of the subscription to independent
third parties. The total proceeds received by the
Company from the subscription was approximately
HK$52,718,000.

(E] ISSUE OF SHARES

In February 2024, a total of 4,744,684,386 ordinary
shares at a price of HK$0.10 each were issued upon
completion of the rights issue. The total proceeds
received by the Company from the rights issue was
approximately HK$474,469,000.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balances. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash
equivalents, lease liabilities, corporate bonds and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued
share capital and reserves.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s total debt incurred
(including lease liabilities and corporate bonds) were
HK$23,975,000 (2023: HK$36,776,000), representing a
gearing ratio of 3.05% (2023: 12.40%). Gearing ratio is
calculated based on total debt divided by the total equity at
the end of the reporting period.

27. 8% 7N ()

(D) Z1TIR 7

RZBE_=ZFNA RREH
HEK % BEEER.208 T
MERRBILE=F46 EET
263,593,577 E B - AN A A
FREEIHWE 2 5 RIBA
KA 49 /552,718,000 T °

(E] Z1T/R 7

RZEZWME-Z A RNERT
K& BEERER10B THE
1BE HKB174,744,684,386/% &
AR o AR E B HRWER 2P
1B TE BB L) B4AT4,469,000/8

o

al

B &

AEBEEEAZBNSBELRE
EzERERAFERLE LBEBEIL
BEHELERERASRRETREZAE
HR-AEE BB RBEBEFESR

AEBzEARBEERAz LR E
FEY HERE RAEHF UKL
ARREEANEIEEDZ (EFEREE
BITRAREE) -

W-ZBE-_WME=A=+—H8B &&
BEFELEZRER (REHEARE
& R AME%) /23,975,000 7T (=
T =4 :36,776,000 7T) - B A
BENREY3.05% (T - =4
12.40% ) - BB &L R Thik R & 8
ROBREBR AR BREETE -

BERHBRLAF —B-NFEFRH
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27.5 HARE CAPITAL (Continued)

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

The Directors of the Company review the capital structure
regularly. As part of this review, the Directors of the
Company consider the cost of capital and the associated
risks with each class of capital, and take appropriate actions
to adjust the Group’s capital structure.

For certain subsidiaries of the Company, they are
regulated by Securities and Futures Commission (“SFC”)
and are required to comply with certain minimum capital
requirements according to the rules of SFC. Management
monitors, on a daily basis, the subsidiaries’ liquid capital
to ensure it meets the minimum liquid capital requirement
in accordance with the Securities and Futures (Financial
Resources) Rules, the range of liquid capital is from
HK$100,000 to HK$3,000,000 or 5% of their total adjusted
liabilities, whichever is higher. The required information is
filed with SFC on a monthly basis.

Another subsidiary of the Company is a licensed insurance
intermediary under the Insurance Ordinance and is required
to maintain a minimum net asset value of HK$300,000 for
the period from 1 April 2023 to 31 December 2023 and
HK$500,000 for the period from 1 January 2024 to 31 March
2024.

There is no non-compliance of the capital requirements
imposed by the respective regulators during both years.

28.RESERVES

[A] THE GROUP

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements
therein are presented in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and
consolidated statement of changes in equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
mEMBHRERME (K)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F —F = =+—HIFFE

27. 87N ()

B EE 5)

ARAREEEHEMERARBE -1ER
ZERZ BN ARBEEEEE
ARARSBEHNERN SR ZRE A
SHEDNEETHUNRABRLRERZE
RIRHE -

MARABETHEBRARTMS HE
XBEHFMNPEEHERZTE S ([#
Eg ) REREERBEEESE 2RA
BETETHEEARE - EEESH
ERWBRARIZARBESD  UBRF
EEHFLPE (BHRER)HANIET
EERBESCHTE RHESHEN
#100,0005% 7T & 3,000,000/ JT =k A
HEABRBEE % (UABSEA
) FIREERIZAMBEZRR

ARARIZR—FEHBRRABRREE
BOITRFERRFNAARZE
T ZHENA—HE-_E_=ZF+—
A=+—HBEkZ=ZZE-_NMHE—H—H
BT -_NE=ZA=1+—Hz2HH
D Bl 4 7 & (K & = ) {300,000/ 7T
}500,000/% JT °

RZMEFEE WEERGARE K
BAERZERNRE 2B

28.{% &

(A] XZEH

AEENEESEREEDR
G2 18 26 0 HE A 2 T M6 55
REGABNEDELT -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

For the year ended 3

28.RESERVES (continvea)
(B) THE COMPANY

e M BRRME (&)

1 March 2024 BtZE —FE —WWEFE=H=+—HI FF

28. %1 =)
(B] K 1\ 7]

Translation Contributed Share-based Accumulated

Share premium reserve surplus payment reserve losses Total

B EE BERE BEHBSH ROXAHEE ZitE8 @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHL FHL TR TR TR THET

At 1 April 2022 R-Z-—£MA-§ 689,003 740 80,657 = (616,845) 153,555

Loss for the year FEFE - - - - (80,676) (80,676)

Issue of shares BRI 73,576 - - - - 73,576
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 \E-ZEZAZ+-AEK

“Z-=4¥MA-A 762,579 740 80,657 - (697,521) 146,455

Loss for the year FEBE - - - - (18,902) (18,902)

Share-based payments Bty T - - - 306 - 306

Issue of shares Bi1kb 26,359 - - - - 26,359

At 31 March 2024 RZZ-mEE=A=+-8 788,938 740 80,657 306 (716,423) 154,218

(C) NATURE AND PURPOSE OF
RESERVES

(i)

(ii)

Share premium

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands,
the funds in the share premium account of the
Company are distributable to the shareholders of
the Company provided that immediately following
the date on which the dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be in a position to
pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations.
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with
the accounting policies set out in note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements.

(C) #EHIEE R A HY

i) KROEE

REREFESRRE K
~REEDEERNE
DK FARB KRR
HEBEZZD KRS B H
®-ARRIAERENER
ERBEEHBET IS
BB o

lii) EX#E

EXREERRERESIIE
BB RRELENMARE
REB -ZREBDHRES
BB RRM EIME 2
SRR EEIE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
mEMBHRERME (K)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F —F = =+—HIFFE

28.RESERVES (continueq)

(C] NATURE AND PURPOSE OF
RESERVES (continueq)

(iii) Special reserve

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

The special reserve of the Group represents
the difference between the nominal value of
the shares of the subsidiaries acquired and the
nominal value of the Company’s shares issued for
the acquisition under the corporate reorganisation
of the Group.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents the contributions
made by the then controlling shareholder under
the corporate reorganisation of the Group.

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Company
represents the difference between the fair values
of the underlying net assets of the subsidiaries
at the date on which they were acquired by
the Company and the nominal amount of the
Company’s shares issued under the corporate
reorganisation of the Group.

Share-based payment reserve

The share-based payment reserve represents the
fair value of the actual or estimated number of
unexercised share options granted to directors
and employees of the Group recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy adopted
for equity-settled share-based payments in note 3
to the consolidated financial statements.
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28. %1 =)
(C) BEHMER B R (%)

(iii) SR E

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

REBZHRERERE
AEBZRABER IR
BB AR Z ki) mEHR
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IR A {8 48
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RBRBAEEZ AR EA
FHZHE -

BEHARR
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NEIHBEEEFENHE
RABWEE R ZRAFE
HIRBEAEE AR EAM
BIIZARARMEEZ
R E%E o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e M BRRME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F - F = =+—HIFFE

28.RESERVES (continueq)

(C] NATURE AND PURPOSE OF
RESERVES (Continued)

(vii) Other reserve

The other reserve mainly represents premium
arisen from the acquisition of additional 20%
equity interest in Fortune Financial Capital
Limited at cash consideration of HK$1,793,000,
additional 25% equity interest in Fortune Wealth
Management Limited at cash consideration of
HK$1,125,000 from non-controlling interests on
18 May 2012 and 10 January 2013 respectively
and additional 20% equity interest in =& 57
R (V& YI) BB A A at cash consideration
of RMB100,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$114,000) from non-controlling interest on 30
November 2016.

29.SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company operates a share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) adopted on 7 September 2021 for the purpose
of providing incentives or rewards to eligible participants
who contribute to the Group. Eligible participants include the
employees, directors and consultants of the Company and
the Company’s subsidiaries. The Scheme became effective
from the date on which the offer for grant of option is made
and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in
force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an amount
equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of total number of
shares in issue as at the date of the annual general meeting
of the Company held on 2 September 2021. The maximum
number of shares issuable under share options to each
eligible participant in the Scheme within any 12-month
period, is limited to 1% of the Company’s shares in issue
at any time. Any further grant of share options in excess of
this limit is subject to issue of circular to shareholders and
shareholders’ approval in general meeting.

28. 11 (=)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F —F = =+—HIFFE

29.SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continueq)

Share options granted to a director or chief executive of
the Company, or to any of their associates, are subject
to approval in advance by the independent non-executive
directors. In addition, any share options granted to a
substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive
director of the Company, or to any of their associates, in
excess of 0.1% of the Company’s shares in issue at any
time or with an aggregate value (based on the closing price
of the Company’s shares at the date of the grant) in excess
of HK$5,000,000, within any 12-month period, are subject
to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within 28 days from the date of the offer, upon payment of a
consideration of HK$1 by the grantee. The exercise period of
the share options granted is determinable by the directors, and
commences after a certain vesting period and ends on a date
which is not later than 10 years from the date of the offer of the
share options or the expiry date of the Scheme, if earlier.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by
the directors, but may not be less than the highest of (i) the
Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on
the date of the offer of the grant of the share options; (ii) the
average Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s
shares for the 5 trading days immediately preceding the date
of the offer of the grant of the share options; and (iii) the
nominal value of the Company’s shares on the date of the
offer of the grant of the share options.

Share options do not confer rights on the holder to dividends
or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

Details of the options are as follows:

Date of grant: 27 March 2024

Vesting period: The share options shall be vested on

1 April 2025

Exercise period: From 1 April 2025 to 31 March 2026

Exercise price: HK$0.48 per share

GoFintech Innovation Limited Annual Report 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e M BRRME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F - F = =+—HIFFE

29.SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continueq)

If the options remain unexercised after a period of 10 years
from the date of grant, the options expire. Options are
forfeited if the employee leaves the Group.

Details of the share options outstanding during the year are

29. 0 X4 o)

fied BB BN X H B AR 105 & )
ARITE - R BB A AEAS & B B R - 1
EEBERASE AR ES B
Y

FRERITEZBREFBENT

as follows:

Number of
share options
BRESE
'000
Tt

Outstanding at 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023 R _-_Z - —-FmWMA—H-

and 1 April 2023 —E-=F=ZA=1+—HK

- =FNA—HEKRITE =
Granted during the year FARM 91,500
Outstanding at 31 March 2024 RZEZWEF=A=+—BHR{TE 91,500

Exercisable at 31 March 2024

RZBE_MF=RA=+—HATE -

The options outstanding at the end of the year have
remaining contractual life of 10 years. The estimated
fair value of the options granted on 27 March 2024 is
HK$22,661,000.

These fair values were calculated using binomial option
pricing model. The inputs into the model are as follows:

Share price: HK$0.48 per share
Exercise price: HK$0.48 per share
Expected volatility: 103.13%
Expected life: 2.01 years
Risk-free rate: 3.68%
Expected dividend yield: Nil

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the
historical volatility of the Company’s share price over the
previous 2.01 years.

RERMRITE2ERENTERE
HNEBHRBIOF-RZT-_HF=A
TtHEtHEBRHZERENEGT AT
1B 422,661,000 T

FRAFEDERA_EAHAEEE
RAFHE - ZEXMAZ @ AZRN
T

BB - F820.4878 T
TE(E - FA%0.4878 T
TE BRI 1R - 103.13%
TEHAF B 2.01%F
3 B A 2K 3.68%
TEHARR B e X i
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

mEMBERRWE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F —F = =+—HIFFE

30.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

30.

In addition to those related party transactions and balances
disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, the Group had the
following transactions and balance with its related parties
during the year:

BB SRS

BRARFREMBORENRBE TR
P MERIN REBRNFN RS
BIATR G Mtk

2024 2023
—E-NE —ET-_=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHE T
Year ended 31 March BE=ZR=1+—HLEE
Income from asset management m—REEEQFWERZ
business received from a BEBEEBKRA
related company 915 643
Lease payments paid to a related mM—EBEEQARSZNZ
company HER (520) =
At 31 March MR=ZRA=+—H
Trade receivables from a related e —FEEE AR E SRR
company - 643
An executive director, Dr. LIU Zhiwei was ultimate beneficial HWITEENESEBIABELARZ
shareholder of the related companies. Dr. LIU Zhiwei was BEREGRE-NEEBFLIR_Z
THFEZAZF ) N\BABARTES-

resigned as executive director with effect from 28 February
2024.

The key management personnel of the Group comprises
all executive directors, details of their remuneration are
disclosed in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.
Among other things, the remuneration paid to the directors
of the Company constitutes connected transactions of the
Company but is wholly exempted pursuant to Rule 14A.95
of the Listing Rules.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e M BRRME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F - F = =+—HIFFE

31.0FFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS

AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

The following financial assets and financial liabilities
are subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting
arrangements and similar agreements.

The Group maintained accounts with the HKSCC through
which they conducted securities trading transactions and
settlement on a net basis.

In presenting the amounts due from and to HKSCC
(included in trade receivables or trade payables with clearing
house), the Group has offset the gross amount of the trade
receivables from and the gross amount of the trade payables

MNEBEHEHMEERSRE
&

NMIeREEMERBAERN THEE
URANTZFREETLRERER
Ut a2 BRIR

AEBHEELEEEMRARER &8
ZERFPETEFEERH LR F
MEALEREHE -

REJNEE K ENELEERHEA
(FFARWEERZE 5 KRR KEN
RERzEZRF)E AEECZH
HWRKEEGEEMZE SRR ER

to HKSCC. The amounts offset and the net balances are

shown as follows:

At 31 March 2024

Type of financial assets
Regulatory deposits to HKSCC
Trade receivables from HKSCC
Type of financial liabilities
Trade payables to HKSCC

R-ZB-NE=A=+-H
THEERY
FATRBEMETRE
RUEBEEMZEAEN
THEEEEY
BREBEBEEMZE RN

At 31 March 2023

Type of financial assets
Regulatory deposits to HKSCC
Trade receivables from HKSCC
Type of financial liabilities
Trade payables to HKSCC

R-_ZE_=%¥=A=1+—H
THEERY
FARBRBEMAERE
RUEBEEMZEHER
THERKRE
EREBEEMZE RN

HENEBEEM B SRNERE -
B RIBRERFEHT BT

Net amount
Gross Amount receivable/
amount offset (payable)
B, (Ef)
RIEHAE 8 RE MEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAEL FTiET FTAET
554 - 554
447 (447) -
(9,548) 447 (9,101)
100 - 100
1,645 (737) 908
(737) 737 -

=
ol
m
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
mEMBHRERME (K)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F —F = =+—HIFFE

32.SUBSIDIARIES 32.M¢ 8 2 A

The amounts due from/to subsidiaries are unsecured, FEUL, FEAST T B A R ZRTE B SR 3K
interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment. REREETEENRE-
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2024 RZE-_MF=A=+—H EEM
are as follows: BRARIZHBHAT:
Percentage of ownership
Place of Issued and interest and voting
incorporation/ Place of paid up power held by the Principal
Name of subsidiary registration operation  capital Company activities
ERAMRRARERR
WEARAR ERAL/EMmeY SE¥  ERTRAREA SREAN TEER
2024 2023
ZECmE -TCZf
Directly held subsidiaries E 58 NKE A A
Galaxy Way Development Limited BvI Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of US$1 each 100% 100% Equity investment
HMEERERAT EERLES B 1RERRER 1 %7 hERE
Marvel Champion Investment Limited BVI Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of US$1 each 100% 100%  Equity investment
RERRARLA RERREE  EEF MEARSWIER BARA
Indirectly held subsidiaries &5 %5 fKt B2 &
Fortune (HK) Securities Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong  HK$310,000,000 100% 100%  Provision of securities brokerage
and margin financing services
ERESARAA B B 310,000,000 7 RERFBERARRERE
Fortune Asset Management Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong  HK$74,000,000 100% 100%  Provision of asset management
services
EURREERARAH B B 74,000,000% 7T RUEBEERRE
Fortune Finance Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong  HK$10,000 100% 100% Provision of money lending services
ERUBARLT B B 10,0008 REHERE
Fortune Wealth Management Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong  HK$9,200,000 100% 100%  Provision of insurance brokerage
services
EUHEERARAH B B 9,200,000/ ¢ RERBELRE
Fortune Financial Capital Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong  HK$36,700,000 100% 100%  Provision of corporate finance
services
ERERERERAR B & 36,700,000 RECXRERE
Fortune Case Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong  HK$1 100% 100%  Provision of corporate administrative
services to group companies
BEARAT & & %7 MEERRRECETHERE
ERAARE (RI)BERAT The PRC ThePRC  Registered capital of 100% 100%  Equity investment
RMB500,000
# # & & AR 8500,0007T hka
EREE (M) RERELLERERLA The PRC The PRC  Registered capital of 100% 100%  Provision of asset management
RMB30,000,000 services
# '# i1 & A& A K 830,000,000 RUEBEEERY
FAZRRAREREARLE (BRER) The PRC The PRC  Registered capital of 100% 100%  Equity investment
RMB10,000,000
.:p ® i1 & A& AR 10,000,000 RiERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
mEMBHRERME (K)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F - F = =+—HIFFE

32.SUBSIDIARIES (continuea) 32.ff B Al )

ERABARSE OFY)BRAAE and EREE (FIYI) ERFEARE ORI BERAFRE
R EE S EE AR AT are wholly-owned foreign BEE(RINBREREESERES
enterprises established in the PRC. RARIABRFABEKININEBEE B
% o

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, ERBIESRRIEZELXRAN T
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results ¥EREBEERBBEZASERER
or assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of other A-BEEZRA HIEMMBLRARAZ
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in HEREEREMNBRITR

particular excessive length.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

mEMBERRWE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F —F = =+—HIFFE

33.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

POSITION OF THE COMPANY

33. K F 2 B Bk &

2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FET FA&ET
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property and equipment EYEE - =
Investments in subsidiaries REB AR Z®RE 93,851 93,851
93,851 93,851
Current assets REEE
Other receivables, deposits and H A e W FR0E -
prepayments & RIBFIA 283 147
Amounts due from subsidiaries = NETE ] 959,324 505,048
Amounts due from investee FE UL W 1% & R B FRE
company 274 074
Bank balances and cash IRITHEHR LIRS 165,085 24,281
1,124,966 619,750
Current liabilities REBAE
Other payables and accruals HEmEMNRKERETER 1,953 2,111
Amounts due to subsidiaries NI NGRS 427,938 402,015
Corporate bonds NEESH 2,062 29,185
Current tax liabilities BEAR IR B (& 21 21
431,974 433,332
Net current assets RBEEFE 692,992 186,418
Total assets less current liabilities EEHERARBAE 786,843 280,269
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
mEMBHRERME (K)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z = F =pJF =H =+ —HIF&E

33.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

POSITION OF THE COMPANY (continueq) (#)

33. K1 B 2 B Bk &

2024 2023
—E-NEF —E-=%F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B &E FET FET
Non-current liabilities kRBERF
Corporate bonds UNEINE = - 2,017
Net assets EEFEE 786,843 278,252
Capital and reserves EARR#HE
Share capital & A< 27 632,625 131,797
Reserves k] 154,218 146,455
Total equity A 786,843 278,252

34.CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitment at the end
of the reporting period:

34. 8 KR IE

=

RBERR NEEE T E A A

2024 2023
—EC-NF —T-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Contracted but not provided for: EERIAE M RBHE -
Investments at FVTPL ERAFEIABEERSZ
®E 7,459 7,907

AEANERAT —B-HETR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

mEMBERRWE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F —F = =+—HIFFE

35.CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The following table shows the Group’s changes in liabilities
arising from financing activities during the year:

3&%ﬁ%@§$%ﬁ%@

TERIFENARBARETDE S
b 15 2

Total

liabilities

from

Loan Corporate Lease financing
payables bonds liabilities activities
MEED

EEWN

EREX ARES HEAE BEAE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TET AT TET TER

At 1 April 2022 R-ZE-—FMmA—H 100,458 63,526 11,621 175,605
Changes in cash flows RemER (102,172) (35,552) (7,246) (144,970)
Non-cash changes FHEEE
- Additions -RE = = 1,005 1,005
- Interest charged -FEXH 1,714 3,208 194 5,136
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 R-E-_=%=A=1+—-8kK
“Z-_=Z#NA—H - 31,202 5,574 36,776
Changes in cash flows Bene® - (30,870) (6,588) (37,458)
Non-cash changes FREED
- Additions -hE - - 22,658 22,658
- Interest charged -MEXH - 1,730 269 1,999
At 31 March 2024 R-ZZE-WE=A=+—H - 2,062 21,913 23,975
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e M BRRME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F - F = =+—HIFFE

36.COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been re-presented to
enhance comparability with the current year consolidated
financial statements.

37.EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING

PERIOD

ADOPTION OF THE SHARE AWARD
SCHEME

References are made to (i) the announcements of the
Company dated 11 April 2024, 29 May 2024 and 3
June 2024 (collectively, the “Share Award Scheme
Announcements”); and (ii) the circular of the Company
dated 13 May 2024 (the “Share Award Scheme Circular”)
in relation to the Share Award Scheme. Unless otherwise
specified, capitalised terms used in this section shall have
the same meanings as those defined in the Share Award
Scheme Announcements and the Share Award Scheme
Circular.

On 11 April 2024, the Company announced the proposed
adoption of the Share Award Scheme, which will be valid
for a period of ten (10) years from the Adoption Date and
the Awarded Shares will be satisfied by (i) new Shares to
be allotted and issued to the Trustee(s); and/or (i) existing
Shares to be acquired by the Trustee(s) on the market. The
purpose of the Share Award Scheme is to recognise and
acknowledge the contributions which the Eligible Participants
have made or may make to the Group.

36. L BREF
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37.EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING

P E R I 0 D (Continued)

ADOPTION OF THE SHARE AWARD
SCHEME (Continued)

The total number of Shares which may be issued pursuant
to all Share Awards to be granted under the Share
Award Scheme amounts to 541,093,796 Shares, being
approximately 8.55%, and thus not more than 10% of the
entire issued share capital as at the Adoption Date (the
“Scheme Mandate Limit”). The Scheme Mandate Limit
has taken into account such Shares issued or to be issued
pursuant to any granted and unexercised options made
under the share option scheme of the Company adopted
in September 2021 (the “2021 Share Option Scheme”),
which shall be subject to the Scheme Mandate Limit.
Therefore, the 91,500,000 outstanding share options of the
Company granted on 27 March 2024 pursuant to the 2021
Share Option Scheme and the 30,788 share options of the
Company which have not been granted have been included
under the Scheme Mandate Limit.

The Share Award Scheme was approved and adopted by
the Shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting of the
Company (the “EGM”) convened on 29 May 2024. The listing
committee of the Stock Exchange has granted the approval
for the listing of, and permission to deal in the Shares which
may be issued and allotted pursuant to the Share Award
Scheme. All conditions of the Share Award Scheme have
been fulfiled and the Share Award Scheme has become
effective on 3 June 2024.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 B2 = F - F = =+—HIFFE

37.EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING

P E R I 0 D (Continued)

TERMINATION OF THE 2021 SHARE
OPTION SCHEME

During the EGM, the Shareholders has also resolved to
terminate the 2021 Share Option Scheme, upon which no
further share options may be granted but the provisions
of the 2021 Share Option Scheme will remain in force
and effect to the extent necessary to give effect to the
exercise of any share option granted prior to its termination
or otherwise as may be required in accordance with the
provisions of the 2021 Share Option Scheme. Thus the share
options granted under the 2021 Share Option Scheme prior
to the termination shall continue to be valid and exercisable
in accordance with the rules of the 2021 Share Option
Scheme.

DISCLOSEABLE TRANSACTION IN
RELATION TO THE PROVISION OF
FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE

References is made to the announcement of the Company
dated 13 May 2024 (the “Provision of Financial
Assistance Announcement”) in relation to the provision of
financial assistance to Ms. Xue Jingyi, an individual who is an
Independent Third Party (“Borrower A”) and Ms. Ma Zhanlei,
an individual who is an Independent Third Party (“Borrower
B”). Unless otherwise specified, capitalised terms used in
this section shall have the same meanings as those defined
in the Provision of Financial Assistance Announcement.

37.HEHHEEIE »)
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37.EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING

P E R I 0 D (Continued)

DISCLOSEABLE TRANSACTION IN
RELATION TO THE PROVISION OF
FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE (continued)

On 13 March 2024, Fortune Finance Limited (the “Lender”)
entered into Loan Agreement A with Borrower A for a loan
in the principal amount of HK$45,000,000. On 13 May
2024, the Lender entered into Supplemental Agreement
A with Borrower A to extend the repayment date of Loan
Agreement A for two (2) months in the principal amount of
HK$37,125,000.

On 13 March 2024, the Lender entered into Loan Agreement
B with Borrower B for a loan in the principal amount of
HK$45,000,000. On 13 May 2024, the Lender entered into
Supplemental Agreement B with Borrower B to extend the
repayment date of Loan Agreement B for two (2) months in
the principal amount of HK$38,125,000.

For details of the provision of financial assistance to
Borrower A and Borrower B, please refer to the Provision of
Financial Assistance Announcement.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION IN RELATION
TO THE ACQUISITION OF EQUITY
INTEREST IN THE TARGET COMPANY

References is made to the announcement of the Company
dated 12 June 2024 (the “Acquisition Announcement”) in
relation to the Acquisition of Target Equity. Unless otherwise
specified, capitalised terms used in this section shall have
the same meanings as those defined in the Acquisition
Announcement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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38.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e M BRRME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z = F =pJF =H =+ —HIF&E

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD (Continued)

CONNECTED TRANSACTION IN RELATION
TO THE ACQUISITION OF EQUITY
INTEREST IN THE TARGET COMPANY

(Continued)

On 12 June 2024, Chuangqgi International Limited, a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with
limited liability and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company (the “Purchaser”) and Dr. LIU Zhiwei, a substantial
shareholder of the Company and the former chairman of
the Board and executive Director (the “Vendor”) entered
into the Equity Transfer Agreement, pursuant to which the
Purchaser has conditionally agreed to acquire and the
Vendor has conditionally agreed to sell the Target Equity at
the Consideration in the amount of HK$39.50 million.

For details of the Acquisition, please refer to the Acquisition
Announcement.

APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board on 26 June 2024.
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

IFUBRRE

For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=+t—HLEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-NE -—E-=fF —T_-— B —T_THF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000
FET FHET FHET FHET FHET
RESULTS B4
Revenue A 49,456 26,943 58,487 131,718 179,401
Net (losses)/gains on investments  Z A FEV ABRZEZ (3,481) (4,630) (3,151) 18,952 (13,384)
at fair value through profit or loss & & (Ei8) Iz
F R
Loss before tax R B4 AT BT 18 (30,634) (58,863) (79,534) (7,937) (62,176)
Income tax (expense)/credit g (FAx) /&% (45) 8 225 (5,558) (9,638)
Loss for the year attributable AR AR AL
to owners of the Company AEEER (30,679) (58,855) (79,309) (13,495) (71,814)
Loss per share TR EE (BWL)
(HK cents) (Restated) (&%)
Basic K (0.91) (2.84) (4.41) (0.75) (3.99)
Diluted g (0.91) (2.84) 41) 0.75) 3.99)
As at 31 March
R=A=+-—-H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—EBEoME —T-=F —ET-— — T —F —T-FTHF
HK$’000 HK$’ 000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FHET FHET FHET FHET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERER
Total assets BERE 1,092,191 475,761 604,610 955,444 1,166,730
Total liabilities BERE (305,348) (179,292) (356,751) (631,136) (843,216)
Net assets BEFE 786,843 296,469 247,859 324,308 323,514
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